© 2023 European Mathematical Society Published by EMS Press



Jake P. Solomon · Sara B. Tukachinsky

# **Relative quantum cohomology**

Received January 7, 2021; revised July 13, 2022

**Abstract.** We establish a system of PDE, called open WDVV, that constrains the bulk-deformed superpotential and associated open Gromov–Witten invariants of a Lagrangian submanifold  $L \subset X$  with a bounding chain. Simultaneously, we define the quantum cohomology algebra of X relative to L and prove its associativity. We also define the relative quantum connection and prove it is flat. A wall-crossing formula is derived that allows the interchange of point-like boundary constraints and certain interior constraints in open Gromov–Witten invariants. Another result is a vanishing theorem for open Gromov–Witten invariants of homologically non-trivial Lagrangians with more than one point-like boundary constraint. In this case, the open Gromov–Witten invariants with one point-like boundary constraint are shown to recover certain closed invariants. From open WDVV and the wall-crossing formula, a system of recursive relations is derived that entirely determines the open Gromov–Witten invariants of  $(X, L) = (\mathbb{C}P^n, \mathbb{R}P^n)$  with n odd, defined in previous work of the authors. Thus, we obtain explicit formulas for enumerative invariants defined using the Fukaya–Oh–Ohta–Ono theory of bounding chains.

**Keywords.** Open WDVV, relative quantum cohomology,  $A_{\infty}$  algebra, bounding chain, open Gromov–Witten invariant, Lagrangian submanifold, Gromov–Witten axiom, *J*-holomorphic, stable map, superpotential

## Contents

troduction
1. Overview
2. Background
3. Results
ackground
1. Integration properties
2. Open stable maps
3. Structure equations and properties
4. Pseudoisotopies
In 1. 1. 1. 1. Ba 2. 2. 2. 2. 2.

Jake P. Solomon: Institute of Mathematics, Hebrew University, Givat Ram, Jerusalem, 91904, Israel; jake@math.huji.ac.il

Sara B. Tukachinsky: School of Mathematical Sciences, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, 6997801, Israel; sarabt1@gmail.com

Mathematics Subject Classification (2020): Primary 53D37; Secondary 53D45, 14N35, 14N10, 53D12

3.	Geodesic conditions						
	3.1.	Geodesic operators					
	3.2.	Structure equations					
	3.3.	Properties					
	3.4.	Deformed q operators					
4.	Tens	or potential and relative potential 45					
	4.1.	Tensor potential 45					
	4.2.	Flatness relation					
	4.3.	Relative potential 56					
	4.4.	Enhanced superpotential 58					
	4.5.	Enhanced axioms					
5.	Rela	tive quantum cohomology and open WDVV					
	5.1.	Preliminaries					
	5.2.	Relative quantum product    64					
	5.3.	Open WDVV					
6.	Computations for projective space						
Α.	The real setting						
Re	ferenc	zes 75					

# 1. Introduction

## 1.1. Overview

Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a symplectic manifold with dim<sub>R</sub> X = 2n, and let  $L \subset X$  be a Lagrangian submanifold. We assume L admits a relative spin structure and fix one, so the standard theory of orientations for moduli spaces of J-holomorphic disks [7, 25] applies.

A bounding chain for L is a solution of the Maurer–Cartan equation in the Fukaya  $A_{\infty}$ algebra of L. Bounding chains provide a systematic method to compensate for the disk bubbling phenomenon that generally spoils the invariance of counts of J-holomorphic curves with boundary. There is a natural equivalence relation on bounding chains known as gauge equivalence. The superpotential of L is a function on the space of bounding chains modulo gauge equivalence. The superpotential counts J-holomorphic disks in Xwith boundary in L constrained to pass through the given bounding chain. Cycles on Xgive rise to deformations of the Fukaya  $A_{\infty}$  algebra, bounding chains, and superpotential of L, known as bulk deformations. The deformed superpotential counts J-holomorphic disks in X with boundary on L with the interior constrained to pass through the cycles in X and the boundary constrained to pass through the deformed bounding chain. If one can invariantly parameterize the space of bounding chains modulo gauge equivalence, the superpotential becomes a generating function for open Gromov–Witten invariants [8,32]. Thus, the superpotential is an analog in open Gromov–Witten theory of the genus zero closed Gromov-Witten potential in closed Gromov-Witten theory. Indeed, the closed Gromov-Witten potential is a generating function for genus zero closed Gromov-Witten invariants, which count J-holomorphic spheres in X. To invariantly count J-holomorphic disks with boundary contractible in L, it is natural to define an enhanced superpotential that includes contributions from J-holomorphic spheres as well as disks [8, 20, 26]. The sphere contributions compensate for the phenomenon of the boundary of the disk collapsing to a point.

We prove a system of quadratic PDE, called the open WDVV equations, satisfied by the bulk-deformed enhanced superpotential of an arbitrary L equipped with a bounding chain for bulk deformations in a Frobenius subalgebra of big quantum cohomology  $U \subset QH(X)$  (see Theorem 3). The coefficients of open WDVV are given by the partial derivatives of the closed Gromov–Witten potential. Viewing the superpotential as a generating series of open Gromov–Witten invariants, open WDVV gives rise to a system of quadratic equations relating Gromov–Witten invariants of different degrees, both closed and open. Thus, open WDVV is an analog in open Gromov–Witten theory of the WDVV equations in closed Gromov–Witten theory [22, 27, 36].

Simultaneously, for a Lagrangian submanifold equipped with a bounding chain for bulk deformations in a Frobenius subalgebra  $U \subset QH(X)$ , we define the relative quantum cohomology algebra  $QH_U(X, L)$  and prove its associativity (see Theorem 7). Denoting by Q the relevant Novikov ring, we have a long exact sequence of Q-modules,



where the top arrow is an algebra homomorphism. The algebra structure on QH(X, L) is given by counting both *J*-holomorphic spheres in *X* and *J*-holomorphic disks in *X* with boundary in *L*. When *L* is a real cohomology sphere, one may consider U = QH(X)and find a bounding chain for all associated bulk deformations as shown in Theorem 8. A typical situation in which it is useful to consider  $U \subset QH(X)$  a proper subalgebra is when an anti-symplectic involution fixing *L* is used to construct the bounding chain as in Theorem 9.

To naturally integrate both disk and sphere contributions in the enhanced superpotential, the open WDVV system, and the relative quantum product, we introduce a cone complex C(i). We define a relative potential  $\Psi \in C(i)$  and a tensor potential  $\exists: C(i) \rightarrow C(i)$ , which combine both the enhanced superpotential and the closed Gromov–Witten potential. The open WDVV equations and associativity of relative quantum cohomology follow from a commutation relation for partial derivatives of the tensor potential, which holds up to chain homotopy (see Theorem 5). We interpret the commutation relation for partial derivatives of  $\exists$  as the flatness of the relative quantum connection in Corollary 1.7.

The chain homotopy underlying the open WDVV equations and associativity is constructed from operators on the Fukaya  $A_{\infty}$  algebra of L associated to moduli spaces of J-holomorphic disks with three marked points constrained to a geodesic. These moduli spaces come in three different families with either one, two, or three of the marked points on the geodesic being in the interior of the disk, while the rest are on the boundary. In addition, the construction of the chain homotopy uses a family of J-holomorphic sphere moduli spaces with the cross ratio of four marked points constrained to be real. Bubbling in Gromov converging sequences of J-holomorphic disks with three marked points constrained to a geodesic gives rise to  $A_{\infty}$  type relations for the geodesic operators. The Maurer–Cartan equation satisfied by the bounding chain cancels the terms of the geodesic  $A_{\infty}$  relations corresponding to many types of bubbling. The remaining types of bubbling give rise to the open WDVV equations. Figure 1 shows the two types of bubbling of *J*-holomorphic disks with three interior marked points on a geodesic that contribute to the open WDVV equation. In the bubbling depicted on the left, the components of the Gromov limit are a disk without any geodesic constraints and a sphere. This type of bubbling gives rise to products of the enhanced superpotential and the closed Gromov–Witten potential in the open WDVV equations (15)–(16). In the bubbling depicted on the right, one of the two disk components of the limit open stable map retains the geodesic constraint. Namely, two of the interior marked points and the node must lie on the geodesic. A priori, it is not clear how to interpret the disk component with the geodesic constraint in terms of the enhanced superpotential, which counts disks without a geodesic constraint. Remarkably, the Maurer–Cartan equation and the interaction of the geodesic constraint with the unit of the Fukaya  $A_{\infty}$  algebra of *L* nonetheless allow the open WDVV equations to capture this type of bubbling with quadratic expressions in the enhanced superpotential.



Fig. 1. The bubbling of *J*-holomorphic disks with three interior points constrained to a geodesic.

Again using the tensor potential 1, we obtain a wall-crossing formula for open Gromov–Witten invariants that allows one to exchange a boundary constraint for a certain type of interior constraint (see Theorem 6). Furthermore, from the proof that 1 is a chain map, we derive a vanishing theorem for open Gromov–Witten invariants with more than one boundary constraint when  $[L] \neq 0 \in H_n(X)$ . In this case, we show the open Gromov–Witten invariants with one boundary constraint recover certain closed invariants (see Theorem 2).

We apply the open WDVV equations and the wall-crossing formula to calculate the superpotential open Gromov–Witten invariants of [32] for  $(X, L) = (\mathbb{C}P^n, \mathbb{R}P^n)$  with n odd (see Corollary 1.9 and sample values in Section 1.3.11). When n = 3, it is shown in [32] that the superpotential invariants recover Welschinger's invariants [35]. Thus, our calculations recover those of [2, 3]. For arbitrary odd n, interior constraints restricted to odd powers of  $\omega$ , and no boundary constraints, it is shown in [32] that the superpotential invariants of Georgieva [12]. Thus, our calculations recover the invariants of Georgieva [12]. Thus, our calculations recover the invariants of Georgieva [12]. Thus, our calculations recover those of [13, 14]. When at least one interior constraint is an odd power of  $\omega$ , the invariants

of Georgieva vanish. However, our calculations show that the superpotential invariants do not vanish. Also, the superpotential invariants for arbitrary odd n allow for boundary constraints that behave like real point constraints for Welschinger's invariants in dimension 3. Point-like boundary constraints are not allowed in other constructions for n > 3. Our calculations show the superpotential invariants with point-like boundary constraints are non-trivial for n > 3.

The open WDVV equations of the present work are an extension of the equations introduced in [29] in the real setting for n = 2 (see also [4, 19]). We establish the open WDVV equations without regard to real structure and in any dimension. A preliminary version of our results appeared in [34]. A discussion of the formal properties of open WDVV in arbitrary dimension appeared in [1]. The real WDVV equations of [13] can be obtained from open WDVV by setting certain parameters to zero. Recently, the preprint [5] has appeared, which obtains some of our results in the real setting when n = 3 by different methods.

## 1.2. Background

1.2.1. Notation. Consider a symplectic manifold  $(X, \omega)$  of dimension 2n and a connected, Lagrangian submanifold L with relative spin structure  $\mathfrak{s}$ . Let J be an  $\omega$ -tame almost complex structure on X. Denote by  $\mu : H_2(X, L) \to \mathbb{Z}$  the Maslov index. Denote by  $A^*(L)$  the ring of differential forms on L with coefficients in  $\mathbb{R}$ . Let  $\Pi$  be a quotient of  $H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z})$  by a possibly trivial subgroup  $S_L$  contained in the kernel of the homomorphism  $\omega \oplus \mu : H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{R} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$ . Thus the homomorphisms  $\omega, \mu$  descend to  $\Pi$ . Denote by  $\beta_0$  the zero element of  $\Pi$ . Let

$$\varpi: H_2(X; \mathbb{Z}) \to \Pi \tag{1}$$

denote the composition of the natural map  $H_2(X;\mathbb{Z}) \to H_2(X,L;\mathbb{Z})$  with the projection  $H_2(X,L;\mathbb{Z}) \to \Pi$ .

1.2.2. Coefficient rings. Define Novikov coefficient rings

$$\Lambda = \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} a_i T^{\beta_i} \mid a_i \in \mathbb{R}, \, \beta_i \in \Pi, \, \omega(\beta_i) \ge 0, \, \lim_{i \to \infty} \omega(\beta_i) = \infty \right\},$$
$$\Lambda_c := \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j T^{\varpi(\beta_j)} \mid a_j \in \mathbb{R}, \, \beta_j \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z}), \, \omega(\beta_j) \ge 0, \, \lim_{j \to \infty} \omega(\beta_j) = \infty \right\} \le \Lambda.$$

Gradings on  $\Lambda$ ,  $\Lambda_c$  are defined by declaring  $T^{\beta}$  to be of degree  $\mu(\beta)$ . Define ideals  $\Lambda^+ \triangleleft \Lambda$  and  $\Lambda_c^+ \triangleleft \Lambda_c$  by

$$\Lambda^{+} = \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} a_{i} T^{\beta_{i}} \in \Lambda \ \Big| \ \omega(\beta_{i}) > 0 \ \forall i \right\}, \quad \Lambda_{c}^{+} = \Lambda_{c} \cap \Lambda^{+}.$$

For a graded real vector space V, let  $\mathbb{R}[[V]]$  denote the ring of formal functions on the completion of V at the origin and let  $m_V \subset \mathbb{R}[[V]]$  denote the unique maximal ideal. More explicitly, let  $\{v_i\}_{i \in I_V}$  be a homogeneous basis of V, let  $\{v_i^*\}_{i \in I_V}$  be the dual basis of V\*, and let  $t_i$  be a formal variable of degree  $-|v_i|$ . We will often identify  $\mathbb{R}[[t_i]]_{i \in I_V} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{R}[[V]]$  by the natural isomorphism taking  $t_i$  to  $v_i^*$ . Under this isomorphism, the ideal  $\langle t_i \rangle_{i \in I_V}$  is identified with the ideal  $m_V$ . Since each tangent space of V is canonically isomorphic to V, the  $\mathbb{R}[[V]]$ -module of formal vector fields on V is canonically isomorphic to  $V \otimes \mathbb{R}[[V]]$ . Each formal vector field  $v \in V \otimes \mathbb{R}[[V]]$  gives rise to a derivation  $\partial_v : \mathbb{R}[[V]] \to \mathbb{R}[[V]]$ . In coordinates, if  $v = \sum_i f_i v_i$  with  $f_i \in \mathbb{R}[[V]]$ , then  $\partial_v = \sum_i f_i \partial_i$ . For  $l \in \mathbb{Z}$ , let V[l] denote the shift of V by l, that is, V[l] is the graded vector space with  $V[l]^i = V^{i+l}$ . Let S be another graded real vector space. Write

$$R_V := \Lambda \otimes \mathbb{R}[[V[2] \oplus S[1]]], \quad Q_V := \Lambda_c \otimes \mathbb{R}[[V[2]]] \le R_V.$$

The vector space *V* will be used to parameterize deformations associated with marked points in the interior of a Riemann surface while *S* will be used to parameterize deformations associated with marked points on the boundary of a Riemann surface. So, the grading of *V* is shifted by the real dimension of a Riemann surface and the grading of *S* is shifted by the dimension of the boundary. Define ideals  $\mathcal{K}_V \triangleleft R_V$  and  $\mathcal{J}_V \triangleleft Q_V$  by

$$\mathcal{K}_V = \Lambda^+ R_V + m_V R_V + m_S R_V, \quad \mathcal{J}_V = \Lambda_c^+ Q_V + m_V Q_V.$$

We may drop the subscript V from the notations  $Q_V, R_V, \mathcal{J}_V, \mathcal{K}_V$  in statements that hold for all choices of V. Denote by  $\Gamma_V \in V \otimes Q_V$  the vector field corresponding to the parity operator  $\mathcal{P}: V \to V$  given by  $\mathcal{P}(v) = (-1)^{\deg v} v$ , that is,

$$\Gamma_V = \sum_{i \in I_V} (-1)^{|v_i|} v_i \otimes v_i^* = \sum_{i \in I_V} t_i v_i.$$

Note that  $|\Gamma_V| = 2$ .

Below, we assume that each index set  $I_V$  for a basis of a vector space V is endowed with an order, and we implicitly use this order in every graded-commutative product over  $i \in I_V$ . We denote by  $\overline{I}_V$  the same set with the order reversed. We reserve the formal variables  $\{s_i\}_{i \in I_S}$  for coordinate functions on the vector space S. We abbreviate  $s^k = \prod_{i \in I_S} s_i^{k_i}$  and  $k! = \prod_{i \in I_S} k_i!$ .

*1.2.3. Moduli spaces.* Let  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta)$  be the moduli space of genus zero *J*-holomorphic open stable maps  $u : (\Sigma, \partial \Sigma) \to (X, L)$  of degree  $[u_*([\Sigma, \partial \Sigma])] = \beta \in \Pi$  with one boundary component, k + 1 boundary marked points, and *l* interior marked points. The boundary points are labeled according to their cyclic order. The space  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta)$  carries evaluation maps associated to boundary marked points,

$$\operatorname{evb}_{j}^{\beta} : \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to L, \quad j = 0, \dots, k,$$

and evaluation maps associated to interior marked points,

$$\operatorname{evi}_{j}^{\beta} : \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to X, \quad j = 1, \dots, l.$$

Let  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta)$  be the moduli space of genus zero *J*-holomorphic stable maps  $u : \Sigma \to X$  of degree  $u_*([\Sigma]) = \beta \in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z})$  with l + 1 marked points. The space  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta)$  carries evaluation maps

$$\operatorname{ev}_{i}^{\beta} : \mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta) \to X, \quad j = 0, \dots, l.$$

We assume that all *J*-holomorphic genus zero open stable maps with one boundary component are regular, the moduli spaces  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta; J)$  are smooth orbifolds with corners, and the evaluation maps  $\operatorname{evb}_0^\beta$  are proper submersions. Furthermore, we assume that all the moduli spaces  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta)$  are smooth orbifolds and  $\operatorname{ev}_0$  is a submersion. Examples include ( $\mathbb{C} P^n, \mathbb{R} P^n$ ) with the standard symplectic and complex structures or, more generally, flag varieties, Grassmannians, and products thereof (see [31, Example 1.5 and Remark 1.6]. Throughout the paper we fix a connected component  $\mathcal{J}$  of the space of  $\omega$ tame almost complex structures satisfying our assumptions. All almost complex structures are taken from  $\mathcal{J}$ . The results and arguments of the paper extend to general target manifolds with arbitrary  $\omega$ -tame almost complex structures if we use the virtual fundamental class techniques of [6,8–11]. Alternatively, it should be possible to use the polyfold theory of [15–18,23]. See Section 1.3.12 for a detailed discussion of regularity assumptions.

*1.2.4. Operations.* We encode the geometry of the moduli spaces of open stable maps in operations

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}: A^*(L;\Lambda)^{\otimes k} \otimes A^*(X)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(L;\Lambda)$$

defined by

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l) := \delta_{k,1} \cdot \delta_{l,0} \cdot d\alpha_1 + (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^k j(|\alpha_j|+1)+1} \sum_{\beta \in \Pi} T^\beta (\operatorname{evb}_0^\beta)_* \Big(\bigwedge_{j=1}^k (\operatorname{evb}_j^\beta)^* \alpha_j \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^l (\operatorname{evi}_j^\beta)^* \eta_j\Big).$$

The push-forward  $(evb_0^{\beta})_*$  is defined by integration over the fiber; it is well defined because  $evb_0^{\beta}$  is a proper submersion. Intuitively, the  $\eta_i$  should be thought of as interior constraints, while  $\alpha_j$  are boundary constraints. Then the output is a cochain on *L* that is "Poincaré dual" to the image of the boundaries of disks that satisfy the given constraints.

We define similar operations using moduli spaces of stable maps,

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}: A^*(X;\Lambda_c)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(X;\Lambda_c),$$

as follows. Recall that the relative spin structure  $\mathfrak{s}$  on L determines a class  $w_{\mathfrak{s}}$  in  $H^2(X; \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$  such that  $w_2(TL) = i^* w_{\mathfrak{s}}$ . By abuse of notation we think of  $w_{\mathfrak{s}}$  as acting on  $H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$ . Set

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l) := \sum_{\beta \in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z})} (-1)^{w_{\mathfrak{F}}(\beta)} T^{\varpi(\beta)} (\mathrm{ev}_0^\beta)_* \Big(\bigwedge_{j=1}^l (\mathrm{ev}_j^\beta)^* \eta_j\Big).$$
(2)

The sign  $(-1)^{w_{\mathfrak{s}}(\beta)}$  is designed to balance out the sign of gluing spheres as explained in [31, Lemma 2.12]. Below, we use the same notation for the linear extensions of these operations to spaces of differential forms with larger coefficient rings.

*1.2.5. Bounding chains.* Consider the subcomplex of differential forms on *X* with trivial integral on *L*,

$$\widehat{A}^*(X,L) := \left\{ \eta \in A^*(X) \ \bigg| \ \int_L \eta = 0 \right\}.$$

For an  $\mathbb{R}$ -algebra  $\Upsilon$ , write

$$\widehat{A}(X,L;\Upsilon) = \widehat{A}(X,L) \otimes \Upsilon, \quad \widehat{H}^*(X,L;\Upsilon) := H^*(\widehat{A}(X,L;\Upsilon),d).$$

**Definition 1.1.** A pair  $(\gamma, b) \in \mathcal{J}_V A^*(X; Q_V) \oplus \mathcal{K}_V A^*(L; R_V)$  is called a *bounding* pair if  $d\gamma = 0$ ,  $|\gamma| = 2$ , |b| = 1, and there exists  $c \in \mathcal{K}_V$  such that |c| = 2 and the *Maurer–Cartan equation* holds,

$$\sum_{k,l\ge 0} \frac{1}{l!} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(b^{\otimes k}; \gamma^{\otimes l}) = c \cdot 1.$$
(3)

In this case, we call b a bounding chain. Let  $W \subset \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  be a graded vector subspace. A bounding pair over W is a bounding pair  $(\gamma, b) \in \mathcal{J}_W \hat{A}^*(X, L; Q_W) \oplus \mathcal{K}_W A^*(L; R_W)$  with  $[\gamma] = \Gamma_W$ . We say a bounding chain b is separated if

$$\int_L b \in \Lambda \otimes \mathbb{R}[[S[1]]] \subset R_W.$$

A bounding chain is *point-like* if the vector space S is one-dimensional and  $\int_L b = s$ , where s is the single coordinate on S.

The definition of a bounding chain is due to Fukaya–Oh–Ohta–Ono [7]. The notion of a point-like bounding chain is due to [32]. In Remark 4.17 we explain why generically, all open Gromov–Witten invariants can be obtained from point-like bounding chains.

## 1.2.6. Gromov–Witten potential. Define a bilinear form on $A^*(X)$ by

$$\langle \eta, \zeta \rangle_X := (-1)^{|\zeta|} \int_X \eta \wedge \zeta$$

The pairing  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$  descends to the Poincaré pairing on cohomology, for which we use the same notation. Let  $U \subset H^*(X; \mathbb{R})$  be a linear subspace, and let  $\gamma_U \in \mathcal{J}_U A^*(X; Q_U)$  satisfy  $d\gamma_U = 0$  and  $[\gamma_U] = \Gamma_U$ .

Consider the formal function

$$\Phi_U = \sum_{l \ge 0} \frac{1}{(l+1)!} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_U^{\otimes l}), \gamma_U \rangle_X \in \mathcal{Q}_U.$$
<sup>(4)</sup>

Writing  $\gamma_U = \sum_{i \in I_U} t_i \gamma_i$ , we have

$$\Phi_U = \Phi_U(\{t_i\}_{i \in I_U}) = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z}) \\ r_i \ge 0}} (-1)^{w_{\mathfrak{s}}(\beta)} \frac{T^{\varpi(\beta)} \prod_{i \in \tilde{I}_U} t_i^{r_i}}{\prod_{i \in I_U} r_i!} \operatorname{GW}_{\beta}\Big(\bigotimes_{i \in I_U} [\gamma_i]^{\otimes r_i}\Big),$$

where  $GW_{\beta}(\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_N)$  denotes the closed Gromov–Witten invariant. The sign  $(-1)^{w_{\mathfrak{T}}(\beta)}$  compensates for the sign in (2). The gradient of  $\Phi_U$  with respect to  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$  is given by

$$\nabla \Phi_U(\gamma) := \sum_{l \ge 0} \frac{1}{l!} [\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_U^{\otimes l})] \in H^*(X; Q_U).$$
(5)

It is well known that  $\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_U^{\otimes l})$  is closed and that  $\Phi_U$  only depends on the cohomology class of  $\gamma_U$ .

## 1.2.7. Quantum cohomology. The big quantum product

$$\star_U : H^*(X; Q_U) \otimes H^*(X; Q_U) \to H^*(X; Q_U)$$

is given by

$$[\zeta] \star_U [\eta] \to \sum_{l \ge 0} \frac{1}{l!} [\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset, l+2}(\zeta, \eta, \gamma_U^{\otimes l})].$$

It is well known to be commutative and associative (see Remark 3.6). Moreover, the Poincaré pairing makes  $(H^*(X; Q_U), \star_U)$  a Frobenius algebra,

$$\langle \eta \star_U \xi, \zeta \rangle_X = \langle \eta, \xi \star_U \zeta \rangle_X.$$

We denote this Frobenius algebra by  $QH_U(X)$ .

#### 1.3. Results

1.3.1. Relative potential. The usual superpotential of a Lagrangian submanifold  $L \subset X$  does not give invariant counts of *J*-holomorphic disks in *X* with boundary contractible in *L* and no boundary constraints. The lack of invariance stems from the possibility of the boundary of such disks collapsing to a point in a 1-parameter family. In order to formulate the open WDVV equations, we define an enhanced superpotential that gives invariant counts of all types of *J*-holomorphic disks in *X* with boundary in *L*. Invariance is achieved by including certain contributions from *J*-holomorphic spheres that cancel the boundary collapse phenomenon. We begin by defining a relative potential that counts both *J*-holomorphic disks and *J*-holomorphic spheres. The natural home for the relative potential is the following cone complex. Let *W* be a graded real vector space and consider the map of complexes of  $Q_W$ -modules

$$i: A^*(X; Q_W) \to R_W[-n], \quad \eta \mapsto (-1)^{n+|\eta|} \int_L i^* \eta$$

where  $R_W[-n]$  is equipped with the trivial differential. The *cone* C(i) is the complex with underlying graded  $Q_W$ -module  $A^*(X; Q_W) \oplus R_W[-n-1]$  and differential

$$d_C(\eta,\xi) := (d\eta,\mathfrak{i}(\eta) - d\xi) = (d\eta,\mathfrak{i}(\eta)).$$

Let  $(\gamma, b) \in \mathcal{J}_W \hat{A}^*(X, L; Q_W) \oplus \mathcal{K}_W A^*(L; R_W)$  be a bounding pair and define  $\psi(\gamma, b) \in C(i)$  by

$$\psi(\gamma, b) := \left(\sum_{l\geq 0} \frac{1}{l!} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma^{\otimes l}), (-1)^{n+1} \left(\sum_{k,l\geq 0} \frac{1}{l!(k+1)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(b^{\otimes k}; \gamma^{\otimes l}), b \rangle + \sum_{l\geq 0} \frac{1}{l!} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}(\gamma^{\otimes l}) \right)\right).$$
(6)

In Section 4.3, we show that  $d_C \psi(\gamma, b) = 0$ . Thus, we define the *relative potential*  $\Psi(\gamma, b)$  to be the cohomology class of  $\psi(\gamma, b)$ . Definition 2.23 gives a notion of gauge equivalence between a bounding pair  $(\gamma, b)$  with respect to J and a bounding pair  $(\gamma', b')$  with respect to J'. We prove the following.

**Theorem 1.** If  $(\gamma, b)$  is gauge equivalent to  $(\gamma', b')$ , then  $\Psi(\gamma, b) = \Psi(\gamma', b')$ .

1.3.2. The relative potential and the closed potential. Let

$$\rho: \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R}) \to H^*(X; \mathbb{R}) \tag{7}$$

denote the natural map. Let

$$U \subset H^*(X; \mathbb{R}), \quad W = \rho^{-1}(U) \subset \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R}),$$

and suppose  $(\gamma_W, b)$  is a bounding pair over W. Denote by  $\rho^* : Q_U \to Q_W$  the induced map of rings and let  $\pi : H^*(C(\mathfrak{i})) \to H^*(X; Q_W)$  be the natural map. We show in Lemma 5.9 that

$$\pi(\Psi(\gamma_W, b)) = \rho^*(\nabla \Phi_U).$$

That is, the relative potential  $\Psi(\gamma_W, b)$  lifts the gradient of the closed Gromov–Witten potential  $\nabla \Phi_U$  to the cohomology of the cone complex  $H^*(C(i))$ .

## 1.3.3. Enhanced superpotential. From the long exact sequence of the cone



we obtain an exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Coker} \mathfrak{i} \xrightarrow{\bar{x}} H^*(C(\mathfrak{i})) \xrightarrow{\pi} H^*(X; \mathcal{Q}_W).$$
(8)

If  $[L] = 0 \in H_n(X; \mathbb{R})$ , then Coker i  $\simeq R_W[-n-1]$ . Otherwise, we have Coker i  $\simeq (R_W/Q_W)[-n-1]$ . We choose

$$P: H^*(C(\mathfrak{i})) \to \operatorname{Coker} \mathfrak{i},$$

a left inverse to the map  $\bar{x}$  from the exact sequence (8) satisfying natural conditions detailed in Section 4.4. The choice of P is equivalent to the choice of a left inverse

$$P_{\mathbb{R}}: \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{Coker} \mathfrak{i}_{\mathbb{R}}$$
(9)

to the map  $\bar{y}$ : Coker  $i_{\mathbb{R}} \to \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  induced by the map y from the long exact sequence

$$\widehat{H}^{*}(X,L;\mathbb{R}) \xrightarrow{\rho} H^{*}(X;\mathbb{R}) \tag{10}$$

$$\begin{array}{c} & & \\ & &$$

If  $[L] \neq 0$ , then Coker  $i_{\mathbb{R}} = 0$ , so P is unique. A geometric interpretation of P is given in Remark 4.12.

Define the *enhanced superpotential*  $\overline{\Omega}(\gamma, b) \in \text{Coker i by}$ 

$$\Omega(\gamma, b) := P \Psi(\gamma, b). \tag{11}$$

Define the superpotential  $\Omega(\gamma, b) \in R_W$  as follows. Let  $D : R_W \to Q_W$  denote the unique  $Q_W$ -module homomorphism such that  $D|_{Q_W} = \text{Id}, D(s^k) = 0$  for  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$  and  $D(T^\beta) = 0$  for  $\beta \notin \text{Im } \varpi$ . Let  $q : R_W \to R_W/Q_W$  denote the quotient map, and let  $\bar{q} : \text{Coker } i \to R_W/Q_W$  be the induced map. Then  $\Omega \in R_W$  is the unique element such that  $q(\Omega) = \bar{q}(\bar{\Omega})$  and  $D(\Omega) = 0$ . The following is immediate from Theorem 1.

**Corollary 1.2.** The enhanced superpotential  $\overline{\Omega}$  and the superpotential  $\Omega$  are invariant under gauge equivalence of bounding pairs.

Assume now that  $(\gamma, b) = (\gamma_W, b)$  is a bounding pair over  $W \subset \hat{H}^*(X, L)$ . We define the associated open Gromov–Witten invariants

$$\overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta,k}: W^{\otimes l} \to \mathbb{R}, \quad l,k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}, \, \beta \in \Pi,$$

to be the coefficients of the series expansion of  $\overline{\Omega}(\gamma_W, b)$ . More explicitly, write  $\gamma_W = \sum_{i \in I_W} t_i \gamma_i$ . Then the invariants  $\overline{OGW}$  are defined by the equation in Coker i,

$$\overline{\Omega}(\gamma_W, b) = \overline{\Omega}(s, \{t_i\}_{i \in I_W}) = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in \Pi \\ k \ge 0 \\ r_i \ge 0}} \frac{T^{\beta} s^k \prod_{i \in \overline{I}_W} t_i^{r_i}}{k! \prod_{i \in I_W} r_i!} \overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta, k} \Big(\bigotimes_{i \in I_W} [\gamma_i]^{\otimes r_i}\Big).$$
(12)

Thus, if  $[L] \neq 0 \in H_n(X; \mathbb{R})$ , the invariants  $\overline{OGW}_{\beta,k}(\gamma_{i_1}, \ldots, \gamma_{i_l})$  are undefined when k = 0 and  $\beta \in \operatorname{Im} \varpi$ . Indeed,  $\overline{\Omega}(\gamma_W, b) \in \operatorname{Coker} \mathfrak{i} \simeq (R_W/Q_W)[-n-1]$ , and  $T^{\beta} \prod_{i \in \overline{I}_W} t_i^{r_i} \in Q_W$  when  $\beta \in \operatorname{Im} \varpi$ .

Define open Gromov–Witten invariants  $OGW_{\beta,k} : W^{\otimes l} \to \mathbb{R}$  for  $l, k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}, \beta \in \Pi$ , by

$$OGW_{\beta,k}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l) = \begin{cases} 0, & k = 0 \text{ and } \beta \in Im \,\overline{\varpi}, \\ \overline{OGW}_{\beta,k}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l), & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(13)

So, equation (12) holds in  $R_W$  with  $\overline{\Omega}$  replaced by  $\Omega$  and  $\overline{\text{OGW}}$  replaced by OGW. Lemma 4.13 shows that  $\Omega$  and therefore the invariants OGW are independent of the choice of P. Thus, the choice of P only influences the invariants  $\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta,k}$  for k = 0 and  $\beta \in \text{Im } \overline{\omega}$ .

**Remark 1.3.** Lemma 4.14 shows the superpotential  $\Omega$  coincides with the superpotential defined in [32]. For ( $\gamma$ , b) a bounding pair of the type considered in [32], the open Gromov–Witten invariants OGW defined here coincide with those defined there.

1.3.4. Vanishing theorem. In order to formulate the open WDVV equations, we need the following property of the element  $c \in R_W$  associated to a bounding pair  $(\gamma, b) \in J_W \hat{A}^*(X, L; Q_W) \oplus \mathcal{K}_W A^*(L; R_W)$  by the Maurer–Cartan equation (3). Let  $PD([L]) \in H^n(X; \mathbb{R})$  denote the Poincaré dual to the fundamental class  $[L] \in H_n(X; \mathbb{R})$ .

**Theorem 2.** Suppose  $[L] \neq 0$  and let  $\eta \in H^*(X; \mathbb{R})$  be such that  $\int_L \eta = 1$ . Then

$$c = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z})\\l \ge 0}} (-1)^{n+1+w_{\mathfrak{s}}(\beta)} \frac{T^{\varpi(\beta)}}{l!} \operatorname{GW}_{\beta}(\eta, PD([L]), [\gamma]^{\otimes l}).$$

In particular,  $c \in Q_W$ .

**Corollary 1.4.** The product  $c\overline{\Omega} \in \text{Coker i}$  is well defined.

Theorem 2 has the following consequences for open Gromov–Witten invariants when  $[L] \neq 0$  (see Lemma 4.16). Recall the map  $\rho$  from (7).

**Corollary 1.5.** Suppose that  $[L] \neq 0$  and  $(\gamma_W, b)$  is a bounding pair over  $W \subset \hat{H}^*(X, L)$  with b point-like. Let  $\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_l \in W$ . If  $k \geq 2$ , or if  $k \geq 1$  and  $\beta \notin \operatorname{Im} \overline{\omega}$ , then

$$\overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\boldsymbol{\beta},\boldsymbol{k}}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l)=0.$$

Moreover, for  $\beta \in \text{Im } \varpi$  and  $\eta \in H^*(X; \mathbb{R})$  such that  $\int_L \eta = 1$ ,

$$\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta,1}(\eta_1,\ldots\eta_l) = \sum_{\substack{\hat{\beta}\in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z})\\\varpi(\hat{\beta})=\beta}} (-1)^{n+1+w_{\mathfrak{s}}(\hat{\beta})} \text{GW}_{\hat{\beta}}(\eta, PD([L]), \rho(\eta_1),\ldots,\rho(\eta_l)).$$

Theorem 2 does not a priori give information about the invariants  $\overline{OGW}_{\beta,0}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l)$ .

*1.3.5. Open WDVV equations.* Recall the map  $\rho$  from (7). To formulate the open WDVV equations, we need the following two assumptions:

(A.1)  $U \subset H^*(X; \mathbb{R})$  is a subspace such that  $U \otimes Q_U \subset QH_U(X)$  is a Frobenius subalgebra.

(A.2)  $(\gamma_W, b)$  is a bounding pair over  $W = \rho^{-1}(U) \subset \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  with b separated.

More explicitly, assumption (A.1) means that U is a subalgebra with respect to the big quantum product  $\star_U$ , and the restriction of the Poincaré pairing to U is non-degenerate. All point-like bounding chains satisfy assumption (A.2). Both assumptions are satisfied in the cases discussed in [32], as explained in Section 1.3.9 below. The map  $P_{\mathbb{R}}$  from (9) determines a complement  $W' = \text{Ker}(P_{\mathbb{R}}|_W) \subseteq W$  to the image of the map Y from the exact sequence (10). In particular,  $\rho|_{W'}$  is injective. Choose index sets  $I_{W'} \subseteq I_U$ , a basis  $\Delta_i \in U, i \in I_U$ , and a basis  $\Gamma_i \in W', i \in I_{W'}$ , such that  $\rho(\Gamma_i) = \Delta_i$ . By abuse of notation, denote by  $\partial_i : Q_U \to Q_U$  (resp.  $\partial_i : R_W \to R_W$ ) the derivations corresponding to  $\Delta_i$ ,  $i \in I_U$  (resp.  $\Gamma_i, i \in I_{W'}$ ). Let

$$g_{ij} := \int_X \Delta_i \cup \Delta_j, \quad i, j \in I_U,$$

and let  $(g^{ij})$  be the inverse matrix to  $(g_{ij})$ , which exists by assumption (A.1). Abbreviate  $\Phi = \Phi_U \in Q_U$  and  $\overline{\Omega} = \overline{\Omega}(\gamma_W, b) \in R_W$ . Let  $\rho^* : Q_U \to Q_W$  denote the induced ring homomorphism as in Section 1.3.2. We are now ready to formulate the open WDVV equations.

**Theorem 3** (Open WDVV equations). Let *c* be the coefficient of the Maurer–Cartan equation (3) for the bounding pair ( $\gamma_W$ , *b*), and let  $u, v \in W \oplus S$  and  $w \in W$ . Let  $u_W, v_W$  denote the projections of u, v to W, and let  $\bar{w} = \rho(w), \bar{u} = \rho(u_W), \bar{v} = \rho(v_W)$ . Then

$$\sum_{l \in I_{W'}, m \in I_{U}} \partial_{u} \partial_{l} \overline{\Omega} \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \rho^{*} \partial_{m} \partial_{\bar{w}} \partial_{\bar{v}} \Phi - \partial_{u} c \cdot \partial_{w} \partial_{v} \overline{\Omega}$$
$$= \sum_{l \in I_{U}, m \in I_{W'}} \rho^{*} \partial_{\bar{u}} \partial_{\bar{w}} \partial_{l} \Phi \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \partial_{m} \partial_{v} \overline{\Omega} - \partial_{u} \partial_{w} \overline{\Omega} \cdot \partial_{v} c.$$
(14)

**Corollary 1.6.** Suppose b is point-like and let  $u, v, w \in W$ . Let  $\bar{u} = \rho(u)$ ,  $\bar{v} = \rho(v)$ , and  $\bar{w} = \rho(w)$ . If [L] = 0, then

$$\sum_{l \in I_{W'}, m \in I_U} \partial_u \partial_l \overline{\Omega} \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \rho^* \partial_m \partial_{\bar{w}} \partial_{\bar{v}} \Phi - \partial_u \partial_s \overline{\Omega} \cdot \partial_w \partial_v \overline{\Omega} = \sum_{l \in I_U, m \in I_{W'}} \rho^* \partial_{\bar{u}} \partial_{\bar{w}} \partial_l \Phi \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \partial_m \partial_v \overline{\Omega} - \partial_u \partial_w \overline{\Omega} \cdot \partial_v \partial_s \overline{\Omega}, \quad (15)$$

and

$$\sum_{l \in I_{W'}, m \in I_U} \partial_s \partial_l \overline{\Omega} \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \rho^* \partial_m \partial_{\bar{w}} \partial_{\bar{v}} \Phi - \partial_s^2 \overline{\Omega} \cdot \partial_w \partial_v \overline{\Omega} = -\partial_s \partial_w \overline{\Omega} \cdot \partial_v \partial_s \overline{\Omega}.$$
(16)

If  $[L] \neq 0$ , then equation (15) holds with  $\overline{\Omega}$  replaced by  $\Omega$ .

1.3.6. The tensor potential and the relative quantum connection. To prove Theorem 3, we construct an invariant  $\exists \in \text{End}(C(i))$  called the tensor potential. The tensor potential  $\exists$  is closely related to the total derivative of the relative potential  $\psi$ . The derivative of the tensor potential is the connection 1-form of the relative quantum connection.

In greater detail, let  $(\gamma, b) \in \mathcal{J}_W \hat{A}^*(X, L; Q_W) \oplus \mathcal{K}_W A^*(L; R_W)$  be a bounding pair. We define the *tensor potential*<sup>1</sup>

$$\mathbf{J} = \mathbf{J}^{\boldsymbol{\gamma}, \boldsymbol{b}} : C(\mathbf{i}) \to C(\mathbf{i})$$

by

$$\mathbf{i}(\eta,\xi) = \left(\sum_{l\geq 0} \frac{1}{l!} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l+1}(\eta\otimes\gamma^{\otimes l}), (-1)^{n+1} \left(\sum_{k,l\geq 0} \frac{1}{l!(k+1)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l+1}(b^{\otimes k};\eta\otimes\gamma^{\otimes l}), b \rangle + \sum_{l\geq 0} \frac{1}{l!} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,l+1}(\eta\otimes\gamma^{\otimes l}) \right) - c \cdot \xi \right).$$
(17)

**Theorem 4.** The tensor potential  $\mathfrak{l}$  is a chain map. If the bounding pairs  $(\gamma, b)$  and  $(\gamma', b')$  are gauge equivalent, then the tensor potentials  $\mathfrak{l}^{\gamma,b}$  and  $\mathfrak{l}^{\gamma',b'}$  are chain homotopic.

The open WDVV equations and in fact the closed WDVV equations as well are a consequence of the following theorem. The notation  $\partial_u \mathbf{j}$  is explained in detail in Section 4.2.

**Theorem 5.** For all formal vector fields  $u, v \in Q_W \otimes W \oplus R_W \otimes S$ , the composition  $\partial_u \mathfrak{l} \circ \partial_v \mathfrak{l}$  is chain homotopic to  $(-1)^{|u| |v|} \partial_v \mathfrak{l} \circ \partial_u \mathfrak{l}$ .

Since  $H^*(C(i))$  is a free  $Q_W$ -module, it can be viewed as the formal sections of a vector bundle over W. The tensor potential  $\exists$  induces a map  $\exists : H^*(C(i)) \to H^*(C(i))$ . We define the *relative quantum connection*  $\nabla$  on  $H^*(C(i))$  by

$$\nabla_{u}(\Upsilon) = \partial_{u}\Upsilon + \partial_{u}\mathfrak{l}(\Upsilon), \quad u \in Q_{W} \otimes W, \ \Upsilon \in H^{*}(C(\mathfrak{i})).$$

A straightforward calculation using Theorem 5 gives the following.

**Corollary 1.7.** The relative quantum connection is flat.

1.3.7. Wall-crossing formula. Recall the long exact sequence (10). Let  $U \subset H^*(X; \mathbb{R})$  be a subspace, and let  $(\gamma_W, b)$  be a bounding pair over  $W = \rho^{-1}(U) \subset \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$ . Let

$$\Gamma_{\diamond} := y(1) \in W.$$

The following result relates open Gromov–Witten invariants with boundary constraints to open Gromov–Witten invariants with interior constraints  $\Gamma_{\diamond}$ .

**Theorem 6** (Wall-crossing). Suppose [L] = 0 and b is point-like. The invariants  $\overline{OGW}$  satisfy

$$\overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta,k+1}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l) = -\overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_\diamond,\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l).$$

Geometrically, we can understand Theorem 6 as follows. Poincaré–Lefschetz duality gives an isomorphism

$$H_{n-1}(X \setminus L; \mathbb{R}) \simeq H^{n+1}(X, L; \mathbb{R}) \simeq \hat{H}^{n+1}(X, L; \mathbb{R}).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Read as "noon."

Under this isomorphism,  $\Gamma_{\diamond} \in \hat{H}^{n+1}(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  corresponds to the class in  $H_{n-1}(X \setminus L; \mathbb{R})$ of a small (n-1)-dimensional sphere  $\Sigma$  linked with L. As we shrink  $\Sigma$ , it converges to a point in L. Thus, at an intuitive level, it makes sense that the interior constraint  $\Gamma_{\diamond}$ can be swapped with a point boundary constraint. To see why Theorem 6 is called the wall-crossing formula, consider the following scenario. Let M be an (n-1)-dimensional manifold, and let  $g: [0,1] \times M \to X$  be a map transverse to L such that  $g^{-1}(L)$  is a single point in  $(t_L, m_L) \in (0, 1) \times M$ . Let  $g^t: M \to X$  be given by  $g^t(p) = g(t, p)$ . For i = 0, 1, let  $\eta_0^i \in \hat{H}^{n+1}(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  be the class corresponding to  $g_*^i([M]) \in H_{n-1}(X \setminus L; \mathbb{R})$  under Poincaré–Lefschetz duality. Then, it is easy to see that  $\eta_0^1 - \eta_0^0 = \Gamma_{\diamond}$ . So,

$$\overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\eta_0^1,\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l) - \overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\eta_0^0,\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l) = \overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_\diamond,\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l).$$

On the other hand, roughly speaking, the invariant  $\overrightarrow{OGW}_{\beta,k}(\eta_0^i, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_l)$  counts disks of degree  $\beta$  with boundary constrained to pass through k points in L and interior constrained to pass through  $g^i(M)$  as well as representatives of the Poincaré duals of  $\eta_1, \dots, \eta_l$ . To compare the invariants for i = 0, 1, consider the one-dimensional family of interior constraints  $g^t(M)$ . At times  $t \neq t_L$ , the invariant is constant. At time  $t_L$ , the interior constraint  $g^{t_L}(M)$  intersects L at the unique point  $g_{t_L}(m_L)$ . As  $t \to t_L$  from below, the interior intersection points with  $g_t(M)$  of a subset  $\mathcal{B}$  of the disks being counted limit to a boundary point. These disks are no longer counted for  $t > t_L$ . So, the number of disks in  $\mathcal{B}$  is  $\overline{OGW}_{\beta,k}(\eta_0^1, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_l) - \overline{OGW}_{\beta,k}(\eta_0^0, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_l)$ . On the other hand, at  $t = t_L$ , the boundaries of the disks in  $\mathcal{B}$  pass through k + 1 points in L, one of which is  $g^{t_L}(m_L)$ , and the interiors of these disks pass through representatives of the Poincaré duals of  $\eta_1, \dots, \eta_l$ .

1.3.8. Relative quantum cohomology. Suppose again that assumptions (A.1) and (A.2) hold. Define  $\hat{Q}_W = Q_W \otimes_{\Lambda_c} \Lambda$  and

$$\widehat{C}(\mathfrak{i}) := (C(\mathfrak{i})/x(m_S)) \otimes_{\mathcal{Q}_W} \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_W.$$

The map  $\exists : C(i) \to C(i)$  induces a map  $\hat{\exists} : \hat{C}(i) \to \hat{C}(i)$ , which in turn induces a map  $\hat{\exists} : H^*(\hat{C}(i)) \to H^*(\hat{C}(i))$ . Since  $\hat{C}(i)$  is the cone of the map  $i : A^*(X; \hat{Q}_W) \to \hat{Q}_W$ , we have a canonical isomorphism

$$\widehat{H}^*(X,L;\widehat{Q}_W)\simeq H^*(\widehat{C}(\mathfrak{i}))$$

We define the relative quantum cohomology as a vector space by  $QH_U(X, L) = W \otimes \hat{Q}_W$ , and we define the relative quantum product<sup>2</sup>

$$a: QH_U(X,L) \otimes QH_U(X,L) \to QH_U(X,L)$$

by

 $\mathfrak{a}(w,v) = \partial_w \hat{\mathfrak{l}}(v).$ 

A more explicit formula for n is given in Lemma 5.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Read as "mem".

**Theorem 7.** The relative quantum product  $\mathfrak{P}$  is graded-commutative, associative, and depends only on the gauge-equivalence class of the bounding pair ( $\gamma_W$ , b).

**Remark 1.8.** Theorem 7 is a consequence of Theorem 5 for  $u, v \in Q_W \otimes W$ . On the face of it, the relative quantum cohomology algebra  $QH_U(X, L)$  contains no information about open Gromov–Witten invariants with boundary constraints. Indeed, in the definition of  $QH_U(X, L)$ , we have quotiented by  $m_S$ , the ideal generated by the parameters that keep track of boundary constraints. However, by Corollary 1.5, when  $[L] \neq 0$  in  $H_n(X; \mathbb{R})$ , open Gromov–Witten invariants with at least one boundary constraint contain no information beyond closed Gromov–Witten invariants. By the wall-crossing formula of Theorem 6, when [L] = 0, open Gromov–Witten invariants with interior constraints. Thus, the associativity of  $\mathfrak{P}$  is essentially equivalent to Theorem 5.

*1.3.9. Examples.* In this section, we give examples where assumptions (A.1) and (A.2) hold. The following is an immediate consequence of [32, Theorem 2]. See [32, Section 5.4] for further details.

**Theorem 8.** Suppose  $H^*(L; \mathbb{R}) \simeq H^*(S^n; \mathbb{R})$ . Let  $U = H^*(X)$ , so  $W = \rho^{-1}(U) = \hat{H}^*(X, L)$ . Then there exists a unique (up to gauge equivalence) bounding pair ( $\gamma_W$ , b) over W with b point-like. In particular, assumptions (A.1) and (A.2) hold.

The open Gromov–Witten invariants OGW associated with such  $(\gamma_W, b)$  coincide with those of [32].

A real setting is a quadruple  $(X, L, \omega, \phi)$  where  $\phi : X \to X$  is an anti-symplectic involution such that  $L \subset \text{Fix}(\phi)$ . Whenever we discuss a real setting, we fix a connected subset  $\mathcal{J}_{\phi} \subset \mathcal{J}$  consisting of  $J \in \mathcal{J}$  such that  $\phi^*J = -J$ . All almost complex structures of a real setting are taken from  $\mathcal{J}_{\phi}$ . If we use virtual fundamental class techniques, we can treat any  $\omega$ -tame almost complex structure J satisfying  $\phi^*J = -J$ . In addition, whenever we discuss a real setting, we take  $S_L \subset H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z})$  with  $\text{Im}(\text{Id} + \phi_*) \subset S_L$ , so  $\phi_*$  acts on  $\Pi_L = H_2(X, L; Z)/S_L$  as -Id. Also, the formal variables  $t_j$  have even degree. Given a real setting, let  $H_{\phi}^{\text{even}}(X)$  (resp.  $\hat{H}_{\phi}^{\text{even}}(X, L)$ ) denote the direct sum over k of the  $(-1)^k$ eigenspaces of  $\phi^*$  acting on  $H^{2k}(X; \mathbb{R})$  (resp.  $\hat{H}^{2k}(X, L; \mathbb{R})$ ). Extend the action of  $\phi^*$ to  $\Lambda, Q, R, C$ , and D, by taking

$$\phi^* T^\beta = (-1)^{\mu(\beta)/2} T^\beta, \quad \phi^* t_i = (-1)^{\deg t_i/2} t_i, \quad \phi^* s = -s.$$
(18)

Elements  $a \in \Lambda$ , Q, R, C, D, and pairs thereof are called *real* if

$$\phi^* a = -a. \tag{19}$$

The main ingredient in the following is Theorem 3 of [32]. See Appendix A for details.

**Theorem 9.** Suppose  $(X, L, \omega, \phi)$  is a real setting,  $\cong$  is a spin structure, and  $n \neq 1 \pmod{4}$ . Moreover,

• if  $n \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$ , assume  $H^i(L; \mathbb{R}) \simeq H^i(S^n; \mathbb{R})$  for  $i \equiv 0, 3 \pmod{4}$ ;

- *if*  $n \equiv 2 \pmod{4}$ , assume  $H^i(L; \mathbb{R}) \simeq H^i(S^n; \mathbb{R})$  for  $i \neq 1 \pmod{4}$ ;
- if  $n \equiv 0 \pmod{4}$ , assume  $H^i(L; \mathbb{R}) \simeq H^i(S^n; \mathbb{R})$  for  $i \not\equiv 2 \pmod{4}$ .
- Let  $U = H^{\text{even}}_{\phi}(X) \subset H^*(X)$ . Then
- (a)  $U \otimes Q_U \subset QH_U(X)$  is a Frobenius subalgebra;
- (b)  $W = \rho^{-1}(U) = \hat{H}_{\phi}^{\text{even}}(X, L);$
- (c) there exists a (unique up to gauge equivalence) real bounding pair  $(\gamma_W, b)$  over W such that b is point-like.

In particular, assumptions (A.1) and (A.2) hold.

The open Gromov–Witten invariants OGW associated with such  $(\gamma_W, b)$  again coincide with those of [32].

1.3.10. Special case: projective space. Consider the special case  $(X, L) = (\mathbb{C}P^n, \mathbb{R}P^n)$ with  $\omega = \omega_{FS}$  the Fubini–Study form,  $J = J_0$  the standard complex structure, and n odd. We normalize  $\omega$  so that  $\int_{\mathbb{C}P^1} \omega = 1$ . Take  $\Pi = H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z})$  and identify  $\Pi$  with  $\mathbb{Z}$  in such a way that  $\beta \in \Pi$  with  $\omega(\beta) \ge 0$  are identified with non-negative integers. Similarly, identify  $H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$  with  $\mathbb{Z}$  in such a way that  $\hat{\beta} \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$  with  $\omega(\hat{\beta}) \ge 0$  are identified with non-negative integers. So, the map  $\varpi : H_2(X; \mathbb{Z}) \to \Pi$  is given by multiplication by 2. By Theorem 8, our results apply with  $W = \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$ . Write

$$\Gamma_j = [\omega^j] \in \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$$
 and  $\Delta_j = [\omega^j] \in H^*(X; \mathbb{R}).$ 

We take the map  $P_{\mathbb{R}}$  of (9) to be the unique left inverse of  $\bar{y}$  such that  $W' = \text{Ker}(P_{\mathbb{R}}|_W) = \text{Span} \{\Gamma_i\}_{i=0}^n$  and this determines the map P.

The following is a consequence of Corollary 1.6, the Kontsevich–Manin axioms [22], and analogous axioms for open Gromov–Witten invariants given by Proposition 4.19. The proof is given in Section 6.

**Theorem 10.** The invariants  $\overline{OGW}_{\beta,k}$  satisfy the following recursions.

(a) Let  $l \ge 2$  and let  $I := \{j_3, \ldots, j_l\}$  (possibly  $I = \emptyset$ ). Then

$$\begin{split} \overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_{j_1},\ldots,\Gamma_{j_l}) &= \overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_{j_1-1},\Gamma_{j_2+1},\Gamma_{j_3},\ldots,\Gamma_{j_l}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\varpi(\hat{\beta})+\beta_1=\beta\\I_1\sqcup I_2=I}} \sum_{i=0}^n (-1)^{\frac{(n+1)\hat{\beta}}{2}} \cdot \left(\text{GW}_{\hat{\beta}}(\Delta_1,\Delta_{j_2},\Delta_{I_1},\Delta_i)\,\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta_1,k}(\Gamma_{n-i},\Gamma_{j_1-1},\Gamma_{I_2})\right) \\ &- \text{GW}_{\hat{\beta}}(\Delta_1,\Delta_{j_1-1},\Delta_{I_1},\Delta_i)\,\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta_1,k}(\Gamma_{n-i},\Gamma_{j_2},\Gamma_{I_2})\right) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\beta_1+\beta_2=\beta\\k_1+k_2=k\\I_1\sqcup I_2=I}} \binom{k}{k_1} \left(\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta_1,k_1}(\Gamma_1,\Gamma_{j_1-1},\Gamma_{I_1})\,\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta_2,k_2+1}(\Gamma_{j_2},\Gamma_{I_2})\right) \\ &- \overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta_1,k_1}(\Gamma_1,\Gamma_{j_2},\Gamma_{I_1})\,\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta_2,k_2+1}(\Gamma_{j_1-1},\Gamma_{I_2})\right). \end{split}$$

(b) Let  $k \ge 2$  and let  $I := \{j_1, ..., j_l\}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} &(-1)^{\frac{n+3}{2}} \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_{j_{1}},\ldots,\Gamma_{j_{l}}) \\ &= 2 \sum_{\substack{\varpi(\hat{\beta})+\beta_{1}=\beta+1\\I_{1}\sqcup I_{2}=I}} \sum_{i=0}^{n} (-1)^{\frac{(n+1)\hat{\beta}}{2}} \operatorname{GW}_{\hat{\beta}}(\Delta_{1},\Delta_{n},\Delta_{I_{1}},\Delta_{i}) \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_{1},k-1}(\Gamma_{n-i},\Gamma_{I_{2}}) \\ &- 2 \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\beta+1\\2\leq\beta_{1}\leq\beta\\k_{1}+k_{2}=k-2\\I_{1}\sqcup I_{2}=I}} \binom{k-2}{k_{1}} \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_{1},k_{1}}(\Gamma_{1},\Gamma_{n},\Gamma_{I_{1}}) \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_{2},k_{2}+2}(\Gamma_{I_{2}}) \\ &+ 2 \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\beta+1\\1\leq\beta_{1}\leq\beta\\k_{1}+k_{2}=k-2\\I_{1}\sqcup I_{2}=I}} \binom{k-2}{k_{1}} \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_{1},k_{1}+1}(\Gamma_{1},\Gamma_{I_{1}}) \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_{2},k_{2}+1}(\Gamma_{n},\Gamma_{I_{2}}). \end{split}$$

From the definition, one computes  $OGW_{1,2} = 2$  for an appropriately chosen relative spin structure. It then follows from the open WDVV equations that

$$OGW_{1,1}(\Gamma_{\frac{n+1}{2}}) = 0, \quad OGW_{1,0}(\Gamma_n) = (-1)^{\frac{n+3}{2}}.$$

**Corollary 1.9.** The open Gromov–Witten invariants of  $(\mathbb{C}P^n, \mathbb{R}P^n)$  are entirely determined by the open WDVV equations, the axioms of  $\overline{OGW}$ , the wall-crossing formula of Theorem 6, the closed Gromov–Witten invariants of  $\mathbb{C}P^n$ , and  $OGW_{1,2} = 2$ .

Moreover, the recursion process readily implies Corollary 6.2, which says the invariants are rational numbers with denominator a power of 2. The denominators arise from the divisor axiom.

*1.3.11. Sample values for projective space.* We continue with the setting and notation of the preceding section. Below, we write  $OGW^n_{\beta,k}$  for invariants of  $(\mathbb{C}P^n, \mathbb{R}P^n)$ .

The invariants  $OGW_{\beta,k}^3$  coincide with the analogous invariants of Welschinger [35] up to a factor of  $\pm 2^{1-l}$  by [32, Theorem 5]. We have verified this for small values of  $n, l, \beta$  by comparing the tables in [2,3] with computer calculations based on Theorem 10.

On the other hand, we are not aware of a definition of open Gromov–Witten invariants generalizing Welschinger's invariants with k > 0 real point constraints in dimensions n > 3 besides the invariants OGW<sub> $\beta,k$ </sub>. In Table 1, we present the results of computer calculations based on Theorem 10, which show these invariants are non-trivial.

For  $i_1, \ldots, i_l$  odd, the invariants  $OGW^n_{\beta,0}(\Gamma_{i_1}, \ldots, \Gamma_{i_l})$  coincide with the analogous invariants of Georgieva [12] up to a factor of  $2^{1-l}$  by [32, Theorem 6]. We have verified this for small values of  $n, l, \beta$ , by comparing the tables in [13] with computer calculations based on Theorem 10.

n	β	k	$OGW^n_{\beta,k}$	
3	3	6	-2	
3	5	10	90	
3	7	14	-29178	
5	5	8	2	
5	9	14	1974	
5	13	20	42781410	
5	17	26	7024726794150	
7	7	10	-2	
7	13	18	35498	
7	19	26	-40083246650	
7	25	34	680022893749060370	
9	9	12	2	
9	17	22	587334	
9	25	32	31424766229890	
9	33	42	49920592599715322910150	
15	15	18	-2	
15	29	34	2247512778	

Tab. 1. Sample values with only boundary constraints.

On the other hand, if one or more of  $i_1, \ldots, i_l$  is even, the invariants of [12] vanish, while the invariants  $OGW^n_{\beta,0}(\Gamma_{i_1}, \ldots, \Gamma_{i_l})$  are often non-vanishing. See Tables 2 and 3, which present results of computer computations based on Theorem 10.

$\frac{\beta}{l_2}$	1	3	5	7	9
· <u>∠</u>	1	43515	601224741985	116238642273889476915	140294698313130485254672005681
0	8	$-\frac{15515}{512}$	32768	2097152	134217728
1	$\frac{1}{2}$	$-\frac{255}{32}$	$\frac{602002259}{1024}$	$-\frac{113202029455499631}{131072}$	$\frac{20113658490667274313737811}{2097152}$
2	0	$-\frac{11}{32}$	$\frac{42354213}{2048}$	$-\frac{1929681317485627}{131072}$	$\frac{797025207129184980573997}{8388608}$
3	0	$\frac{3}{8}$	$\frac{88007}{128}$	$-\frac{136049411385}{512}$	$\frac{526360518604567156539}{524288}$

**Tab. 2.** Values of  $OGW_{\beta,0}^5(\Gamma_2^{\otimes l_1} \otimes \Gamma_4^{\otimes l_2})$ . The value of  $l_1$  is determined by  $\beta$  and  $l_2$ .

The reliance on general bounding chains is the main difference between the invariants  $OGW_{\beta,k}$  and the invariants of Welschinger and Georgieva. In the situations where the invariants  $OGW_{\beta,k}$  coincide with Welschinger's and Georgieva's invariants, bounding chains become explicit: either zero or an *n*-form with integral *s*. However, the general construction of bounding chains in [32, Theorems 2 and 3], upon which we rely in Theorems 8 and 9, uses an inductive argument based on the obstruction theory of [7]. It is

β	1	3	5	7
$l_2$				
0	$-\frac{1}{32}$	$-\frac{40990173}{8192}$	$-\frac{679329355023877929}{2097152}$	$-\frac{304348375415626014616826203269}{536870912}$
1	$-\frac{1}{2}$	$-\frac{23229}{512}$	$-\frac{32941896518265}{131072}$	$-\frac{3267223276596315843861141}{33554432}$
2	0	$-\frac{11}{32}$	$-\frac{2874828463}{8192}$	$-\frac{54161348711499099171}{2097152}$
3	0	0	$-\frac{338633}{512}$	$-\frac{1318018642164857}{131072}$

**Tab. 3.** Values of  $OGW_{\beta,0}^7(\Gamma_2^{\otimes l_1} \otimes \Gamma_6^{\otimes l_2})$ . The value of  $l_1$  is determined by  $\beta$  and  $l_2$ . Here we chose to take no constraints in  $\Gamma_4$ .

difficult to give an explicit description of the resulting bounding chain. Nonetheless, the results of this paper allow explicit calculations of the invariants  $OGW_{\beta,k}$ .

Write n = 2r + 1. To illustrate the geometric significance of the relative cohomology  $\hat{H}^*(X, L)$  and the wall-crossing formula, we consider the real analog of the classical result that there are r + 1 complex lines in  $\mathbb{C}P^n$  through 4 generic complex subspaces of dimension r. Real lines correspond to conjugate pairs of holomorphic disks of degree 1. When  $\beta = 1$ , it is not hard to see that the invariants  $OGW_{\beta,k}$  enumerate disks of degree 1; the bounding chain plays a role only when  $\beta > 1$ . Recall that the class  $\Delta_{r+1} = [\omega^{r+1}] \in H^{n+1}(\mathbb{C}P^n)$  is Poincaré dual to the class of an r-plane in  $H_{n-1}(\mathbb{C}P^n)$ . However, the class  $\Gamma_{r+1} = [\omega^{r+1}] \in \hat{H}^{n+1}(\mathbb{C}P^n \setminus \mathbb{R}P^n)$  is not Poincaré dual to the class of an r-plane in  $H_{n-1}(\mathbb{C}P^n \setminus \mathbb{R}P^n)$ . Rather, the classes

$$\lambda^{\pm} = \Gamma_{r+1} \mp \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\diamond}$$

are Poincaré dual to two distinct classes of r-planes in  $H_{n-1}(\mathbb{C}P^n \setminus \mathbb{R}P^n)$ . We have

$$OGW_{1,2}^n = 2$$
,  $OGW_{1,1}^n(\Gamma_{r+1}) = 0$ ,  $OGW_{1,0}^n(\Gamma_{r+1},\Gamma_{r+1}) = -1/2$ ,

The first two values are stated in Theorem 10 and the third is a consequence of equation (a) and the divisor axiom. Applying the wall-crossing formula of Theorem 6, we obtain

$$OGW_{1,0}^n(\Gamma_\diamond,\Gamma_\diamond)=2, \quad OGW_{1,0}^n(\Gamma_{r+1},\Gamma_\diamond)=0.$$

Thus, it follows by multi-linearity that

$$OGW_{1,0}^n(\lambda^{\pm},\lambda^{\pm}) = 0, \quad OGW_{1,0}^n(\lambda^{\pm},\lambda^{\mp}) = -1.$$

When  $n \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$  the classes  $\lambda^{\pm}$  are anti-conjugate, so the Poincaré dual of a conjugate pair of complex *r*-planes is  $2\Gamma_{r+1} = \lambda^+ + \lambda^-$ . Thus, an invariant count of real lines through two conjugate pairs of complex *r*-planes is half of the corresponding disk count:

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{OGW}_{1,0}(2\Gamma_{r+1}, 2\Gamma_{r+1}) = -1.$$

As expected, this agrees with the complex count mod 2. When  $n \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$ , the classes  $\lambda^{\pm}$  are conjugation invariant, so the Poincaré dual of a conjugate pair of complex *r*-planes may be either  $2\lambda^+$  or  $2\lambda^-$ . Thus, there are four possible invariant counts of real lines through two conjugate pairs of complex *r*-planes:

$$\frac{1}{2}$$
 OGW<sub>1,0</sub> $(2\lambda^{\pm}, 2\lambda^{\pm}) = 0$  and  $\frac{1}{2}$  OGW<sub>1,0</sub> $(2\lambda^{\pm}, 2\lambda^{\mp}) = -2$ 

Again, these invariants agree with the complex count mod 2. In [21, Example 12], Kollár constructs a generic configuration of two conjugate pairs of complex r-planes of the same class, such that there is no real line that intersects them. This shows that the vanishing invariant is optimal for such pairs. However, for conjugate pairs of complex r-planes of different classes, we obtain a positive lower bound of 2.

*1.3.12. Regularity assumptions.* We proceed with the regularity assumptions set in [31], namely, that moduli spaces are smooth orbifolds with corners and the evaluation maps at the zero point are proper submersions. To that we add in Section 3 the assumption that the zero evaluation maps remain submersions after restricting to a subspace of open stable maps where certain marked points are constrained to lie on a geodesic of the hyperbolic metric of the disk.

In [31, Example 1.5 and Remark 1.6] we show that the regularity assumptions hold for homogeneous spaces. The additional assumption concerning moduli spaces of open stable maps with geodesic constraints on marked points holds for homogeneous spaces as well. Indeed, suppose J is integrable and suppose there exists a Lie group  $G_X$  that acts transitively on X by J-holomorphic diffeomorphisms. Furthermore, suppose there exists a subgroup  $G_L \subset G_X$  that preserves L and acts transitively on L. Let  $\mathcal{M}_{k,l;a,b}(\beta) \subset$  $\mathcal{M}_{k,l}(\beta)$  be a moduli space with a geodesic constraint, as defined in Section 3. Then  $G_L$  acts on  $\mathcal{M}_{k,l;a,b}(\beta)$  as well, and the evaluation maps are equivariant. Since  $G_L$  acts transitively on L, we see that evb<sub>0</sub> remains a submersion after restricting to  $\mathcal{M}_{k,l;a,b}(\beta)$ .

In particular,  $(\mathbb{C}P^n, \mathbb{R}P^n)$  with the standard symplectic and complex structures, or more generally, Grassmannians, flag varieties and products thereof, satisfy our regularity assumptions. Using the theory of the virtual fundamental class from [6,8–11] or [15–18, 23], our results extend to general target manifolds.

#### 2. Background

#### 2.1. Integration properties

In the following, M, N and P are orbifolds with corners. We follow the conventions of [33] concerning smooth maps and orientations of orbifolds with corners except that here we require by definition that a proper submersion satisfies the additional property of strong smoothness. Let  $f: M \to N$  be a proper submersion with fiber dimension rel dim f = r, and let  $\Upsilon$  be a graded-commutative algebra over  $\mathbb{R}$ . Denote by

$$f_*: A^*(M; \Upsilon) \to A^*(N; \Upsilon)[-r]$$

the push-forward of forms along f, that is, integration over the fiber, as defined in [33]. We will need the following properties of  $f_*$  proved in [33]. In particular, property a of Proposition 2.1 is immediate from [33, Definition 4.14] while the remaining properties of  $f_*$  are given in Theorem 1.

**Proposition 2.1.** (a) Let  $f : M \to \text{pt}$  and  $\alpha \in A^m(M) \otimes \Upsilon$ . Then

$$f_*\alpha = \begin{cases} \int_M \alpha, & m = \dim M, \\ 0, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

(b) Let  $g: P \to M$  and  $f: M \to N$  be proper submersions. Then

 $f_* \circ g_* = (f \circ g)_*.$ 

(c) Let  $f: M \to N$  be a proper submersion,  $\alpha \in A^*(N; \Upsilon)$  and  $\beta \in A^*(M; \Upsilon)$ . Then

$$f_*(f^*\alpha \wedge \beta) = \alpha \wedge f_*\beta.$$

(d) Let



be a pull-back diagram of smooth maps, where g is a proper submersion. Let  $\alpha \in A^*(P)$ . Then

$$q_*p^*\alpha = f^*g_*\alpha.$$

**Proposition 2.2** (Stokes' theorem). Let  $f : M \to N$  be a proper submersion with dim M = s, and let  $\xi \in A^t(M; \Upsilon)$ . Then

$$d(f_*\xi) = f_*(d\xi) + (-1)^{s+t} (f|_{\partial M})_*\xi,$$

where  $\partial M$  is understood as the fiberwise boundary with respect to f.

**Remark 2.3.** Proposition 2.2 applied to  $f: M \to pt$  yields the classical Stokes theorem up to a sign,

$$\int_M d\xi = (-1)^{\dim M + |\xi| + 1} \int_{\partial M} \xi.$$

The sign arises from the possibly non-trivial grading of the coefficient ring. See [31, Remark 2.3] for an extended discussion.

The following result is Lemma 5.4 of [30].

**Lemma 2.4.** Let  $f : M \to M$  be a diffeomorphism and let  $\alpha \in A^*(M)$ . Then  $f^*\alpha = (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(f)} f_*^{-1} \alpha$ .

#### 2.2. Open stable maps

Here, we recall definitions and notations for open stable maps and moduli spaces thereof from [31, Section 2.2.1]. A *J*-holomorphic genus zero *open stable map* to (X, L) of degree  $\beta \in \Pi$  with one boundary component, k + 1 boundary marked points, and *l* interior marked points is a quadruple  $(\Sigma, u, \vec{z}, \vec{w})$  defined as follows. The domain  $\Sigma$  is a genus zero nodal Riemann surface with boundary consisting of one connected component,

$$u: (\Sigma, \partial \Sigma) \to (X, L)$$

is a continuous map, J-holomorphic on each irreducible component of  $\Sigma$ , with

$$u_*([\Sigma, \partial \Sigma]) = \beta,$$

and

$$\vec{z} = (z_0, \dots, z_k), \quad \vec{w} = (w_1, \dots, w_l)$$

with  $z_j \in \partial \Sigma$ ,  $w_j \in int(\Sigma)$ , distinct. The labeling of the marked points  $z_j$  respects the cyclic order given by the orientation of  $\partial \Sigma$  induced by the complex orientation of  $\Sigma$ . Stability means that if  $\Sigma_i$  is an irreducible component of  $\Sigma$ , then either  $u|_{\Sigma_i}$  is nonconstant or it satisfies the following requirement: If  $\Sigma_i$  is a sphere, the number of marked points and nodal points on  $\Sigma_i$  is at least 3; if  $\Sigma_i$  is a disk, the number of marked and nodal boundary points plus twice the number of marked and nodal interior points is at least 3. An open stable map is called *irreducible* if its domain consists of a single irreducible component. An isomorphism of open stable maps  $(\Sigma, u, \vec{z}, \vec{w})$  and  $(\Sigma', u', \vec{z}', \vec{w}')$  is a homeomorphism  $\theta : \Sigma \to \Sigma'$ , biholomorphic on each irreducible component, such that

$$u = u' \circ \theta$$
,  $z'_j = \theta(z_j)$ ,  $j = 0, \dots, k$ ,  $w'_j = \theta(w_j)$ ,  $j = 1, \dots, l$ .

Denote by  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta) = \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta; J)$  the moduli space of *J*-holomorphic genus zero open stable maps to (X, L) of degree  $\beta$  with one boundary component, k + 1 boundary marked points, and *l* internal marked points. Denote by

$$\operatorname{evb}_{j}^{\beta} : \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to L, \quad j = 0, \dots, k,$$
$$\operatorname{evi}_{j}^{\beta} : \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to X, \quad j = 1, \dots, l,$$

the evaluation maps given by  $\operatorname{evb}_{j}^{\beta}((\Sigma, u, \vec{z}, \vec{w})) = u(z_{j})$  and  $\operatorname{evi}_{j}^{\beta}((\Sigma, u, \vec{z}, \vec{w})) = u(w_{j})$ . We may omit the superscript  $\beta$  when the omission does not create ambiguity.

## 2.3. Structure equations and properties

For all  $\beta \in \Pi$ ,  $k, l \ge 0$ , and  $(k, l, \beta) \notin \{(1, 0, \beta_0), (0, 0, \beta_0)\}$ , define

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}^{\beta}: A^*(L;R)^{\otimes k} \otimes A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(L;R)$$

by

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}^{\beta}(\alpha_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \alpha_k; \gamma_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \gamma_l) := (-1)^{\varepsilon(\alpha)} (\operatorname{evb}_0^{\beta})_* \Big(\bigwedge_{j=1}^l (\operatorname{evi}_j^{\beta})^* \gamma_j \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^k (\operatorname{evb}_j^{\beta})^* \alpha_j\Big)$$

with

$$\varepsilon(\alpha) := \sum_{j=1}^{k} j(|\alpha_j| + 1) + 1.$$

In addition, define  $\mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\beta_0}(\alpha) := d\alpha$  and  $\mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\beta_0} := 0$ . Set

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l} := \sum_{\beta \in \Pi} T^{\beta} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l}^{\beta}.$$

For  $l \ge 0$ ,  $(l, \beta) \ne (1, \beta_0)$ ,  $(0, \beta_0)$ , define

$$\mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}^{\beta}, \mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}: A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l} \to Q$$

by

$$\mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}^{\beta}(\gamma_1\otimes\cdots\otimes\gamma_l):=\int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,l}(\beta)}\bigwedge_{j=1}^l(\operatorname{evi}_j^{\beta})^*\gamma_j$$

and

$$\mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}(\gamma_1\otimes\cdots\otimes\gamma_l):=\sum_{\beta\in\Pi}T^{\beta}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}^{\beta}(\gamma_1\otimes\cdots\otimes\gamma_l).$$

Define also  $\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\beta_0} := 0$  and  $\mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\beta_0} := 0$ . Lastly, define similar operations using spheres,

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}: A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(X;R),$$

as follows. For  $\beta \in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z})$  let  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta)$  be the moduli space of genus zero *J*-holomorphic stable maps with l + 1 marked points indexed from 0 to *l*, representing the class  $\beta$ . Denote by  $\operatorname{ev}_j^{\beta} : \mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta) \to X$  the evaluation map at the *j*-th marked point. Assume that all the moduli spaces  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta)$  are smooth orbifolds and  $\operatorname{ev}_0$  is a submersion. Let  $\varpi : H_2(X;\mathbb{Z}) \to \Pi$  denote the projection and let  $w_{\mathfrak{F}} \in H^2(X;\mathbb{Z})$  be the class given by the relative spin structure on *L*. For  $l \ge 0$ ,  $(l, \beta) \ne (1, 0), (0, 0)$ , set

$$\mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l) := (-1)^{w_{\mathfrak{F}}(\beta)} (\mathrm{ev}^{\beta}_0)_* \Big(\bigwedge_{j=1}^l (\mathrm{ev}^{\beta}_j)^* \gamma_j\Big),$$

and define

$$\mathfrak{q}^{\mathbf{0}}_{\emptyset,1} := 0, \quad \mathfrak{q}^{\mathbf{0}}_{\emptyset,0} := 0,$$

and

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l):=\sum_{\beta\in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z})}T^{\varpi(\beta)}\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^\beta(\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l).$$

Denote by  $\langle , \rangle : A^*(L; R) \otimes A^*(L; R) \to R$  the signed Poincaré pairing on L:

$$\langle \xi, \eta \rangle = (-1)^{|\eta|} \int_L \xi \wedge \eta.$$
<sup>(20)</sup>

It satisfies

$$\langle \xi, \eta \rangle = (-1)^{|\eta| + |\eta| \cdot |\xi|} \int_{L} \eta \wedge \xi = (-1)^{(|\eta| + 1)(|\xi| + 1) + 1} \langle \eta, \xi \rangle.$$
(21)

**Proposition 2.5** (Structure equations for  $k \ge 0$ , [31, Proposition 2.4]). For any fixed  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k)$ ,  $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l)$ ,

$$0 = \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{1+\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} |\gamma_j|} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l} \left( \alpha; \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \gamma_j \otimes d\gamma_i \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{l} \gamma_j \right) + \sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1 \leq i \leq k_1\\I \sqcup J = \{1,...,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota(\alpha,\gamma;i,I)} \times \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,|I|} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,|J|} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{k_2} \alpha_{j+i-1}; \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_j \right) \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+k_2}^{k} \alpha_j; \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_j \right),$$

where

.

$$\iota(\alpha,\gamma;i,I) = \left(1 + \sum_{j \in J} |\gamma_j|\right) \cdot \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} (|\alpha_j| + 1) + \sum_{j \in I} |\gamma_j| + \sum_{\substack{m \in I, \ j \in J \\ j < m}} |\gamma_m| \cdot |\gamma_j|.$$

**Proposition 2.6** (Structure equation for k = -1, [31, Proposition 2.5]). For any fixed  $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l)$ ,

$$0 = \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{1+\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} |\gamma_j|} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,l} \Big( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \gamma_j \otimes d\gamma_i \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{l} \gamma_j \Big) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{I \sqcup J = \{1, \dots, l\}} (-1)^{\iota(\gamma;I)} \Big\langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,|I|} \Big( \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_j \Big), \mathfrak{q}_{0,|J|} \Big( \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_j \Big) \Big\rangle + (-1)^{|\gamma|+1} \int_L i^* \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma).$$

**Lemma 2.7** (Linearity, [31, Proposition 3.1]). *The*  $\mathfrak{q}$  *operators are multilinear, in the sense that for*  $a \in R$  *we have* 

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_{i-1},a\cdot\alpha_i,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l) \\ &= (-1)^{|a|\cdot(i+\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}|\alpha_j|+\sum_{j=1}^{l}|\gamma_j|)}a\cdot\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l), \end{aligned}$$

and for  $a \in Q$  we have

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,a\cdot\gamma_i,\ldots,\gamma_l) = (-1)^{|a|\cdot\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}|\gamma_j|}a\cdot\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l),$$
$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_1,\ldots,a\cdot\gamma_i,\ldots,\gamma_l) = (-1)^{|a|\cdot\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}|\gamma_j|}a\cdot\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l).$$

In addition, the pairing  $\langle , \rangle$  defined by (20) is R-bilinear in the sense that

$$\begin{split} \langle a\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \rangle &= a \langle \alpha_1, \alpha_2 \rangle, \\ \langle \alpha_1, a\alpha_2 \rangle &= (-1)^{|a| \cdot (1+|\alpha_1|)} a \cdot \langle \alpha_1, \alpha_2 \rangle, \quad \forall a \in R, \, \alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in A^*(L;R). \end{split}$$

**Lemma 2.8** (Cyclic structure, [31, Proposition 3.3]). For any  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{k+1} \in A^*(L; R)$ and  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l \in A^*(X; Q)$ ,

$$\langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l),\alpha_{k+1} \rangle$$
  
=  $(-1)^{(|\alpha_{k+1}|+1)\sum_{j=1}^k (|\alpha_j|+1)} \cdot \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(\alpha_{k+1},\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_{k-1};\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l),\alpha_k \rangle.$ 

The following is a straightforward generalization of [31, Proposition 3.5] and [32, Lemma 5.8].

**Lemma 2.9** (Degree). For all  $k, l \ge 0$  and  $\beta \in \Pi$ , the map

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}: A^*(L; \mathbb{R})^{\otimes k} \otimes A^*(X; \mathbb{Q})^{\otimes l} \to A^*(L; \mathbb{R})$$

is of degree 2 - k - 2l. For  $l \ge 0$  and  $\beta \in \Pi$ , the map

$$\mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}: A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l} \to R$$

is of degree 3 - n - 2l.

For a permutation  $\sigma \in S_l$  and  $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_l)$  with  $\gamma_j \in A^*(X; Q)$ , define

$$s_{\sigma}(\gamma) := \sum_{\substack{i < j \\ \sigma^{-1}(i) > \sigma^{-1}(j)}} |\gamma_i| \cdot |\gamma_j| = \sum_{\substack{i > j \\ \sigma(i) < \sigma(j)}} |\gamma_{\sigma(i)}| \cdot |\gamma_{\sigma(j)}| \pmod{2}.$$
(22)

**Lemma 2.10** (Symmetry, [31, Proposition 3.6]). Let  $k \ge -1$ . For any permutation  $\sigma \in S_l$ ,

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l)=(-1)^{s_{\sigma}(\gamma)}\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,\gamma_{\sigma(l)}).$$

**Lemma 2.11** (Zero energy, [31, Proposition 3.8]). For  $k \ge 0$ ,

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}^{\beta_0}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l) = \begin{cases} d\alpha_1, & (k,l) = (1,0), \\ (-1)^{|\alpha_1|} \alpha_1 \wedge \alpha_2, & (k,l) = (2,0), \\ -\gamma_1|_L, & (k,l) = (0,1), \\ 0, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore,

$$\mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}^{\beta_0}(\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l)=0.$$

The following lemma is an immediate consequence of [31, Proposition 3.12].

**Lemma 2.12.** Suppose  $(k, l, \beta) \notin \{(1, 0, \beta_0), (0, 1, \beta_0), (2, 0, \beta_0)\}$ . Then  $\int_L \mathfrak{q}_{k,l}^{\beta}(\alpha; \gamma) = 0$  for all lists  $\alpha, \gamma$ .

Lemma 2.13 (Chain map, [31, Proposition 3.13]). The operator

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset} = \bigoplus_{l \ge 0} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset, l} : \bigoplus_{l \ge 0} A^*(X; Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(X; Q)$$

is a chain map.

The following lemmas are well known.

**Lemma 2.14** (Closed unit). For  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_{l-1} \in A^*(X)$ ,

$$\mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{\emptyset,l}(1,\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_{l-1}) = \begin{cases} \gamma_1, & \beta = \beta_0 \text{ and } l = 2, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

**Lemma 2.15** (Closed degree). For  $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l)$ , and  $\beta \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$ ,

$$|\mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma)| = |\gamma| - 2l - 2c_1(\beta) + 4$$

Equivalently, the map

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}: A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(X;Q)$$

is of degree 4 - 2l.

**Lemma 2.16** (Closed symmetry). For  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l \in A^*(X)$  and a permutation  $\sigma \in S_l$ ,

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l)=(-1)^{s_{\sigma}(\gamma)}\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,\gamma_{\sigma(l)})$$

with  $s_{\sigma}(\gamma)$  defined by (22).

**Lemma 2.17** (Closed zero energy). For  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l \in A^*(X)$ ,

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{0}(\gamma_{1},\ldots,\gamma_{l}) = \begin{cases} \gamma_{1} \wedge \gamma_{2}, & l = 2, \\ 0, & otherwise \end{cases}$$

**Lemma 2.18** (Closed divisor). For  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l \in A^*(X)$  with  $d\gamma_1 = 0$ ,  $|\gamma_1| = 2$ , and  $\beta \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$ , we have

$$\mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{\emptyset,l}(\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l) = \left(\int_{\beta} \gamma_1\right) \cdot \mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{\emptyset,l-1}(\gamma_2,\ldots,\gamma_l).$$

## 2.4. Pseudoisotopies

Let I = [0, 1] and let  $\{J_t\}_{t \in I}$  be a path in  $\mathcal{J}$  from  $J = J_0$  to  $J' = J_1$ . For each  $\beta, k, l$ , set

$$\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta) := \{(t,u) \mid u \in \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta; J_t)\}.$$

We have evaluation maps

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{evb}}_j : \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to I \times L, \quad j \in \{0, \dots, k\},\\ \widetilde{\operatorname{evb}}_j(t, [u, \vec{z}, \vec{w}]) := (t, u(z_j)),$$

and

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{evi}}_{j} : \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to I \times X, \quad j \in \{1, \dots, l\},\\ \widetilde{\operatorname{evi}}_{j}(t, [u, \vec{z}, \vec{w}]) := (t, u(w_j)).$$

It follows from the assumption on  $\mathcal{J}$  that all  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{k+1,l}(\beta)$  are smooth orbifolds with corners, and  $\widetilde{\operatorname{evb}}_0$  is a proper submersion. Let

$$p_I: I \times L \to I, \quad p_{\mathcal{M}}: \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to I$$

be the projections. For  $k, l \ge 0$ , define

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k,l}^{\beta}: A^*(I \times L; R)^{\otimes k} \otimes A^*(I \times X; Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(I \times L; R)$$

by

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{1,0}^{\beta_0=0}(\tilde{\alpha}) &= d\tilde{\alpha}, \\ \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k,l}^{\beta} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{k} \tilde{\alpha}_j; \bigotimes_{j=1}^{l} \tilde{\gamma}_j \right) := (-1)^{\varepsilon(\tilde{\alpha})} (\widetilde{\operatorname{evb}}_0)_* \left( \bigwedge_{j=1}^{k} (\widetilde{\operatorname{evb}}_j)^* \tilde{\alpha}_j \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\widetilde{\operatorname{evi}}_j)^* \tilde{\gamma}_j \right), \\ \tilde{\alpha}, \tilde{\alpha}_j \in A^* (I \times L), \ \tilde{\gamma}_j \in A^* (I \times X). \end{split}$$

Define also

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,l}^{\beta}: A^*(I \times X; Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(I; Q), \quad l \ge 0,$$

by

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,l}^{\beta}\left(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{l}\tilde{\gamma}_{j}\right) := (p_{\mathcal{M}})_{*}\left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l}(\widetilde{\operatorname{evi}}_{j})^{*}\tilde{\gamma}_{j}\right).$$

As before, denote the sum over  $\beta$  by

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k,l}\left(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{k} \tilde{\alpha}_{j}; \bigotimes_{j=1}^{l} \tilde{\gamma}_{j}\right) := \sum_{\beta \in \Pi} T^{\beta} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k,l}^{\beta} \left(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{k} \tilde{\alpha}_{j}; \bigotimes_{j=1}^{l} \tilde{\gamma}_{j}\right),$$
$$\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,l}\left(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{l} \tilde{\gamma}_{j}\right) := \sum_{\beta \in \Pi} T^{\beta} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,l}^{\beta} \left(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{l} \tilde{\gamma}_{j}\right).$$

Lastly, define similar operations using spheres,

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,l}: A^*(I \times X; Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(I \times X; R),$$

as follows. For  $\beta \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$  let

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{l+1}(\beta) := \{(t,u) \mid u \in \mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta; J_t)\}.$$

For j = 0, ..., l, let

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{ev}}_{j}^{\beta}: \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{l+1}(\beta) \to I \times X, \quad \widetilde{\mathrm{ev}}_{j}^{\beta}(t, [u, \vec{w}]) := (t, u(w_{j})),$$

be the evaluation maps. Assume that all the moduli spaces  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{l+1}(\beta)$  are smooth orbifolds and  $\widetilde{\mathrm{ev}}_0$  is a submersion. For  $l \ge 0$ ,  $(l, \beta) \ne (1, 0)$ , (0, 0), set

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,l}^{\beta}(\tilde{\gamma}_{1},\ldots,\tilde{\gamma}_{l}) &:= (-1)^{w_{\mathfrak{F}}(\beta)} (\widetilde{\mathrm{ev}}_{0}^{\beta})_{*} \Big(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\widetilde{\mathrm{ev}}_{j}^{\beta})^{*} \tilde{\gamma}_{j} \Big), \\ \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,l}(\tilde{\gamma}_{1},\ldots,\tilde{\gamma}_{l}) &:= \sum_{\beta \in H_{2}(X)} T^{\varpi(\beta)} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,l}^{\beta}(\tilde{\gamma}_{1},\ldots,\tilde{\gamma}_{l}), \end{split}$$

and define

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{\emptyset,1}^{0} := 0, \quad \tilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{\emptyset,0}^{0} := 0.$$

**Proposition 2.19** (Structure equations for  $k \ge 0$ , [31, Proposition 4.3]). For any fixed  $\tilde{\alpha} = (\tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_k), \, \tilde{\gamma} = (\tilde{\gamma}_1, \dots, \tilde{\gamma}_l),$ 

$$0 = \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{1+\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} |\tilde{y}_j|} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k,l} \left( \tilde{\alpha}; \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \tilde{\gamma}_j \otimes d \tilde{\gamma}_i \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{l} \tilde{\gamma}_j \right) + \sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1 \leq i \leq k_1\\I \sqcup J = \{1, \dots, l\}\\\times \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k_1,|I|}} (-1)^{\iota(\tilde{\alpha},\tilde{\gamma};i,I)} \\\times \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k_2,|J|} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{k_2} \tilde{\alpha}_j \otimes \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k_2,|J|} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{k_2} \tilde{\alpha}_{j+i-1}; \bigotimes_{j \in J} \tilde{\gamma}_j \right) \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+k_2}^{k} \tilde{\alpha}_j; \bigotimes_{j \in I} \tilde{\gamma}_j \right).$$

To formulate the next results, define

$$\langle\!\langle \tilde{\xi}, \tilde{\eta} \rangle\!\rangle := (-1)^{|\tilde{\eta}|} (p_I)_* (\tilde{\xi} \wedge \tilde{\eta}), \quad \tilde{\xi}, \tilde{\eta} \in A^* (I \times L; R)$$

**Proposition 2.20** (Structure equations for k = -1, [31, Proposition 4.4]). For any fixed  $\tilde{\gamma} = (\tilde{\gamma}_1, \dots, \tilde{\gamma}_l)$ ,

$$-d\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,l}(\tilde{\gamma}) = \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{1+\sum_{j=1}^{l} |\tilde{\gamma}_{j}|} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,l} \Big( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \tilde{\gamma}_{j} \otimes d\tilde{\gamma}_{i} \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{l} \tilde{\gamma}_{j} \Big)$$
  
+ 
$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{I \sqcup J = \{1, \dots, l\}} (-1)^{\iota(\tilde{\gamma};I)} \Big\| \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,|I|} \Big( \bigotimes_{j \in I} \tilde{\gamma}_{j} \Big), \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,|J|} \Big( \bigotimes_{j \in J} \tilde{\gamma}_{j} \Big) \Big\| + (-1)^{|\tilde{\gamma}|+1} (p_{I})_{*} i^{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,l}(\tilde{\gamma}).$$

**Lemma 2.21** ([31, Proposition 4.18]). For all lists  $\tilde{\gamma} = (\tilde{\gamma}_1, \dots, \tilde{\gamma}_l)$ , we have

$$\langle\!\langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,l}(\tilde{\gamma}),1\rangle\!\rangle = \begin{cases} 0, & l \ge 1, \\ -(p_I)_*(\tilde{\gamma}_1|_{I \times L}), & l = 1. \end{cases}$$

Lemma 2.22 (Chain map, [31, Proposition 4.19]). The operator

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset} = \bigoplus_{l \ge 0} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,l} : \bigoplus_{l \ge 0} A^* (I \times X; Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^* (I \times X; Q)$$

is a chain map.

Recall the notion of bounding pairs from Definition 1.1.

**Definition 2.23.** We say a bounding pair  $(\gamma, b)$  with respect to *J* is *gauge equivalent* to a bounding pair  $(\gamma', b')$  with respect to *J'* if there exist  $\tilde{\gamma} \in JA^*(X; Q)$  and  $\tilde{b} \in \mathcal{K}A^*(L; R)$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} (j_0)^* \tilde{\gamma} &= \gamma, \quad (j_1)^* \tilde{\gamma} &= \gamma', \quad (j_0)^* \tilde{b} = b, \quad (j_1)^* \tilde{b} = b', \quad d\tilde{\gamma} = 0, \quad |\tilde{\gamma}| = 2, \\ \sum_{k,l \ge 0} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k,l} (\tilde{b}^{\otimes k}; \tilde{\gamma}^{\otimes l}) &= \tilde{c} \cdot 1, \quad \tilde{c} \in \mathcal{K}, \quad |\tilde{c}| = 2. \end{aligned}$$

In this case, we say that  $(\tilde{\gamma}, \tilde{b})$  is a *pseudoisotopy* from  $(\gamma, b)$  to  $(\gamma', b')$  and write  $(\gamma, b) \sim (\gamma', b')$ .

## 3. Geodesic conditions

#### 3.1. Geodesic operators

Let  $a, e \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  be such that a + e = 3, and let  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;a,e}(\beta) \subset \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta)$  be the closure of the subspace consisting of one-component maps such that a of the boundary points and the first e of the interior points lie on a common geodesic in the domain with respect to the hyperbolic metric. When we need to specify which of the boundary points are taken to lie on a geodesic, we add their labels as subscripts to a, in which case the order of the indices indicates the order in which the points appear on the geodesic. If not indicated explicitly, the points are assumed to appear according to their labeling order. For example,  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;2_{0,k},1}(\beta)$  is the space of stable disks with k + 1 boundary and l marked points, such that the first interior point lies on the geodesic between the zeroth and last boundary points. In  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;1_0,2}(\beta)$ , the geodesic starts at the zeroth boundary point and passes through the first and second interior points, in that order. As mentioned in Section 1.3.12, we assume that  $evb_0 \mid_{\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;a,e}(\beta)}$  is a proper submersion.

To determine the orientation on  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;a,e}(\beta)$ , it is useful to identify it with a fiber product of oriented orbifolds, as follows. Denote by  $v_1, v_2, v_3 \in \{z_0, \ldots, z_k, w_1, \ldots, w_l\}$ the marked points that lie on the geodesic, labeled according to the order in which they appear on the geodesic. Given a nodal Riemann surface with boundary  $\Sigma$  with complex structure j, denote by  $\overline{\Sigma}$  a copy of  $\Sigma$  with the opposite complex structure -j. For a point  $v \in \Sigma$ , let  $\overline{v} \in \overline{\Sigma}$  denote the corresponding point. The complex double  $\Sigma_{\mathbb{C}} = \Sigma \coprod_{\partial \Sigma} \overline{\Sigma}$ is a closed nodal Riemann surface, so it is possible to define the cross ratio of four points on  $\Sigma_{\mathbb{C}}$  as in [24, Appendix D.4]. We define

$$\chi: \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to \mathbb{C}, \quad \chi(u, \Sigma, \vec{z}, \vec{w}) := (\bar{v}_2, v_1, v_3, v_2).$$

On the irreducible locus of  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta)$ , the domain  $\Sigma$  can be identified with the upper half-plane and  $\chi$  has the explicit formula

$$\chi(u, \vec{z}, \vec{w}) = \frac{(v_3 - \bar{v}_2)(v_2 - v_1)}{(v_3 - v_1)(v_2 - \bar{v}_2)}.$$

Note that the second marked point on the geodesic is necessarily an interior point, so  $\bar{v}_2 \neq v_2$ , and thus  $\chi$  is well defined. Then the condition that  $v_1, v_2, v_3$ , lie on a geodesic is equivalent to the condition  $\chi(u, \vec{z}, \vec{w}) \in [0, 1]$ . Thus, we have

and the fiber product identification determines orientation, as in [33].

Denote by

$$\mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{k,l;\chi} = \mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{k,l;a,e} : A^*(L;R)^{\otimes k} \otimes A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(L;R)$$

the operators defined analogously to  $\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}^{\beta}$  with  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;a,e}(\beta)$  in place of  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta)$ . Explicitly,

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;a,e}^{\beta}(\alpha_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \alpha_k; \gamma_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \gamma_l) \\ := (-1)^{\varepsilon_{\chi}(\alpha)} (\operatorname{evb}_0^{\beta})_* \Big(\bigwedge_{j=1}^l (\operatorname{evi}_j^{\beta})^* \gamma_j \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^k (\operatorname{evb}_j^{\beta})^* \alpha_j\Big)$$

with

$$\varepsilon_{\chi}(\alpha) := \varepsilon(\alpha) + |\alpha| + k = \sum_{j=1}^{k} (j+1)(|\alpha_j|+1) + 1.$$

In addition, define

$$\mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{-1,l;0,e}:(A^*(X;Q))^{\otimes l}\to R$$

by

$$\mathfrak{q}_{-1,l;0,e}^{\beta}(\gamma_1\otimes\cdots\otimes\gamma_l):=-\int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,l;0,e}(\beta)}\bigwedge_{j=1}^l(\mathrm{evi}_j^{\beta})^*\gamma_j.$$

Set

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi} = \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;a,e} := \sum_{\beta \in \Pi} T^{\beta} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;a,e}^{\beta}.$$

Again, specifying boundary points and the order of the points on the geodesic can be done by adding a subscript to a and e.

Lastly, consider the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta)$  of spheres with l+1 marked points  $w_0, \ldots, w_l$ . Let

$$\chi_0: \mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta) \to \mathbb{C}, \quad \chi_0(u, \Sigma, \vec{w}) := (w_0, w_1, w_3, w_2),$$

be the cross ratio map. Let  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1;\chi_0}(\beta) = [0,1] \times_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta)$  be the associated geodesic moduli space and denote by

$$\mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_0},\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_0}:A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l}\to A^*(X;Q)$$

the associated operators. Explicitly,

$$\mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_{0}}(\gamma_{1}\otimes\cdots\otimes\gamma_{l}):=(-1)^{w_{\mathfrak{S}}(\beta)}(\mathrm{ev}^{\beta}_{0})_{*}\Big(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l}(\mathrm{ev}^{\beta}_{j})^{*}\gamma_{j}\Big),$$
$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_{0}}:=\sum_{\beta\in H_{2}(X;\mathbb{Z})}T^{\varpi(\beta)}\mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_{0}}.$$

#### 3.2. Structure equations

Here we formulate structure equations for the geodesic q operations, similarly to the structure equations that govern the usual q operators. The proofs are similar to those of [31, Propositions 2.4–2.5], and are based on Stokes' theorem (Proposition 2.2).

For ordered lists  $B = (b_1, \ldots, b_k)$  and  $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_l)$ , denote by  $B \circ I$  the ordered list resulting from concatenation, i.e.,  $B \circ I := (b_1, \ldots, b_k, i_1, \ldots, i_l)$ .

Let *B* be a list of indices and let  $\eta = (\eta_j)_{j \in B} \subset A^*(X; Q)$ . For a sublist  $I \subset B$ , denote by  $\eta^I$  the list  $(\eta_j)_{j \in I}$ . For a partition  $I \sqcup J$  of *B* into two ordered sublists, define  $sgn(\sigma_{I+I}^{\eta})$  by the equation

$$\bigwedge_{i\in I} \eta_i \wedge \bigwedge_{j\in J} \eta_j = (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{I\sqcup J}^{\eta})} \bigwedge_{k\in B} \eta_k$$

where the wedge products are taken in the order of the respective lists. Explicitly,

$$\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{I\sqcup J}^{\eta}) \equiv \sum_{\substack{i\in I, \ j\in J\\j< i}} |\eta_i| \cdot |\eta_j| \pmod{2}.$$

Throughout, let  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_k)$  and  $\gamma = (\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_l)$  be lists with  $\alpha_j \in A^*(L; R)$ and  $\gamma_j \in \widehat{A}^*(X, L; Q)$ .

Use the following notation for signs, modulo 2:

$$\iota_{1} := \iota_{1}(\alpha, \gamma; i, I) := (|\gamma^{J}| + 1) \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} (|\alpha_{j}| + 1) + \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{I \sqcup J}^{\gamma}) + |\gamma|,$$
  
$$\iota_{2} := \iota_{2}(\alpha, \gamma; i, I) := |\gamma^{J}| \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} (|\alpha_{j}| + 1) + |\gamma^{I}| + \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{I \sqcup J}^{\gamma}) + 1,$$
  
$$\iota_{3} := \iota_{3}(\alpha, \gamma; I) := |\alpha| + k + |\gamma| + n + 1 + \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{J \sqcup I}^{\gamma}).$$

**Proposition 3.1** (The spaces  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;2_{0,m},1}(\beta)$ ).

$$0 = \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} |\gamma_j|} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;2_{0,m},1} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j; \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \gamma_j \otimes d\gamma_i \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{l} \gamma_j \right)$$
(AI)  
+ 
$$\sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\m+1\leq i\leq k_1\\I\sqcup J=\{2,\dots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_1(\alpha,\gamma;i,(1)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1;2_{0,m},1} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{k_2} \alpha_{j+i-1}; \bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j \right) \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{k_1} \alpha_{j+k_2-1}; \gamma_1 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in I} \gamma_j \right)$$
(AII)

$$+\sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1\leq i\leq m-k_2\\I\sqcup J=\{2,\dots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_1(\alpha,\gamma;i,(1)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1;2_{0,m-k_2+1},1} \Big(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2} \Big(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{k_2} \alpha_{j+i-1};\bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j\Big) \\ \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{k_1} \alpha_{j+k_2-1};\gamma_1 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in I} \gamma_j\Big)$$
(AIII)

$$+\sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\m-k_2+1\leq i\leq m\\I\sqcup J=\{2,\ldots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_2(\alpha,\gamma;i,I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1} \Big(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{\bigotimes} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2;2_{0,m-i+1},1} \Big(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{\bigotimes} \alpha_{j+i-1};\gamma_1 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j\Big) \\ \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{k_1+k_2-1} \alpha_{j+k_2-1};\bigotimes_{j\in I} \gamma_j\Big)$$
(AIV)

$$+\sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\m-k_2+1\leq i\leq m\\I\sqcup J=\{2,\ldots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_1(\alpha,\gamma;i,(1)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1;2_{0,i},1} \Big(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2} \Big(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{k_2} \alpha_{j+i-1};\bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j\Big) \\\otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{k_1} \alpha_{j+k_2-1};\gamma_1 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in I} \gamma_j\Big).$$
(AV)





**Fig. 2.** Boundary components of  $\mathcal{M}_{2,2;2_{0,1},1}(\beta_0)$ .

**Proposition 3.2** (The spaces  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;1_0,2}(\beta)$ ).

$$0 = \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} |\gamma_{j}|} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;1_{0},2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_{j}; \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \gamma_{j} \otimes d\gamma_{i} \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{l} \gamma_{j} \right)$$
(BI)  
+ 
$$\sum_{\substack{k_{1}+k_{2}=k+1\\ 1 \leq i \leq k_{1}\\ I \sqcup J = \{3,\ldots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_{1}(\alpha,\gamma;i,(1,2)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_{1},l_{1};1_{0},2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_{j} \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_{2},l_{2}} \left( \bigotimes_{j=i}^{i+k_{2}-1} \alpha_{j}; \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right) \right)$$
(BI)  
+ 
$$\sum_{\substack{k_{1}+k_{2}=k+1\\ 1 \leq i \leq k_{1}\\ I \sqcup J = \{3,\ldots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_{2}(\alpha,\gamma;i,I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_{1},l_{1}} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_{j} \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_{2},l_{2};1_{0},2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=i}^{i+k_{2}-1} \alpha_{j}; \gamma_{1} \otimes \gamma_{2} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right) \right)$$
(BII)  
+ 
$$\sum_{\substack{k_{1}+k_{2}=k+1\\ 1 \leq i \leq k_{1}\\ I \sqcup J = \{3,\ldots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_{1}(\alpha,\gamma;i,(1)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_{1},l_{1};2_{0,i},1} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_{j} \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_{2},l_{2}} \left( \bigotimes_{j=i}^{i+k_{2}-1} \alpha_{j}; \gamma_{2} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right) \right)$$
(BIII)  
+ 
$$\sum_{\substack{k_{1}+k_{2}=k+1\\ 1 \leq i \leq k_{1}\\ I \sqcup J = \{3,\ldots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_{3}(\alpha,\gamma;I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l_{1}} \left( \alpha; \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l_{2}} \left( \gamma_{1} \otimes \gamma_{2} \otimes \otimes \gamma_{l} \right) \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right) \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right)$$
(BIV)  
+ 
$$\sum_{\substack{k_{1}+k_{2}=k+1\\ I \sqcup J = \{3,\ldots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_{3}(\alpha,\gamma;I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l_{1}} \left( \alpha; \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l_{2}} \left( \gamma_{1} \otimes \gamma_{2} \otimes \otimes \gamma_{l} \right) \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right) \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right)$$
(BIV)

$$+\sum_{I\sqcup J=\{3,\ldots,l\}}(-1)^{\iota_3(\alpha,\gamma;I)}\mathfrak{q}_{k,l_1}\Big(\alpha;\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l_2}\Big(\gamma_1\otimes\gamma_2\otimes\bigotimes_{j\in J}\gamma_j\Big)\otimes\bigotimes_{j\in I}\gamma_j\Big).$$
(BV)

See Figure 3.

**Proposition 3.3** (The spaces  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;0,3}(\beta)$ ). For  $k \geq 0$ ,

$$0 = \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} |\gamma_j|} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;0,3} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{k} \alpha_j; \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \gamma_j \otimes d\gamma_i \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{l} \gamma_j \right)$$
(CI)  
+ 
$$\sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1 \leq i \leq k_1\\I \sqcup J = \{4,\dots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_1(\alpha,\gamma;i,(1,2,3)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1;0,3} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=i}^{i+k_2-1} \alpha_j; \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_j \right) \right)$$
(CI)  
+ 
$$\sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1 \leq i \leq k_1\\I \sqcup J = \{4,\dots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_2(\alpha,\gamma;i,l)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2;0,3} \left( \bigotimes_{j=i}^{i+k_2-1} \alpha_j; \gamma_1 \otimes \gamma_2 \otimes \gamma_3 \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_j \right) \right)$$
(CII)  
+ 
$$\sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1 \leq i \leq k_1\\I \sqcup J = \{4,\dots,l\}}} \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+k_2}^{k} \alpha_j; \gamma_1 \otimes \gamma_2 \otimes \gamma_3 \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_j \right)$$
(CIII)



**Fig. 3.** Boundary components of  $\mathcal{M}_{1,2;1_0,2}(\beta_0)$ .

$$+ \sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1\leq i\leq k_1\\I\sqcup J=\{4,\dots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_2(\alpha,\gamma;i,(1)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2;1_0,2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=i}^{i+k_2-1} \alpha_j; \gamma_2 \otimes \gamma_3 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j \right) \right) \\ \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+k_2}^{k} \alpha_j; \gamma_1 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in I} \gamma_j \right)$$
(CIV)  
$$+ \sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1\leq i\leq k_1\\I\sqcup J=\{4,\dots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_1(\alpha,\gamma;i,(2,3)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1;1_i,2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=i}^{i+k_2-1} \alpha_j; \gamma_1 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j \right) \right) \right) \\ (CV)$$
$$- \sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1\leq i\leq k_1\\I\sqcup J=\{4,\dots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_1(\alpha,\gamma;i,(2,1)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1;1_i,2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=i}^{i+k_2-1} \alpha_j; \gamma_3 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j \right) \right) \\ (CV)$$

$$-\sum_{\substack{k_1+k_2=k+1\\1\leq i\leq k_1\\I\sqcup J=\{4,\dots,l\}}} (-1)^{\iota_2(\alpha,\gamma;i,(2,1)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k_1,l_1} \left( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \alpha_j \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{k_2,l_2;1_0,2} \left( \bigotimes_{j=i}^{i+k_2-1} \alpha_j; \gamma_2 \otimes \gamma_1 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j \right) \right) \\ \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+k_2}^k \alpha_j; \gamma_3 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in I} \gamma_j \right) \\ (CVII)$$

$$-\sum_{I\sqcup J=\{4,\dots,l\}} (-1)^{\iota_3(\gamma;(3)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l_1} \left( \alpha; \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l_2} \left( \gamma_1 \otimes \gamma_2 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j \right) \otimes \gamma_3 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in I} \gamma_j \right) \right) \\ (CVII)$$

$$+\sum_{I\sqcup J=\{4,\dots,l\}} (-1)^{\iota_3(\gamma;(1)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l_1} \left( \alpha; \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l_2} \left( \gamma_2 \otimes \gamma_3 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in J} \gamma_j \right) \otimes \gamma_1 \otimes \bigotimes_{j\in I} \gamma_j \right). (CIX)$$

See Figure 4.



**Fig. 4.** Boundary components of  $\mathcal{M}_{0,3;0,3}(\beta_0)$ .

**Proposition 3.4** (The spaces  $\mathcal{M}_{0,l;0,3}(\beta)$ ).

$$0 = \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} |\gamma_j|} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,l;0,3} \Big( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \gamma_j \otimes d\gamma_i \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{l} \gamma_j \Big)$$
(DI)  
+ 
$$\sum_{I \sqcup J = \{4, \dots, l\}} (-1)^{\iota_1(\gamma;(1,2,3) \circ I)} \Big\langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,|I|;0,3} \Big( \gamma_1 \otimes \gamma_2 \otimes \gamma_3 \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_j \Big), \mathfrak{q}_{0,|J|} \Big( \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_j \Big) \Big\rangle$$
(DII)
$$+\sum_{I\sqcup J=\{4,...,l\}} (-1)^{\iota_{2}(\gamma;(1)\circ I)} \left\langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,|I|} \left( \gamma_{1} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_{j} \right), \mathfrak{q}_{0,|J|;1_{0},2} \left( \gamma_{2} \otimes \gamma_{3} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right) \right\rangle$$
(DIII)  
$$-\sum_{I\sqcup J=\{4,...,l\}} (-1)^{\iota_{1}(\gamma;(2,1)\circ I)} \left\langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,|I|;1_{0},2} \left( \gamma_{2} \otimes \gamma_{1} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_{j} \right), \mathfrak{q}_{0,|J|} \left( \gamma_{3} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right) \right\rangle$$
(DIV)  
$$-\sum_{I\sqcup J=\{4,...,l\}} (-1)^{\iota_{3}(\gamma;(3)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,|I|} \left( \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,|J|} \left( \gamma_{1} \otimes \gamma_{2} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right) \otimes \gamma_{3} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_{j} \right)$$
(DV)  
$$+\sum_{I\sqcup J=\{4,...,l\}} (-1)^{\iota_{3}(\gamma;(1)\circ I)} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,|I|} \left( \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,|J|} \left( \gamma_{2} \otimes \gamma_{3} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \right) \otimes \gamma_{1} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_{j} \right)$$
(DVI)  
$$+ (-1)^{\iota_{3}(\gamma;I=\emptyset)} \int_{L} i^{*} \left( \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_{0}} \left( \gamma_{1} \otimes \gamma_{2} \otimes \gamma_{3} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_{j} \right) \right).$$
(DVII)

# **Proposition 3.5.**

$$d\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_{0}}(\gamma_{1},\ldots,\gamma_{l}) = \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} |\gamma_{j}|} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_{0}} \Big( \bigotimes_{j=1}^{i-1} \gamma_{j} \otimes d\gamma_{i} \otimes \bigotimes_{j=i+1}^{l} \gamma_{j} \Big)$$
  
+  $(-1)^{|\gamma|+1+\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{(1,2,3)\circ J \sqcup I}^{\gamma})}$   
 $\times \sum_{I \sqcup J = \{4,\ldots,l\}} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,|I|+2} \Big( \gamma_{1} \otimes \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,|J|+2} \Big( \gamma_{2} \otimes \gamma_{3} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \Big) \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_{j} \Big)$   
-  $(-1)^{|\gamma|+1+\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma_{(1,2)\circ J \sqcup (3)\circ I}^{\gamma})}$   
 $\times \sum_{I \sqcup J = \{4,\ldots,l\}} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,|I|+2} \Big( \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,|J|+2} \Big( \gamma_{1} \otimes \gamma_{2} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \gamma_{j} \Big) \otimes \gamma_{3} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \in I} \gamma_{j} \Big).$ 

See Figure 5.

**Remark 3.6.** Proposition 3.5 implies the WDVV equation for the closed Gromov–Witten potential (4). Equivalently, the quantum product  $\star_U$  of Section 1.2.7 is associative.

# 3.3. Properties

# 3.3.1. Degree.

**Lemma 3.7.** For any  $k, l \ge 0$ , and a geodesic condition  $\chi$ , the map

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi}: A^*(L;R)^{\otimes k} \otimes A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(L;R)$$

is of degree 3 - k - 2l. For all  $l \ge 0$  and  $\beta \in H_2(X; \mathbb{Z})$ , the map

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_0}: A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(X;Q)$$

is of degree 5 - 2l.

The proof is similar to that of [31, Proposition 3.5].



**Fig. 5.** Boundary components of  $\mathcal{M}_{4;\chi_0}(\beta_0)$ .

*3.3.2. Linearity.* The following is a direct analog of the linearity properties of the usual q operators. The signs reflect the fact that the map of shifted complexes

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi}: A^*(L;R)[1]^{\otimes k} \otimes A^*(X;Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(L;R)[1]$$

has degree 0 (mod 2).

**Lemma 3.8.** The geodesic  $\mathfrak{q}$  operators are multilinear, in the sense that for  $a \in R$  we have

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_{i-1},a\cdot\alpha_i,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l)$$
  
=  $(-1)^{|a|\cdot(\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}(|\alpha_j|+1)+\sum_{j=1}^{l}|\gamma_j|)}a\cdot\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l),$ 

and for  $a \in Q$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,a\cdot\gamma_i,\ldots,\gamma_l) \\ &= (-1)^{|a|\cdot\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}|\gamma_j|} a\cdot\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l), \\ \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_0}(\gamma_1,\ldots,a\cdot\gamma_i,\ldots,\gamma_l) &= (-1)^{|a|\cdot\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}|\gamma_j|} a\cdot\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l;\chi_0}(\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l). \end{aligned}$$

*3.3.3. Unit on the geodesic.* The following lemmas concern geodesic operators where the unit is fed to one of the inputs constrained to the geodesic. They have no direct analog for the usual q operators.

# Lemma 3.9.

$$\mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}(\gamma) = (-1)^n \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,l;1_0,2}(\gamma), 1 \rangle.$$

The proofs of this lemma and the next are given after Lemma 3.11.

**Lemma 3.10.** Set  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k)$  and  $\alpha' = (\alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_k)$ . Whenever applicable,

$$\langle \mathfrak{q}_{k-1,l}(\alpha';\gamma), \alpha_1 \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^k (-1)^{n+\sum_{j=2}^i (|\alpha_j|+1)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;1_i,2}(\alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_i, 1, \alpha_{i+1}, \dots, \alpha_k; \gamma), \alpha_1 \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^k (-1)^{n+\sum_{j=2}^i (|\alpha_j|+1)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;2_{i,0},1}(\alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_i, 1, \alpha_{i+1}, \dots, \alpha_k; \gamma), \alpha_1 \rangle$$

Let  $\chi_i : \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to \mathbb{C}$  be the cross ratio map such that the condition  $\chi_i(u) \in [0, 1]$  constrains the marked points  $v_1 = z_i, v_2, v_3$ , to lie on a geodesic in that order. Let

 $p_i: \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;\chi_i}(\beta) \to \mathcal{M}_{k,l}(\beta)$ 

denote the forgetful map given by forgetting  $z_i$ , shifting the labels of  $z_{i+1}, \ldots, z_k$ , down by 1, and stabilizing the resulting open stable map.

**Lemma 3.11.** The forgetful map  $p_i$  restricts to a diffeomorphism from the irreducible locus to an open subset of the irreducible locus that changes orientation by  $sgn(p_i) = n + i + 1$ .



**Fig. 6.** Left: the domain of an irreducible stable map in  $\mathcal{M}_{5,1;2_{3,0},1}(\beta)$ . Right: the domain of an irreducible stable map in the image of the forgetful map  $p_3 : \mathcal{M}_{5,1;2_{3,0},1}(\beta) \to \mathcal{M}_{4,1}(\beta)$  with the possible locations of  $w_1$  shaded. The dotted lines are geodesics.

Proof of Lemma 3.9. Let  $p = p_0 : \mathcal{M}_{1,l;1_0,2}(\beta) \to \mathcal{M}_{0,l}(\beta)$  be the forgetful map as in Lemma 3.11. Denote by  $\operatorname{evi}_j^1$  the evaluation maps at interior marked points on  $\mathcal{M}_{1,l;1_0,2}(\beta)$ , and by  $\operatorname{evi}_j^0$  the evaluation maps at interior marked points on  $\mathcal{M}_{0,l}(\beta)$ . In particular,  $\operatorname{evi}_j^0 \circ p = \operatorname{evi}_{l+1}^1$ . Set

$$\xi' := \bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{evi}_{j}^{0})^{*} \gamma_{j+1}, \quad \xi := \bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{evi}_{j}^{1})^{*} \gamma_{j} = p^{*} \xi'.$$

For any space, denote by pt the map from it to a point. In the following calculation we use the fact that

$$\mathrm{pt}_{*}(p^{*}\xi') = \mathrm{pt}_{*}p_{*}(p^{*}\xi' \wedge 1) = \mathrm{pt}_{*}(\xi' \wedge p_{*}1) = (-1)^{\mathrm{sgn}(p)}\,\mathrm{pt}_{*}\xi' \in R.$$

So,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,l;1_{0},2}(\gamma),1 \rangle &= \mathrm{pt}_{*}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,l;1_{0},2}(\gamma)) = (-1)^{\varepsilon_{\chi}(\emptyset)} \mathrm{pt}_{*}(\mathrm{evb}_{0})_{*}\xi \\ &= (-1)^{\varepsilon_{\chi}(\emptyset)} \int_{\mathcal{M}_{1,l;1_{0},2}(\beta)} p^{*}\xi' = (-1)^{\varepsilon_{\chi}(\emptyset) + \mathrm{sgn}(p)} \int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,l}(\beta)} \xi' \\ &= (-1)^{\varepsilon_{\chi}(\emptyset) + \mathrm{sgn}(p)} \int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,l}(\beta)} \bigwedge_{j=0}^{l-1} (\mathrm{evi}_{j}^{0})^{*}\gamma_{j+1} \\ &= (-1)^{\varepsilon_{\chi}(\emptyset) + \mathrm{sgn}(p)} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}(\gamma). \end{aligned}$$

The total sign is therefore

 $\varepsilon_{\chi}(\emptyset) + \operatorname{sgn}(p) = 1 + n + 1 \equiv n \pmod{2}.$ 

*Proof of Lemma* 3.10. Let  $evi_j$ ,  $evb_j$ , be the evaluation maps on  $\mathcal{M}_{k,l}(\beta)$ , and set

$$\xi' := \bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{evi}_{j})^{*} \gamma_{j} \wedge \bigwedge_{j=0}^{k-1} (\operatorname{evb}_{j})^{*} \alpha_{j+1}.$$

Then

$$pt_{*}\xi' = pt_{*}(evb_{0})_{*}\left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l}(evi_{j})^{*}\gamma_{j} \wedge (evb_{0})^{*}\alpha_{1} \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^{k-1}(evb_{j})^{*}\alpha_{j+1}\right)$$

$$= (-1)^{|\alpha_{1}||\gamma|} pt_{*}(evb_{0})_{*}\left((evb_{0})^{*}\alpha_{1} \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^{l}(evi_{j})^{*}\gamma_{j} \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^{k-1}(evb_{j})^{*}\alpha_{j+1}\right)$$

$$= (-1)^{|\alpha_{1}||\gamma|} pt_{*}\left(\alpha_{1} \wedge (evb_{0})_{*}\left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l}(evi_{j})^{*}\gamma_{j} \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^{k-1}(evb_{j})^{*}\alpha_{j+1}\right)\right)$$

$$= (-1)^{|\alpha_{1}||\gamma|+|\alpha_{1}|(|\gamma|+|\alpha'|-reldim(evb_{0}))}$$

$$\times pt_{*}\left((evb_{0})_{*}\left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l}(evi_{j})^{*}\gamma_{j} \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^{k-1}(evb_{j})^{*}\alpha_{j+1}\right) \wedge \alpha_{1}\right)$$

$$= (-1)^{|\alpha_{1}|(|\alpha'|+k-1)+|\alpha_{1}|+\varepsilon(\alpha')}\langle q_{k-1,l}(\alpha';\gamma), \alpha_{1}\rangle.$$
(23)

Let  $p_i : \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;\chi_i}(\beta) \to \mathcal{M}_{k,l}(\beta)$  be the forgetful map from Lemma 3.11 with  $v_2, v_3$ , taken to be  $w_1, w_2$  for the first equation, or  $w_1, z_0$  for the second equation. Varying *i*, we get a diffeomorphism onto an open dense subset of the irreducible stratum:

$$p = \coprod_{1 \le i \le k} p_i : \coprod_{1 \le i \le k} \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;\chi_i}(\beta) \to \mathcal{M}_{k,l}(\beta).$$

See Figure 6.

Let  $\operatorname{evi}_j$ ,  $\operatorname{evb}_j$  be the evaluation maps on  $\mathcal{M}_{k,l}(\beta)$ , and let  $\operatorname{evi}_j^i$ ,  $\operatorname{evb}_j^i$  be the evaluation maps on  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l;\chi_i}(\beta)$ . In particular,

$$\operatorname{evb}_{j}^{i} = \begin{cases} \operatorname{evb}_{j} \circ p_{i}, & j < i, \\ \operatorname{evb}_{j-1} \circ p_{i}, & j > i. \end{cases}$$

Set  $\xi_i := (p_i)^* \xi'$ . Then, by Proposition 2.1 (c),

$$pt_{*}\xi' = \sum_{i=1}^{k} (-1)^{\text{sgn}(p_{i})} pt_{*}(\xi' \wedge (p_{i})_{*}1) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} (-1)^{\text{sgn}(p_{i})} pt_{*}(p_{i})_{*}(p_{i}^{*}\xi')$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} (-1)^{\text{sgn}(p_{i})} pt_{*}\xi_{i}.$$
(24)

By Proposition 2.1 (b, c) we have

$$pt_{*}\xi_{i} = pt_{*}\left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{evi}_{j})^{*}\gamma_{j} \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^{i} (\operatorname{evb}_{j-1}^{i})^{*}\alpha_{j} \wedge (\operatorname{evb}_{i}^{i})^{*}1 \wedge \bigwedge_{j=i+1}^{k} (\operatorname{evb}_{j}^{i})^{*}\alpha_{j}\right)$$
$$= (-1)^{|\alpha_{1}| |\gamma|} pt_{*}(\operatorname{evb}_{0})_{*}\left((\operatorname{evb}_{0})^{*}\alpha_{1} \wedge \bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{evi}_{j})^{*}\gamma_{j} \wedge \bigwedge_{j=2}^{i} (\operatorname{evb}_{j-1}^{i})^{*}\alpha_{j} \wedge (\operatorname{evb}_{i}^{i})^{*}1 \wedge \bigwedge_{j=i+1}^{k} (\operatorname{evb}_{j}^{i})^{*}\alpha_{j}\right)$$

$$= (-1)^{|\alpha_1|(|\alpha'|+\operatorname{rel dim evb}_0)} \cdot \operatorname{pt}_* \left( (\operatorname{evb}_0)_* \left( \bigwedge_{j=1}^l (\operatorname{evi}_j)^* \gamma_j \wedge \bigwedge_{j=2}^i (\operatorname{evb}_{j-1}^i)^* \alpha_j \wedge (\operatorname{evb}_i^i)^* 1 \wedge \bigwedge_{j=i+1}^k (\operatorname{evb}_j^i)^* \alpha_j \right) \wedge \alpha_1 \right)$$
  
$$= (-1)^{\varepsilon_{\chi}(\alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_i, 1, \alpha_{i+1}, \dots, \alpha_k) + |\alpha_1| + |\alpha_1|(|\alpha'|+k-1)} \cdot \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi_i}(\alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_i, 1, \alpha_{i+1}, \dots, \alpha_k), \alpha_1 \rangle.$$

Thus, using (23), (24), and Lemma 3.11, we obtain

$$\langle \mathfrak{q}_{k-1,l}(\alpha';\gamma),\alpha_1 \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^k (-1)^* \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l};\chi_i(\alpha_2,\ldots,\alpha_i,1,\alpha_{i+1},\ldots,\alpha_k),\alpha_1 \rangle$$

with

$$* \equiv \varepsilon_{\chi}(\alpha_{2}, \dots, \alpha_{i}, 1, \alpha_{i+1}, \dots, \alpha_{k}) + \varepsilon(\alpha') + n + i + 1$$
  
$$= |\alpha'| + k + \varepsilon(\alpha_{2}, \dots, \alpha_{i}, 1, \alpha_{i+1}, \dots, \alpha_{k}) + \varepsilon(\alpha') + n + i + 1$$
  
$$\equiv |\alpha'| + k + i + \sum_{j=i+1}^{k} (|\alpha_{j}| + 1) + n + i + 1$$
  
$$\equiv \sum_{j=2}^{i} (|\alpha_{j}| + 1) + n \pmod{2}.$$

*3.3.4. Reversing the geodesic.* We consider the effect on the geodesic operators of reversing the order of the marked points constrained to the geodesic.

**Lemma 3.12.** For all lists  $\alpha$ ,  $\gamma$ , and elements  $\eta_1$ ,  $\eta_2$ ,  $\eta_3$ , we have

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;2_{a,e},1}(\alpha;\gamma) = -\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;2_{e,a},1}(\alpha;\gamma),$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l+3;0,3}\Big(\alpha;\eta_1\otimes\eta_2\otimes\eta_3\otimes\bigotimes_{j=1}^l\gamma_j\Big)\\ &=(-1)^{1+|\eta_1||\eta_2|+|\eta_1||\eta_3|+|\eta_2||\eta_3|}\mathfrak{q}_{k,l+3;0,3}\Big(\alpha;\eta_3\otimes\eta_2\otimes\eta_1\otimes\bigotimes_{j=1}^l\gamma_j\Big).\end{aligned}$$

*Proof.* Let  $\chi, \chi' : \mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta) \to \mathbb{C}$  be the cross ratio maps such that the condition that  $\chi(u) \in [0, 1]$  (resp.  $\chi'(u) \in [0, 1]$ ) constrains the marked points  $v_1, v_2, v_3$  (resp.  $v_3, v_2, v_1$ ) to lie on a geodesic in that order. Note that

$$\chi' = (\bar{v}_2, v_3, v_1, v_2) = 1 - (\bar{v}_2, v_1, v_3, v_2) = 1 - \chi$$

Then we have the following diagram, where the front and back are pullback diagrams:



By [7, Lemma 8.2.3 (4)], the induced map  $\varphi$  is an orientation-reversing isomorphism. The result follows from the definition of the geodesic q operators.

3.3.5. Unit. The following is a direct analog of the unit property of the usual q operators.

**Lemma 3.13.** Let  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k \in A^*(L; R)$ , and  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l \in A^*(X; Q)$ . If  $z_i$  is not constrained to lie on the geodesic, then

$$\mathfrak{q}_{k+1,l;a,e}\left(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_{i-1},1,\alpha_i,\ldots,\alpha_k;\bigotimes_{r=1}^l\gamma_r\right)=0.$$

Moreover, if  $z_0$  is not constrained to lie on a geodesic, then

$$\left\langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;a,e}\left(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{k}\alpha_{j};\bigotimes_{j=1}^{l}\gamma_{j}\right),1\right\rangle = 0.$$

The proof is similar to that of [31, Propositions 3.2 and 3.12].

## 3.3.6. Symmetry

**Lemma 3.14.** Let  $k \ge -1$  and let  $\chi$  be a geodesic condition. For any permutation  $\sigma \in S_l$ ,

 $\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l)=(-1)^{s_{\sigma}(\gamma)}\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi_{\sigma}}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,\gamma_{\sigma(l)}),$ 

where  $s_{\sigma}(\gamma)$  is defined by equation (22), and  $\chi_{\sigma}$  is given by  $\chi$  composed with the diffeomorphism of  $\mathcal{M}_{k+1,l}(\beta)$  induced by  $\sigma^{-1}$  acting on the labels of interior marked points.

The proof is similar to that of [31, Proposition 3.6].

*3.3.7. Cyclic symmetry.* The following is a direct analog of the cyclic symmetry property of the usual q operators.

**Lemma 3.15.** Let  $\chi$  be a cross ratio map, and let  $\chi'$  be the map obtained from  $\chi$  by shifting boundary indices up by 1, modulo k + 1. For all  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{k+1} \in A^*(L; R)$  and  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_l \in A^*(X; Q)$ , we have

$$\langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l),\alpha_{k+1} \rangle$$
  
=  $(-1)^{(|\alpha_{k+1}|+1)\cdot\sum_{j=1}^k (|\alpha_j|+1)} \cdot \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi'}(\alpha_{k+1},\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_{k-1};\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_l),\alpha_k \rangle.$ 

The proof is similar to that of [31, Proposition 3.3].

For a list  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_k)$  and a cyclic permutation  $\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}/k\mathbb{Z}$ , denote by  $\alpha_\sigma$  the list  $(\alpha_{\sigma(1)}, ..., \alpha_{\sigma(k)})$ .

**Corollary 3.16.** Set  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k)$  and  $\alpha' = (\alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_k)$ . Whenever applicable,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k-1,l}(\alpha';\gamma), \alpha_1 \rangle &= \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}/k\mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{n+|\alpha|+k+(|\alpha_1|+1)\cdot(|\alpha'|+k-1)+s_{\sigma}^{[1]}(\alpha)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;1_0,2}(\alpha_{\sigma};\gamma), 1 \rangle \\ &= \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}/k\mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{n+|\alpha|+k+(|\alpha_1|+1)\cdot(|\alpha'|+k-1)+s_{\sigma}^{[1]}(\alpha)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;2_{0,\sigma^{-1}(1)},1}(\alpha_{\sigma};\gamma), 1 \rangle, \end{aligned}$$
with  $s_{\sigma}^{[1]}(\alpha) := \sum_{j < m, \sigma(j) > \sigma(m)} (|\alpha_{\sigma(j)}|+1) \cdot (|\alpha_{\sigma(m)}|+1). \end{aligned}$ 

*Proof.* Apply Lemma 3.15 repeatedly to the expressions in Lemma 3.10 to move the input 1 to the right-hand side of the pairing  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ . Moving  $\alpha_{i+1}, \ldots, \alpha_k, \alpha_1$  past 1 con-

tributes  $(|\alpha_1|+1) + \sum_{j=i+1}^{k} (|\alpha_j|+1)$  to the sign, which combines with  $\sum_{j=1}^{i} (|\alpha_j|+1)$  in the sign of Lemma 3.10 to give  $|\alpha| + k$ . Moving  $\alpha_1$  past  $\alpha'$  contributes  $(|\alpha_1|+1) \cdot (|\alpha'|+k-1)$  to the sign. The remaining cyclic permutation of  $\alpha$  contributes  $s_{\sigma}^{[1]}(\alpha)$ .

## 3.4. Deformed a operators

Let  $\gamma \in \mathcal{J}A^*(X; Q)$  be such that  $|\gamma| = 2$  and  $d\gamma = 0$ . Let  $b \in \mathcal{K}A^*(L; R)$  be such that |b| = 1. Define

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,l}^{\gamma,b}\left(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{l}\eta_{j}\right) \\ &:=\sum_{k,t}\frac{1}{t!(k+1)}\left\langle \mathfrak{q}_{k,l+t}\left(b^{\otimes k};\bigotimes_{j=1}^{l}\eta_{j}\otimes\gamma^{\otimes t}\right),b\right\rangle +\sum_{t}\frac{1}{t!}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,t+l}\left(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{l}\eta_{j}\otimes\gamma^{\otimes t}\right).\end{aligned}$$

For  $k \ge 0$ , define

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l}^{\gamma,b}(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k;\delta_1,\ldots,\delta_l) \\ &= \sum_{s,t} \frac{1}{(t-l)!} \sum_{1 \le i_1 < \cdots < i_k \le s} \mathfrak{q}_{s,t} \Big( b^{\otimes i_1 - 1} \otimes \alpha_1 \otimes b^{\otimes i_2 - i_1 - 1} \otimes \cdots \\ &\otimes b^{\otimes i_k - i_{k-1} - 1} \otimes \alpha_k \otimes b^{\otimes s - i_k}; \bigotimes_{j=1}^l \delta_j \otimes \gamma^{\otimes t - l} \Big). \end{aligned}$$

Define also

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma}\Big(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{l}\eta_j\Big)=\sum_t\frac{1}{t!}\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l+t}\Big(\bigotimes_{j=1}^{l}\eta_j\otimes\gamma^{\otimes t}\Big).$$

For j > 0, the deformed geodesic  $\mathfrak{q}$  operators are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{q}_{k,l;2_{0,j},1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{D}}(\alpha_{1},\ldots,\alpha_{k};\delta_{1},\ldots,\delta_{l}) \\ &= \sum_{s,t} \frac{1}{(t-l)!} \sum_{1 \leq i_{1} < \cdots < i_{k} \leq s} \mathfrak{q}_{s,t;2_{0,i_{j}},1} \Big( b^{\otimes i_{1}-1} \otimes \alpha_{1} \otimes b^{\otimes i_{2}-i_{1}-1} \otimes \cdots \\ & \cdots \otimes b^{\otimes i_{k}-i_{k-1}-1} \otimes \alpha_{k} \otimes b^{\otimes s-i_{k}}; \bigotimes_{j=1}^{l} \delta_{j} \otimes \gamma^{\otimes t-l} \Big), \end{aligned}$$

and similarly for other geodesic operations.

Let  $\tilde{\gamma} \in JA^*(I \times X; Q)$  with  $|\tilde{\gamma}| = 2$  and  $d\tilde{\gamma} = 0$ . Let  $\tilde{b} \in \mathcal{K}A^*(I \times L; R)$  such that  $|\tilde{b}| = 1$ . Define deformed operations on the product,

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k,l;a,e}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}}: A^*(I \times L; R)^{\otimes k} \otimes A^*(I \times X; Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(I \times L; R)$$

for  $k \ge 0$  and

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,l;a,e}^{\tilde{\gamma},b}: A^*(I \times X; Q)^{\otimes l} \to A^*(I; R),$$

by the formulas above with  $\tilde{q}$  instead of q.

**Lemma 3.17.** The structure equations and all properties of Sections 2.3 and 2.4 hold for  $\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}^{\gamma,b}$  and  $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k,l}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}}$  for all  $k \geq -1, l \geq 0$ . The structure equations and all properties of Sections 3.2 and 3.3 hold for  $\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;a,e}^{\gamma,b}$  and  $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{k,l;a,e}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}}$  for all  $k \geq -1, l \geq 0$ .

From now on, we may implicitly use Lemma 3.17, referring to the usual properties when working with deformed operators.

# 4. Tensor potential and relative potential

## 4.1. Tensor potential

Let  $(\gamma, b) \in \mathcal{J}_W A^*(X; Q_W) \oplus \mathcal{K}_W A^*(L; R_W)$  be a bounding pair as in Definition 1.1. Recall that in (17) we have defined the operator  $\exists : C(i) \to C(i)$  by

$$\mathfrak{l}(\eta,\xi) = (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta), (-1)^{n+1} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta) - c \cdot \xi).$$
(25)

**Lemma 4.1.** For any  $\eta \in A^*(X; Q_W)$ , we have

$$(-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta) - c \cdot \mathfrak{i}(\eta) = \mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta)).$$

Proof. By Proposition 2.6,

This proves

$$(-1)^{|\eta|+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta) - c \cdot \int_L i^*\eta = \int_L i^*\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta).$$

Equivalently,

$$(-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta) - c \cdot \mathfrak{i}(\eta) = \mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta)).$$

**Corollary 4.2.** For closed  $\eta$ , we have  $c \cdot \int_L i^* \eta = -\int_L i^* \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta)$ .

**Lemma 4.3.** For all  $\alpha \in A^*(L; R_W)$ ,  $\eta \in A^*(X; R_W)$ , we have

$$\langle \eta, i_* \alpha \rangle_X = (-1)^n \langle i^* \eta, \alpha \rangle.$$

*Proof.* For any space, denote by pt the map from it to a point. By Proposition 2.1 (c), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle i^*\eta, \alpha \rangle &= (-1)^{|\alpha|} \operatorname{pt}_*(i^*\eta \wedge \alpha) = (-1)^{|\alpha|} \operatorname{pt}_*i_*(i^*\eta \wedge \alpha) \\ &= (-1)^{|\alpha|} \operatorname{pt}_*(\eta \wedge i_*\alpha) = (-1)^{|\alpha|+|\alpha|-n} \langle \eta, i_*\alpha \rangle_X. \end{aligned}$$

*Proof of Theorem* 2. By assumption,  $\int_L i^* \eta = 1$ . Therefore, by Corollary 4.2, we have

$$c = -\int_{L} i^{*} \mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta) = -\langle i^{*} \mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta), 1 \rangle = (-1)^{n+1} \langle \mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta), i_{*}1 \rangle_{X}$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{l \ge 0\\ \beta \in H_{2}(X;\mathbb{Z})}} (-1)^{n+1+w_{\mathfrak{s}}(\beta)} T^{\overline{\varpi}(\beta)} \frac{1}{l!} \operatorname{GW}_{\beta}(\eta, i_{*}1, \gamma^{\otimes l}).$$

Lemma 4.4. *The map* 1 *is a chain map*.

*Proof.* We need to show that  $\exists$  commutes with  $d_C$ , that is,

$$d_C(\mathfrak{I}(\eta,\xi)) = \mathfrak{I}(d\eta,\mathfrak{i}(\eta))$$

or, in other words,

$$(d\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta),\mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta))) = (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(d\eta),(-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta) - c\cdot\mathfrak{i}(\eta)).$$

Indeed, equality of the first component follows from Lemma 2.13. Equality of the second component follows from Lemma 4.1.

We denote by I the induced map on cohomology,

$$\mathfrak{l}: H^*(C(\mathfrak{i})) \to H^*(C(\mathfrak{i})).$$

Lemma 4.5. Consider the fiber product

The natural diffeomorphism

$$L_i \times_{p_X} (I \times X) \to I \times L$$

has sign  $(-1)^n$ .

*Proof.* By [7, Lemma 8.2.3 (3)],

$$L_i \times_{p_X} (I \times X) = L_{i \times pt} \times_{\mathrm{Id}_X \times pt} (X \times I) = (L_i \times_{\mathrm{Id}_X} X)_{pt} \times_{pt} I = L \times I$$
$$= (-1)^n I \times L.$$

Lemma 4.6. Consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} I \times L & \stackrel{i}{\longrightarrow} I \times X \\ p_L & & \downarrow p_X \\ L & \stackrel{i}{\longrightarrow} X \end{array}$$

Let  $\alpha \in A^*(I \times X)$ . Then

$$(p_L)_*i^*\alpha = (-1)^n i^*(p_X)_*\alpha$$

*Proof.* This is an immediate consequence of Lemma 4.5 and Proposition 2.1 (d).

**Lemma 4.7.** If  $(\gamma, b)$  is gauge equivalent to  $(\gamma', b')$ , then  $\mathfrak{I}^{\gamma, b}$  and  $\mathfrak{I}^{\gamma', b'}$  are chain homotopic.

*Proof.* For each  $\eta$ , set  $\tilde{\eta} := (p_X)^* \eta$ . Define  $H : C(\mathfrak{i}) \to C(\mathfrak{i})$  by

$$H(\eta,\xi) = (-1)^{|\eta|+1} \cdot ((p_X)_* \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}), \operatorname{pt}_*(\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,1}^{\tilde{\gamma},b}(\tilde{\eta}))).$$

We show

$$d_C \circ H + H \circ d_C = \mathbf{j}^{\gamma',b'} - \mathbf{j}^{\gamma,b}.$$
(26)

On the one hand,

$$\begin{split} (d_{C} \circ H + H \circ d_{C})(\eta, \xi) \\ &= d_{C} \left( (-1)^{|\eta|+1} (p_{X})_{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}), (-1)^{|\eta|+1} \operatorname{pt}_{*} (\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,1}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}}(\tilde{\eta})) \right) + H(d\eta, \mathfrak{i}(\eta)) \\ &= \left( (-1)^{|\eta|+1} d(p_{X})_{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}), (-1)^{|\eta|+1} \mathfrak{i}((p_{X})_{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta})) \right) \\ &+ \left( (-1)^{|\eta|} (p_{X})_{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(d\tilde{\eta}), (-1)^{|\eta|} \operatorname{pt}_{*} (\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,1}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}}(d\tilde{\eta})) \right) \\ &= \left( (-1)^{|\eta|+1} (d(p_{X})_{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}) - (p_{X})_{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(d\tilde{\eta})), \\ &\qquad (-1)^{|\eta|+1} \mathfrak{i}((p_{X})_{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta})) + (-1)^{|\eta|} \operatorname{pt}_{*} (\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,1}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}}(d\tilde{\eta})) \right). \end{split}$$

On the other hand,

$$(\mathfrak{z}^{\gamma',b'} - \mathfrak{z}^{\gamma,b})(\eta,\xi) = (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma'}(\eta), (-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma',b'}(\eta) - c \cdot \xi) - (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta), (-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta) - c \cdot \xi) = \left(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma'}(\eta) - \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta), (-1)^{n+1}(\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma',b'}(\eta) - \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta))\right).$$
(27)

By Lemma 2.22 and Stokes' theorem (Proposition 2.2), applied to  $p_X$ , we have

$$(-1)^{|\eta|+1} \left( d(p_X)_* \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}) - (p_X)_* \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(d\tilde{\eta}) \right) = (j_1^* - j_0^*) (\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta})) = \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma'}(\eta) - \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\eta),$$

which proves the first component of (26).

To prove the second component, we proceed as follows. By Stokes' theorem and Proposition 2.20,

$$(-1)^{n+1} (\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma',b'}(\eta) - \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta)) = (-1)^{|\tilde{\eta}|} \operatorname{pt}_{*} (d\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta})) = (-1)^{|\tilde{\eta}|} \operatorname{pt}_{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(d\tilde{\eta}) + \operatorname{pt}_{*}(p_{I})_{*} i^{*} \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}(\tilde{\eta}) + \frac{(-1)^{|\tilde{\eta}|+1}}{2} \operatorname{pt}_{*} ((-1)^{|\eta|} \langle\!\langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}), \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}} \rangle\!\rangle + \langle\!\langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}) \rangle\!\rangle ).$$
(28)

By the symmetry of the cyclic structure,

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2} \cdot \left( (-1)^{|\eta|} \langle\!\langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}), \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}} \rangle\!\rangle + \langle\!\langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}) \rangle\!\rangle \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \cdot \left( (-1)^{|\eta|} \langle\!\langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}), \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}} \rangle\!\rangle + (-1)^{|\eta|} \langle\!\langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}), \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}} \rangle\!\rangle \right) \\ &= (-1)^{|\eta|} \langle\!\langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}), c \cdot 1 \rangle\!\rangle = (-1)^{|\eta|} c \cdot \langle\!\langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(\tilde{\eta}), 1 \rangle\!\rangle \\ &= (-1)^{|\eta|+1} c \cdot (p_I)_* i^* \tilde{\eta}, \end{split}$$

where the last equality is by Lemma 2.21. Furthermore, by Proposition 2.1 (c),

$$pt_{*}(p_{I})_{*}i^{*}\tilde{\eta} = pt_{*}(p_{I})_{*}i^{*}(p_{X})^{*}\eta = pt_{*}(p_{L})^{*}i^{*}\eta = pt_{*}(p_{L})_{*}((p_{L})^{*}i^{*}\eta \wedge 1)$$
  
=  $pt_{*}(i^{*}\eta \wedge (p_{L})_{*}1) = 0.$ 

By Lemma 4.6,

$$pt_*i^*\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}(\tilde{\eta}) = pt_*(p_L)_*i^*\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}(\tilde{\eta}) = (-1)^n pt_*i^*(p_X)_*(\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}(\tilde{\eta}))$$
$$= (-1)^{|\eta|+1}\mathfrak{i}((p_X)_*(\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}(\tilde{\eta}))).$$

Plugging the preceding calculations into (28) above, we get

$$(-1)^{n+1}(\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma',b'}(\eta) - \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta)) = (-1)^{|\tilde{\eta}|} \operatorname{pt}_* \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,1}^{\tilde{\gamma}}(d\,\tilde{\eta}) + (-1)^{|\eta|+1} \mathfrak{i}((p_X)_*(\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,1}(\tilde{\eta}))),$$

which gives the second component of (26).

*Proof of Theorem* 4. The first part is given by Lemma 4.4, and the second by Lemma 4.7.

#### 4.2. Flatness relation

The objective of this section is to prove Theorem 5. We begin by explaining the notation in greater detail.

Let *W* and *S* be graded real vector spaces. In this section, it will be useful to note that elements of *W* and *S* define derivations on  $C(i) = A^*(X; Q_W) \oplus R_W[-n-1]$ , as follows. For  $u \in W$ , the derivation  $\partial_u : \mathbb{R}[[W]] \to \mathbb{R}[[W]]$  induces a derivation on  $Q_W = \Lambda_c \otimes \mathbb{R}[[W]]$ , which in turn induces a derivation on  $A^*(X; Q_W) = A^*(X; \mathbb{R}) \otimes Q_W$ . In addition, the derivation on  $Q_W$  extends trivially to  $R_W$ . In total, we get

$$\partial_u : C(\mathfrak{i}) \to C(\mathfrak{i}).$$

For  $s \in S$ , the derivation  $\partial_s$  extends trivially from  $\mathbb{R}[[S]]$  to  $R_W$ , and acts trivially on  $A^*(X; Q_W)$ . This defines

$$\partial_s : C(\mathbf{i}) \to C(\mathbf{i}).$$

It is immediate from the definition that  $\partial_u$ ,  $\partial_s$  are chain maps, and so descend to cohomology. Furthermore, for  $u \in Q_W \otimes W$  of the form  $u = r \otimes w$ , we define  $\partial_u = r \cdot \partial_w$ , and similarly for  $u \in Q_W \otimes S$ . Moreover, since  $\partial_s$  for  $s \in S$  acts as zero on the first

component of C(i), we can in fact define  $\partial_u$  for  $u \in R_W \otimes S$ , and it is a chain map. In other words, there are chain map derivations

$$\partial_u : C(\mathbf{i}) \to C(\mathbf{i}), \quad \forall u \in (Q_W \otimes W) \oplus (R_W \otimes S).$$

Finally, for a chain map  $\Theta: C(i) \to C(i)$ , the derivative operator  $\partial_u \Theta$  is defined by

$$(\partial_u \Theta)(\eta) = \partial_u(\Theta(\eta)) - \Theta(\partial_u(\eta)).$$

*Proof of Theorem* 5. Let  $u, v \in (Q_W \otimes W) \oplus (R_W \otimes S)$ . Define  $H_{uv} : C(i) \to C(i)$  by

$$\begin{aligned} H_{uv}(\eta,\xi) &= \left( (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|\eta||v|} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,3;\chi_0}^{\gamma}(\partial_u \gamma, \eta, \partial_v \gamma), \\ &(-1)^{|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|\eta||v|} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,3;0,3}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_u \gamma, \eta, \partial_v \gamma) \\ &+ (-1)^{(|\eta|+1)(|u|+|v|+1)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_0,2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta, \partial_u \gamma), \partial_v b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|+(|\eta|+1)(|u|+|v|)+|u||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_0,2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta, \partial_v \gamma), \partial_u b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|+(|\eta|+1)(|u|+|v|)+|u||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_0,1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_v b; \eta), \partial_u b \rangle \right). \end{aligned}$$

The four summands of the second component of  $H_{uv}$  correspond to the four pictures in Figure 7. We show that

$$\partial_{u} \mathfrak{l} \circ \partial_{v} \mathfrak{l} - (-1)^{|u| |v|} \partial_{v} \mathfrak{l} \circ \partial_{u} \mathfrak{l} = d_{C} \circ H_{uv} + (-1)^{|u| + |v|} H_{uv} \circ d_{C}.$$
(29)

The heart of the proof is based on an analysis of the boundaries of the moduli spaces of stable disks with geodesic constraints shown in Figure 7 using the geodesic structure equations. In preparation for this analysis, we expand both sides of (29) into their constituent parts.



Fig. 7. The four summands in the second component of  $H_{uv}$ .

Let  $(\eta, \xi) \in C(i)$ . By Lemma 2.16 the derivative  $\exists$  operator is given by

$$\partial_{v}\mathfrak{I}(\eta,\xi) = \left(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma}(\partial_{v}\gamma,\eta), (-1)^{n+1}\partial_{v}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta) - \partial_{v}c\cdot\xi\right). \tag{30}$$

To compute the left-hand side of (29), first calculate

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{u} \mathbf{i} \circ \partial_{v} \mathbf{i}(\eta, \xi) \\ &= \partial_{u} \mathbf{i} \big( (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{v} \gamma, \eta), (-1)^{n+1} \partial_{v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta) - \partial_{v} c \cdot \xi) \big) \\ &= \big( \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{u} \gamma, \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{v} \gamma, \eta)), \\ &\qquad (-1)^{n+1} \partial_{u} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{v} \gamma, \eta)) - \partial_{u} c \cdot ((-1)^{n+1} \partial_{v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta) - \partial_{v} c \cdot \xi) \big) \\ &= \big( \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{u} \gamma, \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{v} \gamma, \eta)), \\ &\qquad (-1)^{n+1} (\partial_{u} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{v} \gamma, \eta)) - \partial_{u} c \cdot \partial_{v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta)) + \partial_{u} c \cdot \partial_{v} c \cdot \xi \big). \end{aligned}$$

Symmetrizing, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{u} \mathfrak{l} \circ \partial_{v} \mathfrak{l}(\eta, \xi) &- (-1)^{|u| |v|} \partial_{v} \mathfrak{l} \circ \partial_{u} \mathfrak{l}(\eta, \xi) \\ &= \left( \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{u} \gamma, \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{v} \gamma, \eta)) - (-1)^{|u| |v|} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{v} \gamma, \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{u} \gamma, \eta)), \\ &\qquad (-1)^{n+1} (\partial_{u} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{v} \gamma, \eta)) - \partial_{u} c \cdot \partial_{v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\eta) \\ &\qquad - (-1)^{|v| |u|} \partial_{v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{u} \gamma, \eta)) + (-1)^{|v| |u|} \partial_{v} c \cdot \partial_{u} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\eta) ) . \end{aligned}$$

Compute the right-hand side of (29):

 $d_{C}(H_{uv}(\eta,\xi)) = (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|\eta||v|} (d\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,3;\chi_{0}}^{\gamma}(\partial_{u}\gamma,\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma),\mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,3;\chi_{0}}^{\gamma}(\partial_{u}\gamma,\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma))),$ and

$$\begin{aligned} (-1)^{|u|+|v|} H_{uv}(d_C(\eta,\xi)) &= (-1)^{|u|+|v|} H_{uv}(d\eta,i(\eta)) \\ &= ((-1)^{|v|+|\eta|+|\eta||v|} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,3;\chi_0}^{\gamma}(\partial_u \gamma, d\eta, \partial_v \gamma), \\ &+ (-1)^{1+|v|+|\eta|+|\eta||v|} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,3;0,3}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_u \gamma, d\eta, \partial_v \gamma) \\ &+ (-1)^{|u|+|v|+|\eta|+|\eta|(|u|+|v|)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_0,2}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta, \partial_u \gamma), \partial_v b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|\eta|(|u|+|v|)+|u||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_0,2}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta, \partial_v \gamma), \partial_u b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|\eta|(|u|+|v|)+|u||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_0,1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_v b; d\eta), \partial_u b \rangle ). \end{aligned}$$

Equality in the first component of (29) follows from Proposition 3.5. Equality in the second component reads

$$(-1)^{n+1} \left( \partial_{u} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma}(\partial_{v}\gamma,\eta)) - \partial_{u}c \cdot \partial_{v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta) - (-1)^{|v||u|} \partial_{v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma}(\partial_{u}\gamma,\eta)) + (-1)^{|v||u|} \partial_{v}c \cdot \partial_{u} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta) \right) \\ = (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|\eta||v|} \mathfrak{i} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,3;\chi_{0}}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{u}\gamma,\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)) + (-1)^{1+|v|+|\eta|+|\eta||v|} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,3;0,3}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{u}\gamma,\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma) + (-1)^{1+|v|+|\eta|+|\eta|+|\eta|+|v|+|\eta|} (\mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0,2}}^{\gamma,b} (d\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma),\partial_{v}b) + (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|\eta|(|u|+|v|)+|u||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0,2}}^{\gamma,b} (d\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma),\partial_{u}b \rangle + (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|\eta|(|u|+|v|)+|u||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{v}b;d\eta),\partial_{u}b \rangle.$$
(31)

To show this, we use the deformed versions of the geodesic structure equations. Figure 8 depicts the boundary components of the moduli spaces A, B, C, D in Figure 7 that contribute to our calculation.

First, keeping in mind line D of Figure 8, consider the contribution from Proposition 3.4:

$$\begin{split} 0 &= (-1)^{|u|} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,3;0,3}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{u}\gamma, d\eta, \partial_{v}\gamma) + (-1)^{|\eta|+|u|+|v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,3;0,3}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{u}\gamma, \eta, \partial_{v}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma,b} \rangle \\ &- (-1)^{|u|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;10,2}^{\gamma,b} (\eta, \partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle \\ &- (-1)^{|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|u||\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;10,2}^{\gamma,b} (\eta, \partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle \\ &- (-1)^{|u|+|v|+|\eta|+n+1} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,2}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\theta,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_{u}\gamma, \eta), \partial_{v}\gamma) \\ &+ (-1)^{|u|(|\eta|+|v|)+|u|+|v|+|\eta|+n+1} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,2}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\theta,2}^{\gamma} (\eta, \partial_{v}\gamma), \partial_{u}\gamma) \\ &+ (-1)^{n+|u|+|\eta|+|v|+1} \int_{L} \mathfrak{q}_{\theta,3;(0,1,2,3)\in(1,\infty)}^{\gamma} (\partial_{u}\gamma, \eta, \partial_{v}\gamma). \end{split}$$

Lemma 3.7 gives  $|\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,3;(0,1,2,3)\in(1,\infty)}^{\gamma}(\partial_u\gamma,\eta,\partial_v\gamma)| \equiv |u|+|\eta|+|v|+1 \pmod{2}$ , so

$$(-1)^{n+|u|+|\eta|+|v|+1} \int_{L} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,3;(0,1,2,3)\in(1,\infty)}^{\gamma} (\partial_{u}\gamma,\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma) = \mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,3;(0,1,2,3)\in(1,\infty)}^{\gamma} (\partial_{u}\gamma,\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)).$$

Using the Maurer–Cartan equation,  $q_{0,0}^{\gamma,b} = c \cdot 1$ , we can apply the unit property, Lemma 3.13, to get

$$0 = (-1)^{|u|} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,3;0,3}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}\gamma, d\eta, \partial_{v}\gamma) - (-1)^{|u|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta, \partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle - (-1)^{|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|u|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta, \partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle + (-1)^{|u||\eta|+|u|+|v|+|\eta|+n+1} (-\mathfrak{q}_{-1,2}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{\theta,2}^{\gamma}(\eta, \partial_{u}\gamma), \partial_{v}\gamma) + (-1)^{|u||v|} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,2}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{\theta,2}^{\gamma}(\eta, \partial_{v}\gamma), \partial_{u}\gamma))$$

+  $\mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,3;(0,1,2,3)\in(1,\infty)}^{\gamma}(\partial_u\gamma,\eta,\partial_v\gamma)).$ 

Multiply the equation by  $(-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|v||\eta|}$  to get

$$0 = (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\nu|} |\eta| \mathfrak{q}_{-1,3;0,3}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{u}\gamma, d\eta, \partial_{\nu}\gamma) + (-1)^{|\eta|+|\nu|+|\nu|} |\eta| \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b} (\eta, \partial_{\nu}\gamma) \rangle + (-1)^{|u|} |\eta|+|\nu||\eta| \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b} (\eta, \partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{\nu}\gamma) \rangle + (-1)^{|u|} |\eta|+|\nu||\eta|+n} (-\mathfrak{q}_{-1,2}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\eta, \partial_{u}\gamma), \partial_{\nu}\gamma) + (-1)^{|u||\nu|} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,2}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma} (\eta, \partial_{u}\gamma), \partial_{\nu}\gamma) + (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|\nu|+|\nu|} \mathfrak{i} (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,3;(0,1,2,3)\in(1,\infty)}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_{u}\gamma, \eta, \partial_{\nu}\gamma)).$$
(32)

The summands of (32) correspond to the pictures in line D of Figure 8.

Ð	C	Φ	A	
$\left( \begin{array}{c} d\eta \\ \partial_{uY} & \partial_{vY} \end{array} \right)$	$\partial_{uY} d\eta \partial_{v}b$	$\partial_u b$	$\partial_u b $	1
$\partial_{uY}$ $\eta$ $\eta$	$\partial_{uY}$ $\eta$ $\partial_{vb}$	$\partial_u b \left( \begin{array}{c} & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & $	$\left( \begin{array}{c} & & \\ & $	2
$\left( \begin{array}{c} \partial_{uY} & \eta \\ \partial_{vY} \end{array} \right) $	$\left( \begin{array}{c} & & \\ & $	$a_u b $ $a_v \gamma$	$\partial_u b \underbrace{\stackrel{\dagger}{\overbrace{\eta}}}_{\eta} \partial_v b$	3
	$\partial_{v^b}$			4
				5
a by n Paux				6

Fig. 8. Boundary components of the moduli spaces from Figure 7.

Next, keeping in mind line B of Figure 8, we compute the contribution of Proposition 3.2, using again the Maurer–Cartan equation,  $q_{0,0}^{\gamma,b} = c \cdot 1$ , and the unit property, Lemma 3.13:

$$0 = \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma) + (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|}\mathfrak{q}_{1,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma,b};\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma) - \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)) + (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|}\mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}\gamma);\eta) + (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|+n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)) = \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma) - \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)) + (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|}\mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}\gamma);\eta) + (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|+n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)).$$

Pairing with  $\partial_u b$  and using the cyclic properties of Lemmas 2.8 and 3.15 together with the degree properties of Lemmas 2.9 and 3.7,

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma),\partial_{u}b \rangle - \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)),\partial_{u}b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0},1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}\gamma);\eta),\partial_{u}b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|+n+1} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)),\partial_{u}b \rangle \\ &= \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma),\partial_{u}b \rangle - (-1)^{|u|(|\eta|+|v|)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b),\mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|+|u|(|v|+1)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{1},0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b;\eta),\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|+n+1} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)),\partial_{u}b \rangle, \end{split}$$

and applying Lemma 3.12 to the third summand,

$$= \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta,\partial_{\nu}\gamma),\partial_{u}b \rangle - (-1)^{|u|(|\eta|+|\nu|)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b),\mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{\nu}\gamma) \rangle \\ + (-1)^{|\eta|+|\nu|+|u|(|\nu|+1)+1} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b;\eta),\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{\nu}\gamma) \rangle \\ + (-1)^{|\eta|+|\nu|+n+1} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma}(\eta,\partial_{\nu}\gamma)),\partial_{u}b \rangle.$$

To this equation with sign  $(-1)^{(|\eta|+1)(|u|+|v|+1)+|u||v|}$ , add the corresponding equation with u, v, switched and sign  $(-1)^{1+(|\eta|+1)(|u|+|v|+1)}$  to get

$$0 = (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|\eta|+|u|+|\eta|+|u|+|u|+|u|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma),\partial_{u}b \rangle + (-1)^{|\eta|+|u|+|\eta|+|\eta|+|\eta|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(d\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma),\partial_{v}b \rangle + (-1)^{|\eta|+|u|+|\eta|+|\eta|+|\eta|+|\eta|+|u|+|\eta|+|u|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b),\mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle + (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|u|+|\eta|+|u|+|u|+|u|+|u|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b),\mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma) \rangle + (-1)^{|\eta|+|u|+|\eta|+|u|+|u|+|u|+|u|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b),\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle + (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|\eta|+|\eta|+|u|+|u|+|u|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,2}^{\gamma}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma)),\mathfrak{q}_{u}b \rangle + (-1)^{|u|+|\eta|+|\eta|+|u|+|\eta|+|u|+|u|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,2}^{\gamma}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma)),\mathfrak{d}_{v}b \rangle.$$
(33)

The summands of (33) correspond to the pictures in lines B and C of Figure 8.

Lastly, keeping in mind line A of Figure 8, compute the contribution of Proposition 3.1, again using  $q_{0,0}^{\gamma,b} = c \cdot 1$  and Lemma 3.13:

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;d\eta) + (-1)^{|\eta|+|v|} \mathfrak{q}_{2,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b,\mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma,b};\eta) \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|} \mathfrak{q}_{2,1;2_{0,2},1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma,b},\partial_{v}b;\eta) \\ &- \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;\eta)) + (-1)^{|\eta|} \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b);\eta) \\ &= \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;d\eta) - \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;\eta)) + (-1)^{|\eta|} \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b);\eta). \end{split}$$

Pairing with  $\partial_u b$  and using the cyclic properties of Lemmas 2.8 and 3.15 together with the degree properties of Lemmas 2.9 and 3.7, we get

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;d\eta), \partial_{u}b \rangle - \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;\eta)), \partial_{u}b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b);\eta), \partial_{u}b \rangle \\ &= \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;d\eta), \partial_{u}b \rangle - (-1)^{|u|(|v|+|\eta|)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b), \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;\eta) \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|+|u|(|v|+1)} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{1,0},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b;\eta), \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b) \rangle. \end{split}$$

Apply Lemma 3.12 to the last summand of the right hand side of the preceding equation and multiply the entire equation by  $(-1)^{(|\eta|+1)(|u|+|v|+1)+|u||v|}$  to get

$$0 = (-1)^{(|\eta|+1)(|u|+|v|+1)+|u||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;d\eta), \partial_{u}b \rangle + (-1)^{|\eta|+|u|+|v|+|v||\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b), \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;\eta) \rangle + (-1)^{|v|+|\eta||u|+|\eta||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b;\eta), \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b) \rangle.$$
(34)

The summands of (34) correspond to the pictures in line A of Figure 8.

In the following, we add up (32)–(34) in stages. First, consider all the summands that involve  $q_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma}$  as an interior input. By Lemmas 2.7, 2.8, and 2.10, we have

$$\partial_{u}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\xi) = (-1)^{|\xi|\,|u|}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,2}^{\gamma,b}(\xi,\partial_{u}\gamma) + (-1)^{|\xi|\,|u|+|u|}\langle\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\xi),\partial_{u}b\rangle, \tag{35}$$

and thus

Second, consider the summands of (32)–(34) that are products of  $\mathfrak{q}_{k,l}^{\gamma,b}$  and  $\mathfrak{q}_{k,l;\chi}^{\gamma,b}$ :

$$(-1)^{|\eta|+|\nu|+|\nu|+|\nu|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{\nu}\gamma) \rangle \\ + (-1)^{|\eta|+|\nu|+|\nu|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b), \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{\nu}\gamma) \rangle \\ + (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{\nu}b;\eta), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}\gamma) \rangle \\ + (-1)^{|\eta|+|\nu|+|\nu|+|\nu|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b), \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{\nu}b;\eta) \rangle \\ + (-1)^{|\nu|+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{\nu}\gamma) \rangle \\ + (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{\nu}b), \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma) \rangle \\ + (-1)^{|\nu|+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\eta|+|\nu|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{\nu}b), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{\nu}\gamma) \rangle \\ + (-1)^{|\nu|+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\eta|+|\nu|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{\mu}b;\eta), \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{\nu}b) \rangle$$

which, by the symmetry property of the inner product, equation (21), is

$$\begin{split} &= (-1)^{1+|\eta||u|+|\eta||v|+|u||v|} \big( \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}\gamma) \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|u|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b) \rangle \big) \\ &+ (-1)^{1+|\eta||u|+|\eta||v|+|u||v|} \big( \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;\eta), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}\gamma) \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|u|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;\eta), \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b) \rangle \big) \\ &+ (-1)^{|u||\eta|+|v||\eta|} \big( \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma), \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b) \rangle \big) \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta||u|+|\eta||v|} \big( \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b;\eta), \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}\gamma) \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b;\eta), \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b) \rangle \big). \end{split}$$

We proceed with an algebraic manipulation represented graphically in Figure 9. By Lemmas 2.7, 2.8, and 2.10, taking the derivative of the Maurer–Cartan equation, we obtain  $\mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_u \gamma) + (-1)^{|u|}\mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_u b) = \partial_u \mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma,b} = \partial_u c \cdot 1$ , and thus the above is

$$= (-1)^{1+|\eta||u|+|\eta||v|+|u||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma),\partial_{u}c\cdot 1 \rangle \\ + (-1)^{1+|\eta||u|+|\eta||v|+|u||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;\eta),\partial_{u}c\cdot 1 \rangle \\ + (-1)^{|\eta||u|+|\eta||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_{0},2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma),\partial_{v}c\cdot 1 \rangle \\ + (-1)^{|\eta||u|+|\eta||v|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b;\eta),\partial_{v}c\cdot 1 \rangle$$

(using the bilinearity of the pairing, Lemma 2.7)

$$= (-1)^{1+|v||\eta|} \partial_{u} c \cdot \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;10,2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{v}\gamma), 1 \rangle + (-1)^{1+|v||\eta|} \partial_{u} c \cdot \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{v}b;\eta), 1 \rangle + (-1)^{|u||\eta|+|u||v|} \partial_{v} c \cdot \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;10,2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma), 1 \rangle + (-1)^{|\eta||u|+|u||v|} \partial_{v} c \cdot \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,1;2_{0,1},1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}b;\eta), 1 \rangle,$$

(by the geodesic unit properties, Lemma 3.9 and Corollary 3.16)

$$= (-1)^{1+|\eta||\nu|+n} \partial_{u} c \cdot \mathfrak{q}_{-1,2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta, \partial_{\nu}\gamma) + (-1)^{1+|\nu|+|\eta||\nu|+n} \partial_{u} c \cdot \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta), \partial_{\nu}b \rangle + (-1)^{|u||\eta|+|u||\nu|+n} \partial_{\nu} c \cdot \mathfrak{q}_{-1,2}^{\gamma,b}(\eta, \partial_{u}\gamma) + (-1)^{|u|+|\eta||u|+|u||\nu|+n} \partial_{\nu} c \cdot \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta), \partial_{u}b \rangle, (by (35)) = (-1)^{n} (-\partial_{u} c \cdot \partial_{\nu} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta) + (-1)^{|u||\nu|} \partial_{\nu} c \cdot \partial_{u} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\eta)).$$



Fig. 9. Combining contributions from two boundary strata to form a product of derivatives.

In total, (32)–(34) add up to

$$\begin{split} 0 &= (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\eta|} |\nu| \mathfrak{q}_{-1,3;0,3}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_u \gamma, d\eta, \partial_\nu \gamma) \\ &+ (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\eta|} |\nu|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_0,2}^{\gamma,b} (d\eta, \partial_\nu \gamma), \partial_u b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{|\eta|+|\nu|+|\nu|+|\eta|} |\nu|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_0,2}^{\gamma,b} (d\eta, \partial_u \gamma), \partial_\nu b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\nu|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2;1_0,2}^{\gamma,b} (d\eta, \partial_u \gamma), \partial_\nu b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\nu|+|\eta|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,3;(0,1,2,3)\in(1,\infty)}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_\nu b; d\eta), \partial_u b \rangle \\ &+ (-1)^{1+|\eta|+|\nu|+|\nu|+|\nu|} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,2}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{0,3;(0,1,2,3)\in(1,\infty)} (\partial_u \gamma, \eta, \partial_\nu \gamma)) \\ &+ (-1)^n (\partial_u \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{0,2}^{\gamma} (\partial_\nu \gamma, \eta)) - (-1)^{|u|} |\nu| \partial_\nu \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\mathfrak{q}_{0,2}^{\gamma,b} (\partial_u \gamma, \eta)) ) \\ &+ (-1)^n (-\partial_u c \cdot \partial_\nu \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\eta) + (-1)^{|u|} |\nu| \partial_\nu c \cdot \partial_u \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b} (\eta) ), \end{split}$$

which is equivalent to (31), as required.

# 4.3. Relative potential

In (6), we defined

$$\psi(\gamma, b) := (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset, 0}^{\gamma}, (-1)^{n+1} \mathfrak{q}_{-1, 0}^{\gamma, b}) \in C(\mathfrak{i}).$$

**Lemma 4.8.**  $d_C \psi(\gamma, b) = 0.$ 

Proof. By definition,

$$d_C\psi(\gamma,b) = (d\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma},\mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma})) = (0,\mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma})).$$

We claim that  $i(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma}) = 0$ . To see this, apply the deformed version of Proposition 2.6 to the case l = 0:

$$0 = \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma,b}, \mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma,b} \rangle + (-1)^{n+1} \mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma}) = \frac{1}{2} c^2 \langle 1, 1 \rangle + (-1)^{n+1} \mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma})$$
  
=  $(-1)^{n+1} \mathfrak{i}(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma}).$ 

As in Section 1.3.1, define the relative potential to be the cohomology class

$$\Psi(\gamma, b) = [\psi(\gamma, b)] \in H^*(C(\mathfrak{i})).$$

*Proof of Theorem* 1. Let  $(\tilde{\gamma}, \tilde{b})$  be a pseudoisotopy from  $(\gamma, b)$  to  $(\gamma', b')$ . We show that  $(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma'}, (-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma',b'})$  is cohomologous to  $(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma}, (-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma,b})$ , by considering their difference.

To compute the first component, apply Stokes' theorem (Proposition 2.2) to  $f = p_X \circ \widetilde{ev}_0$ . This gives

$$\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,\mathbf{0}}^{\gamma'}-\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,\mathbf{0}}^{\gamma}=-d((p_X)_*\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,\mathbf{0}}^{\tilde{\gamma}}).$$

We now compare the difference in the second component. Use the analog of Proposition 2.20 for the deformed  $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,0}$  operator:

$$0 = d\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,0}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}} + \frac{1}{2} \langle \langle \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,0}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{0,0}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}} \rangle \rangle - (p_I)_* i^* \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}}$$
  
=  $d\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,0}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}} + \frac{1}{2} \langle \langle \tilde{c} \cdot 1, \tilde{c} \cdot 1 \rangle \rangle - (p_I)_* i^* \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}} = d\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,0}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}} - (p_I)_* i^* \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}}$ 

Pushing the expression along pt :  $I \rightarrow$  pt and using Lemma 4.6, we have

$$\int_{I} d\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{-1,0}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}} = \mathrm{pt}_{*}(p_{I})_{*}i^{*}\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}} = \mathrm{pt}_{*}(p_{L})_{*}i^{*}\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}} = (-1)^{n} \mathrm{pt}_{*}i^{*}(p_{X})_{*}\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}}$$
$$= -\mathrm{i}((p_{X})_{*}\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}}).$$

On the other hand, by Stokes' theorem, we have

$$\int_{I} d\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}}_{-1,0} = (-1)^{|\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}^{\tilde{\gamma},\tilde{b}}_{-1,0}|} (\mathfrak{q}^{\gamma',b'}_{-1,0} - \mathfrak{q}^{\gamma,b}_{-1,0}) = (-1)^{n+1} (\mathfrak{q}^{\gamma',b'}_{-1,0} - \mathfrak{q}^{\gamma,b}_{-1,0}).$$

So,

$$(-1)^{n+1}(\mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma',b'}-\mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma,b})=-\mathfrak{i}((p_X)_*\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}}).$$

In total, we have

$$\Psi(\gamma',b') - \Psi(\gamma,b) = \left[-d_C\left((p_X)_*\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\emptyset,0}^{\tilde{\gamma}},0\right)\right] = 0.$$

**Lemma 4.9.** Assume b is separated and write  $\int_L b = f$ . Then the relative potential is related to  $rac{1}$  via

$$u\psi = \mathbf{J}(\partial_u\gamma, 0), \qquad \forall u \in W,$$
  
$$\partial_s\psi = \partial_s f \cdot \mathbf{J}(0, 1), \quad \forall s \in S.$$

Consequently,

$$\partial_u \Psi = \mathfrak{I}([(\partial_u \gamma, 0)]) \quad and \quad \partial_s \Psi = \partial_s f \cdot \mathfrak{I}([(0, 1)]).$$

*Proof.* To prove the first identity, note that the separatedness assumption implies that  $\partial_u \int_L b = 0$ . Therefore, by Lemmas 2.16 and 2.8 and the Maurer–Cartan equation,

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{u}\psi(\gamma,b) &= (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\partial_{u}\gamma),(-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}\gamma)) + (0,(-1)^{n+1}\langle\mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma,b},\partial_{u}b\rangle) \\ &= (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\partial_{u}\gamma),(-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}\gamma)) + (0,(-1)^{n+1}c \cdot \langle 1,\partial_{u}b\rangle) \\ &= (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma}(\partial_{u}\gamma),(-1)^{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma,b}(\partial_{u}\gamma)) \\ &= \mathfrak{z}(\partial_{u}\gamma,0). \end{aligned}$$

To prove the second identity, compute

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_s \psi(\gamma, b) &= (0, (-1)^{n+1} \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma, b}, \partial_s b \rangle) = (-1)^{n+1} (0, c \cdot \langle 1, \partial_s b \rangle) \\ &= (-1)^{n+1} \bigg( 0, c \cdot (-1)^n \partial_s \int_L b \bigg) \\ &= \partial_s f \cdot (0, -c) = \partial_s f \cdot \mathfrak{l}(0, 1). \end{aligned}$$

# 4.4. Enhanced superpotential

We begin by giving a full account of the conditions imposed on the map *P* discussed in Section 1.3.3. There is a natural map of complexes  $\hat{A}(X, L) \to C(i)$  given by  $\eta \mapsto (\eta, 0)$ . Denote by  $a : \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R}) \to H^*(C(i))$  the induced map on cohomology. Consider the commutative diagram of long exact sequences,



where *a* is injective by the five lemma. Observe that for this diagram to commute, we need the map *x* to be given at the chain level by  $r \mapsto (0, -r)$ . There is a canonical chain map  $C(i) \rightarrow R_W/Q_W$  given by  $(\eta, \xi) \mapsto [-\xi]$ . Let

$$P: H^*(C(\mathfrak{i})) \to R_W/Q_W$$

denote the induced map on cohomology. Let  $q : R_W \to R_W/Q_W$  denote the quotient map, and let  $\bar{q} : \text{Coker i} \to R_W/Q_W$  be the induced map. We obtain the following diagram with

exact rows and columns:

We choose

$$P: H^*(C(i)) \to \operatorname{Coker} i$$

a left inverse to the map  $\bar{x}$  the diagram (37) satisfying two conditions. The first condition is

$$\bar{q} \circ P = \bar{P}. \tag{38}$$

Note that if  $[L] \neq 0$ , then  $\bar{q}$  is an isomorphism, so this determines *P* completely. Condition (38) and the exactness of diagram (37) imply that there exists a unique  $P_Q$ :  $\hat{H}^*(X, L; Q_W) \rightarrow \text{Coker } i_Q$  such that the following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Coker} i & \stackrel{P}{\longleftarrow} & H^{*}(C(\mathfrak{i})) \\ & \widehat{a} & \uparrow & \uparrow a \\ \operatorname{Coker} i_{Q} & \stackrel{P_{Q}}{\longleftarrow} & \widehat{H}^{*}(X, L; Q_{W}) \end{array}$$
(39)

The second condition is that there exists  $P_{\mathbb{R}} : \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R}) \to \text{Coker } i_{\mathbb{R}}$  such that

$$P_Q = P_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_Q. \tag{40}$$

Recall the exact sequence (10). Denote by  $\bar{y}$ : Coker  $i_{\mathbb{R}} \to \hat{H}^*(X,L;\mathbb{R})$  the induced map.

**Lemma 4.10.**  $P_Q \circ \bar{y}_Q = \text{Id } and P_{\mathbb{R}} \circ \bar{y} = \text{Id.}$ 

*Proof.* By the exactness of diagram (37), the map  $\bar{a}$  is injective. So, to prove  $P_Q \circ \bar{y}_Q =$  Id, it suffices to prove that  $\bar{a} \circ P_Q \circ \bar{y}_Q = \bar{a}$ . By commutativity of diagrams (39) and (37), we obtain

$$\bar{a} \circ P_O \circ \bar{y}_O = P \circ a \circ \bar{y}_O = P \circ \bar{x} \circ \bar{a} = \bar{a}.$$

To see  $P_{\mathbb{R}} \circ \bar{y} = \text{Id}$ , observe that  $\bar{y}_Q = \bar{y} \otimes \text{Id}_Q$ .

**Lemma 4.11.** Let  $l : \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R}) \to \text{Coker } i_{\mathbb{R}}$  satisfy  $l \circ \bar{y} = \text{Id.}$  There exists a unique choice of  $P : H^*(C(i)) \to \text{Coker } i$  satisfying conditions (38) and (40) such that  $l = P_{\mathbb{R}}$ . Moreover, Ker  $P = a(\text{Ker } P_Q)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $l_Q = l \otimes Id_Q$ . Then  $l_Q \circ \bar{y}_Q = Id$ , so the splitting lemma implies that

$$\hat{H}^*(X,L;Q_W) \simeq \operatorname{Im} \bar{y}_Q \oplus \operatorname{Ker} l_Q, \quad \rho_Q|_{\operatorname{Ker} l_Q} : \operatorname{Ker} l_Q \xrightarrow{\sim} H^*(X;Q).$$

Diagram (37) gives  $\pi \circ a = \rho_Q$ , so it follows that  $\pi \circ a|_{\operatorname{Ker} l_Q} : \operatorname{Ker} l_Q \xrightarrow{\sim} H^*(X; Q)$ . Thus,

$$\pi|_{a(\operatorname{Ker} l_Q)} : a(\operatorname{Ker} l_Q) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^*(X; Q)$$

and the splitting lemma implies that

$$H^*(C(\mathbf{i})) \simeq \operatorname{Im} \bar{x} \oplus a(\operatorname{Ker} l_Q).$$

Take *P* to be the unique left inverse of  $\bar{x}$  such that Ker  $P = a(\text{Ker } l_Q)$ . Diagram (37) and the above splittings imply condition (38) and  $l_Q = P_Q$ . Condition (40) follows.

**Remark 4.12.** As mentioned, if  $[L] \neq 0$  then P is uniquely determined. If [L] = 0, Lemma 4.11 shows that P is uniquely determined by  $P_{\mathbb{R}} : \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}[-n-1]$ . Geometrically, we can interpret  $P_{\mathbb{R}}$  as integration over a homology class  $V \in H_{n+1}(X, L; \mathbb{R})$ . Considering the boundary map  $\partial : H_{n+1}(X, L; \mathbb{R}) \to H_n(L; \mathbb{R})$ , the condition  $P_{\mathbb{R}} \circ \bar{y} = \text{Id corresponds to } \partial V = [L]$ .

In Section 1.3.3, we defined the enhanced superpotential by  $\overline{\Omega} := P \Psi$  and we defined the superpotential  $\Omega$  by

$$q(\Omega) = \bar{q}(\bar{\Omega}), \quad D(\Omega) = 0.$$
(41)

**Lemma 4.13.** The enhanced superpotential  $\overline{\Omega}$  satisfies  $\overline{q}(\overline{\Omega}) = \overline{P}(\Psi)$ . In particular,  $\Omega$  is independent of the choice of P.

*Proof.* By (38) we have  $\bar{q}(\bar{\Omega}) = \bar{q} \circ P(\Psi) = \bar{P}(\Psi)$ . Since the map  $\bar{P}$  is canonical, the conditions (41) are independent of the choice of P.

Following [32], we write

$$\hat{\Omega} = (-1)^n \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma,b}.$$
(42)

**Lemma 4.14.** We have  $\Omega = \hat{\Omega} - D\hat{\Omega}$ .

*Proof.* We verify the two conditions defining  $\Omega$ . First, Lemma 4.13 gives

$$\bar{q}(\bar{\Omega}) = \bar{P}(\Psi) = q(\hat{\Omega} - D\hat{\Omega}).$$

Second,

$$D(\hat{\Omega} - D(\hat{\Omega})) = D\hat{\Omega} - D\hat{\Omega} = 0.$$

Remark 4.15. In [32] we defined

$$OGW_{\beta,k}([\gamma_{i_1}],\ldots,[\gamma_{i_l}]) := \text{the coefficient of } T^{\beta} \text{ in } \partial_{t_{i_1}}\cdots \partial_{t_{i_l}}\partial_s^k \Omega|_{s=0, t_j=0}.$$
(43)

By Lemma 4.14 and the condition  $q(\Omega) = \bar{q}(\bar{\Omega})$ , this definition coincides with the definition (13) in the current paper. However, the analog of (43) for  $\overline{OGW}$ , with  $\bar{\Omega}$  instead of  $\Omega$ , is true only if [L] = 0.

Denote by  $p: R_W \to \text{Coker i}$  the quotient map, and let  $f = \int_L b$ .

**Lemma 4.16.** Let  $s \in S$ .

- (a)  $\partial_s \overline{\Omega} = p(\partial_s f \cdot c).$
- (b)  $\partial_s \Omega = \partial_s f \cdot c$ .

Proof. By Lemma 4.9,

$$\partial_s \overline{\Omega} = P(\partial_s f \cdot \mathbf{i}[(0,1)]) = P(0, -\partial_s f \cdot c) = P(\bar{x}(p(\partial_s f \cdot c))) = p(\partial_s f \cdot c).$$

Lemma 4.14 and the Maurer–Cartan equation (3) give

$$\partial_s \Omega = \partial_s (\widehat{\Omega} - D\widehat{\Omega}) = \partial_s \widehat{\Omega} = (-1)^n \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma,b}, \partial_s b \rangle = (-1)^n \langle c \cdot 1, \partial_s b \rangle = c \cdot \partial_s \left( \int_L b \right)$$
$$= \partial_s f \cdot c.$$

**Remark 4.17.** Recall from Definition 1.1 that a bounding chain *b* is called point-like if *S* is one-dimensional and  $f = \int_L b$  is a coordinate function on *S*. In light of Lemma 4.16, we will now argue that, generically, all open Gromov–Witten invariants can be obtained from point-like bounding chains. Indeed, consider a general bounding chain *b* with *S* of arbitrary dimension. For generic *f*, the point  $0 \in S$  is regular. So, after a formal change of coordinates, we may assume that *f* is one of the coordinate functions on *S*. Then Lemma 4.16 shows that the superpotentials  $\Omega$  and  $\overline{\Omega}$  depend only on *f* and not on the other coordinate functions. Replacing *S* with the one-dimensional subspace on which the other coordinate functions vanish, and replacing *b* with its restriction to this subspace, we obtain a point-like bounding chain. The superpotentials  $\Omega$  and  $\overline{\Omega}$  associated with this point-like bounding chain the same information as the superpotentials associated to the original *b*.

Let  $U \subset H^*(X; \mathbb{R})$  be a subspace, and let  $(\gamma_W, b)$  be a bounding pair over  $W := \rho^{-1}(U) \subset \hat{H}^*(X, L)$ . Recall that in Section 1.3.7 we define  $\Gamma_\diamond := y(1)$ . By abuse of notation, denote by  $\partial_\diamond : R_W \to R_W$  the derivation corresponding to  $\Gamma_\diamond$ .

**Proposition 4.18.** Suppose [L] = 0 and b is separated. Then

$$\partial_s \overline{\Omega} = -\partial_s f \cdot \partial_{\diamond} \overline{\Omega}, \quad \forall s \in S.$$

*Proof.* Let  $\gamma_{\diamond} \in \widehat{A}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  be a representative of  $\Gamma_{\diamond}$ . It follows from the definition of  $\Gamma_{\diamond}$  that in  $H^*(C(i))$ , we have  $[(\gamma_{\diamond}, 0)] = [(0, -1)]$ . By Lemma 4.9 we then have

$$\partial_s \overline{\Omega} = P(\partial_s \Psi) = P(\partial_s f \cdot \mathfrak{s}[(0,1)]) = -P(\partial_s f \cdot \mathfrak{s}[(\gamma_\diamond, 0)]) = -P(\partial_s f \cdot \partial_\diamond \Psi)$$
$$= -\partial_s f \cdot \partial_\diamond \overline{\Omega}.$$

*Proof of Theorem* 6. By assumption,  $\partial_s f = 1$ . Therefore Proposition 4.18 gives  $\partial_s \overline{\Omega} = -\partial_{\diamond} \overline{\Omega}$ . Since [L] = 0 and thus Coker  $i = R_W$ , this immediately implies the required equality of invariants.

### 4.5. Enhanced axioms

The following axioms for the invariants  $\overline{OGW}$  are useful in combination with the open WDVV equations for carrying out recursive computations (see Section 6). Similar axioms for the invariants OGW were proved in [32]. In the following, we assume that the subspace  $W \subset \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  and the bounding pair  $(\gamma_W, b)$  are as in Theorem 8 or Theorem 9. In particular, writing  $W_i \subset W$  for the degree *i* homogeneous part, by [32, Lemma 5.11], there is a natural inclusion

$$W_2 \hookrightarrow H^2(X, L; \mathbb{R}).$$

So, for  $A \in W_2$  and  $\beta \in H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z})$ , the pairing  $\int_{\beta} A$  is well defined.

**Proposition 4.19.** The invariants  $\overline{OGW}$  of (X, L) satisfy the following axioms. Let  $A_j \in W$  for j = 1, ..., l.

(a) (Degree)  $\overline{OGW}_{\beta,k}(A_1, \dots, A_l) = 0$  unless

$$n - 3 + \mu(\beta) + k + 2l = kn + \sum_{j=1}^{l} |A_j|.$$
(44)

(b) (Unit / Fundamental class)

$$\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(1, A_1, \dots, A_{l-1}) = \begin{cases} -1, & (\beta, k, l) = (\beta_0, 1, 1), \\ P_{\mathbb{R}}(A_1), & (\beta, k, l) = (\beta_0, 0, 2), \\ 0, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$
(45)

(c) (Zero)

$$\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta_0,k}(A_1,\dots,A_l) = \begin{cases} -1, & (k,l) = (1,1) \text{ and } A_1 = 1, \\ P_{\mathbb{R}}(A_1 \smile A_2), & (k,l) = (0,2), \\ 0, & otherwise. \end{cases}$$
(46)

(d) (Divisor) If  $|A_l| = 2$ , then

$$\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(A_1,\ldots,A_l) = \int_{\beta} A_l \cdot \overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(A_1,\ldots,A_{l-1}).$$
(47)

*Proof.* When  $[L] \neq 0$ , all values of  $\overline{OGW}$  that are defined coincide with the values of OGW and  $P_{\mathbb{R}} = 0$ . So, the axioms proved for OGW in [32] imply the axioms for  $\overline{OGW}$ . Thus, we may assume that [L] = 0 and, as mentioned in Remark 4.15, we can compute the invariants  $\overline{OGW}$  by taking derivatives of  $\overline{\Omega}$ . We first prove the unit axiom (45) in detail. By assumption, the unit element of the cohomology  $1 \in \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  belongs to W and we denote by  $\partial_1$  the corresponding directional derivative. It is shown in [32] that  $\partial_1 \hat{\Omega} = -T^{\beta_0} s$ . It follows from Lemma 2.14 that  $\partial_1 \mathfrak{q}_{\beta,0}^{\gamma_W} = T^{\beta_0} \gamma_W$ . Thus

$$\partial_1 \Psi(\gamma_W, b) = \partial_1[(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma_W}, -\widehat{\Omega})] = T^{\beta_0}[(\gamma_W, s)] = T^{\beta_0}(a(\Gamma_W) - x(s)).$$

So, diagram (39) implies

$$\partial_1 \overline{\Omega} = \partial_1 P \Psi = P \partial_1 \Psi = T^{\beta_0} \big( P(a(\Gamma_W)) - P(x(s)) \big) = T^{\beta_0} (P_Q(\Gamma_W) - s).$$

The unit axiom follows by taking derivatives and using (40). The remaining axioms follow by a similar combination of the arguments in [32] with Lemmas 2.15, 2.17 and 2.18.

## 5. Relative quantum cohomology and open WDVV

#### 5.1. Preliminaries

Throughout Section 5, we operate under assumptions (A.1) and (A.2). Recalling the definition of  $P_{\mathbb{R}}$  from (40), we take

$$W' = \operatorname{Ker}(P_{\mathbb{R}}|_{W}) \subseteq W.$$
(48)

Lemma 4.10 implies that  $W = W' \oplus \text{Im } y$  and  $\rho|_{W'} : W' \to U$  is injective. Denote by  $\kappa : W \to W$  the projection to W' along Im y and by  $\kappa^* : Q_W \to Q_W$  the induced homomorphism. Define  $\gamma_{W'} \in \mathcal{J}_W \hat{A}^*(X, L; Q_W)$  by  $\gamma_{W'} = \kappa^* \gamma_W$ . Since  $\rho|_{W'}$  is injective, there exists a closed  $\gamma_U \in \mathcal{J}_U A^*(X; Q_U)$  such that  $[\gamma_U] = \Gamma_U \in U \otimes Q_U$  and

$$\rho^* \gamma_U = \gamma_{W'}. \tag{49}$$

**Lemma 5.1.** For  $\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_l \in A^*(X; Q_W)$ , we have

$$[\rho^*(\mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_U}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l))] = [\mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_W}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l)] \in H^*(X;Q_W).$$

*Proof.* By (49), we have

$$\rho^*(\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_U}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l))=\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\rho^*\gamma_U}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l)=\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_{W'}}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l).$$

By definition,  $\gamma_W$  and  $\gamma_{W'}$ , and consequently  $\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_W}(\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_l)$  and  $\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_{W'}}(\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_l)$ , are differential form valued formal functions on W that agree when restricted to  $W' \subset W$ . Since  $W = W' \oplus \text{Im } y$ , it is enough to consider dependence of  $[\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_W}(\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_l)]$  on  $\Gamma_{\diamond} = y(1) \in \hat{H}^*(X, L)$ . Since  $[\partial_{\diamond} \gamma_W] = \partial_{\diamond} \Gamma_W = \Gamma_{\diamond} \in \text{Ker}(\rho)$ , there is  $\eta \in A^*(X; \mathbb{R})$  such that  $\partial_{\diamond} \gamma_W = d\eta$ . By Lemma 2.13, we have

$$\partial_{\diamond} \mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_W}(\eta_1, \dots, \eta_l) = \mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l+1}^{\gamma_W}(\partial_{\diamond} \gamma_W, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_l) = d \mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l+1}^{\gamma_W}(\eta, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_l).$$
(50)

Moreover,

$$\partial_{\diamond}\mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_{W'}}(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l) = \mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l+1}^{\gamma_{W'}}(\partial_{\diamond}\gamma_{W'},\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_l) = 0.$$
(51)

Thus,  $[\partial_{\diamond} \mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_W}(\eta_1, \dots, \eta_l)] = [\partial_{\diamond} \mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_{W'}}(\eta_1, \dots, \eta_l)]$ , and therefore  $[\mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_W}(\eta_1, \dots, \eta_l)] = [\mathfrak{a}_{\emptyset,l}^{\gamma_{W'}}(\eta_1, \dots, \eta_l)]$ .

Throughout Section 5, we write

$$V := \pi^{-1}(U \otimes Q_W) \subset C(\mathfrak{i}).$$
<sup>(52)</sup>

**Lemma 5.2.** For all  $u \in W$  we have  $\partial_u \mathfrak{l}(V) \subset V$ .

*Proof.* It suffices to show that  $\pi(\partial_u \mathfrak{l}(V)) \subset U \otimes Q_W$ . Indeed, let  $v \in V$  and let  $(\eta, \xi) \in C(\mathfrak{i})$  with  $[(\eta, \xi)] = v$ . By Lemma 5.1, we calculate

$$\pi(\partial_{u}\mathfrak{z}(v)) = [\partial_{u}\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma_{W}}(\eta)] = [\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma_{W}}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma_{W})] = [\rho^{*}\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma_{U}}(\eta,\partial_{u}\gamma_{W})]$$
$$= \rho^{*}(\pi(v)\star_{U}\rho(u)).$$
(53)

Assumption (A.1) implies that

$$\rho^*(\pi(v) \star_U \rho(u)) \in U \otimes Q_W.$$
(54)

The lemma follows by combining (53) and (54).

## 5.2. Relative quantum product

Recall that in Section 1.3.8 we defined  $\hat{Q}_W = Q_W \otimes_{\Lambda_c} \Lambda$  and

$$\widehat{C}(\mathbf{i}) := (C(\mathbf{i})/x(sR_W)) \otimes_{\mathcal{Q}_W} \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_W, \quad \mathcal{Q}H_U(X,L) := W \otimes \widehat{\mathcal{Q}}_W.$$

As noted, there is a natural isomorphism  $\hat{H}^*(X, L; \hat{Q}_W) \simeq H^*(\hat{C}(i))$ . In particular, we can think of  $QH_U(X, L)$  as a subspace of  $H^*(\hat{C}(i))$ .

For  $\eta \in C(\mathbf{i})$  and  $r \in R_W$ , we have  $\mathfrak{l}(\eta + x(s \cdot r)) = \mathfrak{l}(\eta) - c \cdot x(s \cdot r)$ . Thus,  $\mathfrak{l}$  induces a map  $\hat{\mathfrak{l}} : \hat{C}(\mathbf{i}) \to \hat{C}(\mathbf{i})$ .

**Lemma 5.3.** The map  $\hat{j}$  inherits the properties of j. Specifically,

(a)  $\hat{j}$  is a chain map and is invariant under gauge equivalence,

(b)  $\partial_u \hat{\mathbf{j}} \circ \partial_v \hat{\mathbf{j}}$  is chain homotopic to  $(-1)^{|u| |v|} \partial_v \hat{\mathbf{j}} \circ \partial_u \hat{\mathbf{j}}$  for all  $u, v \in QH_U(X, L)$ .

*Proof.* Statement (a) follows from Lemmas 4.4 and 4.7. Statement (b) follows from Theorem 5.

Denote by  $\hat{i}$  the map induced by  $\hat{j}$  on cohomology.

Lemma 5.4.  $\partial_u \hat{\mathfrak{s}}(QH_U(X,L)) \subset QH_U(X,L)$  for all  $u \in QH_U(X,L)$ .

*Proof.* Recall that Im  $x = \text{Ker } \pi$ . Thus, we have the following commutative diagram:



By Lemma 5.2, we have

$$(\partial_u \hat{\mathfrak{z}})(\tilde{\pi}^{-1}(U \otimes Q_W)) = (\partial_u \hat{\mathfrak{z}})(h(V)) = h((\partial_u \mathfrak{z})(V)) \subset h(V) = \tilde{\pi}^{-1}(U \otimes Q_W).$$

Tensoring with  $\hat{Q}_W$ , we get the required result.

Keeping in mind Lemma 5.4, define

$$\mathfrak{a}: QH_U(X,L) \otimes QH_U(X,L) \to QH_U(X,L)$$
 by  $\mathfrak{a}(u,v) = \partial_u \hat{\mathfrak{s}}(v).$ 

## Lemma 5.5.

$$\mathfrak{p}(u,v) = [\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma}(u,v)] + (-1)^n (\partial_u \partial_v \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma,b} - \partial_{\partial_u v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma,b}) \cdot \Gamma_\diamond.$$

*Proof.* By assumption (A.2), we have  $\partial_v (\int_L b) = 0$ . Again by assumption (A.2), we have  $[\partial_u \gamma_W] = u$ ,  $[\partial_v \gamma_W] = v$ . So, by Lemmas 2.10 and 2.8 and the Maurer–Cartan equation,

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\nu}\mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma_W,b} &= \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma_W,b}(\partial_{\nu}\gamma_W) + \langle \mathfrak{q}_{0,0}^{\gamma_W,b}, \partial_{\nu}b \rangle = \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma_W,b}(\partial_{\nu}\gamma_W) + c \cdot \langle 1, \partial_{\nu}b \rangle \\ &= \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma_W,b}(\partial_{\nu}\gamma_W) = \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma_W,b}(\nu). \end{aligned}$$

Consequently,

$$(\partial_u \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma_W,b})(v) = \partial_u (\mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma_W,b}(v)) - \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma_W,b}(\partial_u v) = \partial_u \partial_v \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma,b} - \partial_{\partial_u v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma,b}.$$

Therefore,  $\mathfrak{p}(u, v)$  is given at the chain level by

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_u \hat{\mathfrak{I}}(v) &= (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma_W}(\partial_u \gamma_W, v), (-1)^{n+1} \partial_u \mathfrak{q}_{-1,1}^{\gamma_W,b}(v)) \\ &= (\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,2}^{\gamma_W}(u, v), (-1)^{n+1} (\partial_u \partial_v \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma_W,b} - \partial_{\partial_u v} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma_W,b})). \end{aligned}$$

It follows from the definition of  $\Gamma_{\diamond}$  that in  $H^*(C(i))$ , and therefore in  $H^*(\hat{C}(i))$ , we have  $[(\gamma_{\diamond}, 0)] = [(0, -1)]$ . The desired formula follows.

**Lemma 5.6.** (a) For vector fields  $u, v \in QH_U(X, L)$ , we have  $\mathfrak{a}(u, v) = (-1)^{|u| |v|} \mathfrak{a}(u, v)$ . (b) The map  $\mathfrak{a}$  has degree zero, that is,  $|\mathfrak{a}(u, v)| = |u| + |v|$ .

*Proof.* For any  $f \in \hat{Q}_W$ , by definition of the graded Lie bracket,

$$\partial_u \partial_v f - (-1)^{|u| |v|} \partial_v \partial_u f = \partial_{[u,v]} f.$$

On the other hand, since the canonical connection on affine space is symmetric, we have

$$\partial_{\partial_u v} f - (-1)^{|u| |v|} \partial_{\partial_v u} f = \partial_{[u,v]} f.$$

Thus  $\partial_u \partial_v f - \partial_{\partial_u v} f$  is graded symmetric in u, v. Taking  $f = \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\gamma W,b}$ , and using also Lemma 2.16, we see that the right-hand side in Lemma 5.5 is graded symmetric in u, v, which implies part (a). Keeping in mind the shifted grading of R[-n-1] in the definition of  $C(\mathbf{i})$ , part (b) follows from Lemmas 2.15 and 2.9.

**Lemma 5.7.** For vector fields u, v, w, we have  $\mathfrak{a}(u, v), w) = \mathfrak{a}(u, \mathfrak{a}(v, w))$ .

*Proof.* By Lemmas 5.6 and 5.3,

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(u,v),w) &= (-1)^{(|u|+|v|)|w|} \alpha(w,\alpha(u,v)) = (-1)^{(|u|+|v|)|w|} \partial_w \hat{\mathfrak{s}}(\alpha(u,v)) \\ &= (-1)^{(|u|+|v|)|w|} \partial_w \hat{\mathfrak{s}}(\partial_u \hat{\mathfrak{s}}(v)) = (-1)^{|v||w|} \partial_u \hat{\mathfrak{s}}(\partial_w \hat{\mathfrak{s}}(v)) \\ &= (-1)^{|v||w|} \alpha(u,\alpha(w,v)) = \alpha(u,\alpha(v,w)). \end{aligned}$$

*Proof of Theorem* 7. Graded commutativity and associativity are given by Lemmas 5.6 (a) and 5.7, respectively. Invariance under gauge equivalence follows from Lemma 5.3 (a).

## 5.3. Open WDVV

In the following, we make some calculations that will be useful in the proof of Theorem 3. As in Section 1.3.5, we abbreviate

$$\Phi = \Phi_U \in Q_U, \quad \bar{\Omega} = \bar{\Omega}(\gamma_W, b) \in R_W.$$

**Lemma 5.8.** Let  $r \in \text{Coker i.}$ 

(a)  $\Im(\bar{x}(r)) = -c \cdot \bar{x}(r),$ (b)  $\partial_u \Im(\bar{x}(r)) = -\partial_u c \cdot \bar{x}(r) \text{ for } u \in W \oplus S.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $r' \in R_W$  be a representative of the class of r in Coker i. Then

$$\exists (\bar{x}(r)) = \exists (x(r')) = [(0, c \cdot r')] = x(-cr') = \bar{x}(-p(cr')) = -c \cdot \bar{x}(r),$$

where the last equality uses the fact that  $c \in Q_W$  when  $[L] \neq 0$  (see Theorem 2), and holds trivially when [L] = 0. Consequently,  $\partial_u i(\bar{x}(r)) = -\partial_u c \cdot \bar{x}(r)$ .

Lemma 5.9.  $\pi(\Psi(\gamma_W, b)) = \rho^*(\nabla \Phi_U).$ 

*Proof.* Recall from Section 1.2.6 that  $\nabla \Phi_U = [\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma_U}] \in H^*(X; Q_U)$ . So, it follows from Lemma 5.1 that

$$\rho^* \nabla \Phi_U = [\rho^* \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma_U}] = [\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma_W}] = \pi(\Psi(\gamma_W, b)).$$

**Lemma 5.10.** For  $l \in I_U$ , we have  $\rho^*(\partial_l \Phi) = \int_X \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma_W} \wedge \partial_l \gamma_U$ .

*Proof.* By definition of the gradient, we have

$$\rho^*(\partial_l \Phi) = \rho^* \langle \nabla \Phi, \Gamma_l \rangle_X = \langle \rho^* \nabla \Phi, \Gamma_l \rangle_X.$$

Moreover,

$$\int_X \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,\mathbf{0}}^{\gamma_W} \wedge \partial_l \gamma_U = \langle \pi(\Psi(\gamma_W, b)), \Gamma_l \rangle_X$$

The claimed equality follows from Lemma 5.9.

Recall the definitions of W' and V from (48) and (52) respectively.

**Lemma 5.11.** Im  $\bar{x} \oplus a(W' \otimes Q_W) = V$ .

*Proof.* Since  $P: H^*(C(i)) \to \text{Coker } i$  splits the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Coker} \mathfrak{i} \xrightarrow{\bar{x}} H^*(C(\mathfrak{i})) \xrightarrow{\pi} \operatorname{Ker} \mathfrak{i} \to 0,$$

we obtain

$$\operatorname{Ker} P \oplus \operatorname{Im} \bar{x} = H^*(C(\mathfrak{i})).$$
(55)

Thus, since Im  $\bar{x} \subset V$ , it suffices to show that  $V \cap \text{Ker } P = a(W' \otimes Q_W)$ .

By Lemma 4.11, we have Ker  $P = a(\text{Ker } P_Q)$ . Thus,

$$V \cap \operatorname{Ker} P = \pi^{-1}(U \otimes Q_W) \cap a(\operatorname{Ker} P_Q).$$

On the other hand,

$$W' \otimes Q_W = \rho_Q^{-1}(U \otimes Q_W) \cap \operatorname{Ker} P_Q.$$

Diagram (36) gives  $\pi \circ a = \rho_Q$ . So, for v = a(w), we have

$$w \in \rho_{\mathcal{Q}}^{-1}(U \otimes \mathcal{Q}_{W}) \iff \rho_{\mathcal{Q}}(w) \in U \otimes \mathcal{Q}_{W} \iff \pi \circ a(w) \in U \otimes \mathcal{Q}_{W}$$
$$\iff v \in \pi^{-1}(U \otimes \mathcal{Q}_{W}).$$

Therefore,  $V \cap \text{Ker } P = a(W' \otimes Q_W)$  and the lemma follows.

Recall from Section 1.3.5 that  $\Delta_j \in U$ ,  $j \in I_U$ , and  $\Gamma_j \in W'$ ,  $j \in I_{W'}$ , are bases such that  $\rho(\Gamma_j) = \Delta_j$ . Write  $\Upsilon_j := a(\Gamma_j) \in H^*(C(\mathfrak{i}))$  for  $j \in I_{W'}$ , and  $\Upsilon := a(\Gamma_W)$ .

**Lemma 5.12.** Let  $u \in W$  and  $v \in W \oplus S$ , let  $v_W$  be the projection of v to W, and let  $\overline{u} = \rho(u)$  and  $\overline{v} = \rho(v_W)$ . We have

$$\partial_{v}\mathfrak{z}(\partial_{u}\Upsilon) = \bar{x}(\partial_{v}\partial_{u}\bar{\Omega}) + \sum_{\substack{m \in I_{W'} \\ l \in I_{U}}} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{\bar{u}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \Upsilon_{m}.$$

*Proof.* By Lemmas 5.2 and 5.11, we obtain a unique decomposition

$$\partial_{v}\mathfrak{I}(\partial_{u}\Upsilon) = \bar{x}(r) + \sum_{m \in I_{W'}} r^{m}\Upsilon_{m}, \quad r \in R_{W}, r^{j} \in Q_{W}.$$
(56)

To compute r, recall that  $P \circ \bar{x} = \text{Id}$  and  $\Upsilon_m \in \text{Ker } P$ . By Lemma 4.9, we have

$$r = P(\bar{x}(r)) = P(\partial_v \mathfrak{z}(\partial_u \Upsilon)) = P(\partial_v \partial_u \Psi) = \partial_v \partial_u P \Psi = \partial_v \partial_u \bar{\Omega}$$

To find  $r^m$ , take  $l \in I_U$  and compute

$$\langle \pi(\partial_{\nu}\mathfrak{l}(\partial_{u}\Upsilon)), \Delta_{l} \rangle_{X} = \left\langle \sum_{m \in I_{W'}} r^{m} \pi(\Upsilon_{m}), \Delta_{l} \right\rangle_{X} = \sum_{m \in I_{W'}} r^{m} \langle \Delta_{m}, \Delta_{l} \rangle_{X} = \sum_{m \in I_{W'}} r^{m} g_{ml}.$$

On the other hand,

$$\langle \pi(\partial_{v}\mathfrak{z}(\partial_{u}\Upsilon)), \Delta_{l} \rangle_{X} = \int_{X} \partial_{v}\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,1}^{\gamma_{W}}(\pi(\partial_{u}\Upsilon)) \wedge \partial_{l}\gamma_{U} = \int_{X} \partial_{v}\partial_{u}\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma_{W}} \wedge \partial_{l}\gamma_{U}$$

$$= \partial_{v}\partial_{u}\int_{X}\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,0}^{\gamma_{W}} \wedge \partial_{l}\gamma_{U}$$

$$(by \text{ Lemma 5.10})$$

$$= \partial_{v}\partial_{u}\rho^{*}(\partial_{l}\Phi) = \rho^{*}(\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{\bar{u}}\partial_{l}\Phi).$$

So,

$$\sum_{m\in I_{W'}} r^m g_{ml} = \rho^* (\partial_{\bar{v}} \partial_{\bar{u}} \partial_l \Phi).$$

Multiplying by the inverse matrix  $(g^{ml})$ , we get

$$r^{m} = \sum_{l \in I_{U}} \rho^{*} (\partial_{\bar{v}} \partial_{\bar{u}} \partial_{l} \Phi) \cdot g^{lm}.$$

*Proof of Theorem* 3. We deduce the result from Theorem 5, as follows. By Lemmas 5.12 and 5.8, we compute

$$\begin{split} \partial_{u}\mathfrak{l}(\partial_{v}\mathfrak{l}(\partial_{w}\Upsilon)) &= \partial_{u}\mathfrak{l}\Big(\bar{x}(\partial_{v}\partial_{w}\bar{\Omega}) + \sum_{m\in I_{W'}, l\in I_{U}} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm}\cdot\Upsilon_{m}\Big) \\ &= \partial_{u}\mathfrak{l}(\bar{x}(\partial_{v}\partial_{w}\bar{\Omega})) + \sum_{m\in I_{W'}, l\in I_{U}} (-1)^{(|v|+|w|+|\Delta_{I}|)|u|} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm}\cdot\partial_{u}\mathfrak{l}(\Upsilon_{m}) \\ &= \bar{x}(-\partial_{u}c\cdot\partial_{v}\partial_{w}\bar{\Omega}) \\ &+ \sum_{m\in I_{W'}, l\in I_{U}} (-1)^{(|v|+|w|+|\Delta_{I}|)|u|} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \\ &\cdot g^{lm}\Big(\bar{x}(\partial_{u}\partial_{m}\bar{\Omega}) + \sum_{i\in I_{W'}, j\in I_{U}} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{u}}\partial_{m}\partial_{j}\Phi \cdot g^{ji}\cdot\Upsilon_{i}\Big) \\ &= \bar{x}\Big(-\partial_{u}c\cdot\partial_{v}\partial_{w}\bar{\Omega} + \sum_{m\in I_{W'}, l\in I_{U}} (-1)^{(|v|+|w|+|\Delta_{I}|)|u|} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm}\cdot\partial_{u}\partial_{m}\bar{\Omega}\Big) \\ &+ \sum_{m,i\in I_{W'}, l,j\in I_{U}} (-1)^{(|v|+|w|+|\Delta_{I}|)|u|} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm}\cdot\rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{u}}\partial_{m}\partial_{j}\Phi \cdot g^{ji}\cdot\Upsilon_{i} \\ &= \bar{x}\Big(-\partial_{u}c\cdot\partial_{v}\partial_{w}\bar{\Omega} + \sum_{m\in I_{W'}, l\in I_{U}} (-1)^{(|v|+|w|+|\Delta_{I}|)|\Delta_{m}|}\partial_{u}\partial_{m}\bar{\Omega} \cdot g^{lm}\cdot\rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi\Big) \\ &+ \sum_{m,i\in I_{W'}, l,j\in I_{U}} (-1)^{(|v|+|w|+|\Delta_{I}|)|u|} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm}\cdot\rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{u}}\partial_{m}\partial_{j}\Phi \cdot g^{ji}\cdot\Upsilon_{i}. \end{split}$$

Since  $g^{lm} = (-1)^{|l||m|} g^{ml}$  and  $g^{lm} = 0$  unless  $|m| \equiv |l| \pmod{2}$ , we continue

$$= (-1)^{|v||w|} \bar{x} \Big( -\partial_u c \cdot \partial_w \partial_v \bar{\Omega} + \sum_{l \in I_{W'}, m \in I_U} \partial_u \partial_l \bar{\Omega} \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \rho^* \partial_m \partial_{\bar{w}} \partial_{\bar{v}} \Phi \Big)$$
  
+  $(-1)^{(|v|+|w|)|u|} \sum_{m,i \in I_{W'}, l,j \in I_U} \rho^* \partial_{\bar{v}} \partial_{\bar{w}} \partial_l \Phi \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \rho^* \partial_m \partial_{\bar{u}} \partial_j \Phi \cdot g^{ji} \cdot \Upsilon_i.$  (57)

Similarly,

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{v}\mathfrak{z}(\partial_{u}\mathfrak{z}(\partial_{w}\Upsilon)) &= \bar{x}\Big(-\partial_{v}c\cdot\partial_{u}\partial_{w}\overline{\Omega} + \sum_{m\in I_{W'}, l\in I_{U}} (-1)^{(|u|+|w|+|\Delta_{l}|)|v|} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{u}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \partial_{v}\partial_{m}\overline{\Omega}\Big) \\ &+ \sum_{m,i\in I_{W'}, l,j\in I_{U}} (-1)^{(|u|+|w|+|\Delta_{l}|)|v|} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{u}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{m}\partial_{j}\Phi \cdot g^{ji} \cdot \Upsilon_{i} \\ &= (-1)^{|v|(|u|+|w|)} \bar{x}\Big(-\partial_{u}\partial_{w}\overline{\Omega} \cdot \partial_{v}c + \sum_{m\in I_{W'}, l\in I_{U}} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{u}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \partial_{m}\partial_{v}\overline{\Omega}\Big) \\ &+ (-1)^{|v|(|u|+|w|)} \sum_{m,i\in I_{W'}, l,j\in I_{U}} \rho^{*}\partial_{\bar{u}}\partial_{\bar{w}}\partial_{l}\Phi \cdot g^{lm} \cdot \rho^{*}\partial_{m}\partial_{\bar{v}}\partial_{j}\Phi \cdot g^{ji} \cdot \Upsilon_{i}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(58)$$

By Theorem 5, quantities (57) and (58) are equal after multiplying one by  $(-1)^{|u||v|}$ . To get the open WDVV equation (14), apply *P*.

**Remark 5.13.** From (57) we can obtain the standard WDVV equation for closed genus zero Gromov–Witten invariants by applying  $\pi$  and pairing via  $\langle , \rangle_X$  with  $\Gamma_e$ .

*Proof of Corollary* 1.6. Use Lemma 4.16 as follows. If [L] = 0, then  $c = \partial_s \overline{\Omega}$  and the equations follow. If  $[L] \neq 0$ , then  $c = \partial_s \Omega$ . Let  $z : R_W/Q_W \to R_W$  be the unique right inverse of q such that  $D \circ z = 0$ . In particular,  $z(\overline{\Omega}) = \Omega$ . Observe that if  $u \in W$ , then for all  $g \in R_W/Q_W$  we have  $\partial_u(z(g)) = z(\partial_u g)$ . The desired equation then follows from applying z to (14).

# 6. Computations for projective space

The objective of this section is to describe a recursive process for the computation of our invariants for  $(X, L) = (\mathbb{C}P^n, \mathbb{R}P^n)$  with *n* odd. As in Section 1.3.10, take  $\omega = \omega_{FS}$  the Fubini–Study form,  $J = J_0$  the standard complex structure, and  $\Pi = H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z})$ . Equip (X, L) with a relative spin structure. Thus, Theorem 8 holds, and we have a bounding pair  $(\gamma, b)$  over  $W = \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  with *b* point-like. Abbreviate  $\Gamma_j = [\omega^j] \in \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  and  $\Gamma_j = [\omega^j] \in H^*(X; \mathbb{R})$ . Observe that  $[L] = 0 \in H_n(X; Z)$ . So, together with  $\Gamma_{\diamond} = y(1)$ , the classes  $\Gamma_j$  form a basis of  $\hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$ . Denote by  $t_j \in \mathbb{R}[[W]]$  the coordinates on *W* corresponding to  $\Gamma_j$  for  $j = 0, \ldots, n, \diamond$ . Let  $s \in S$  be the coordinate on *S* with  $\int_L b = s$ . Identify  $H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z})$  with  $\mathbb{Z}$  so that the non-negative integers correspond to classes

 $\beta \in H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z})$  with  $\omega(\beta) \ge 0$ . By Lemma 4.11, choose  $P : H^*(C(i)) \to \text{Coker i}$  to be the unique left inverse to  $\bar{x}$  satisfying conditions (38) and (40) such that  $P_{\mathbb{R}}(\Gamma_j) = 0$  for j = 0, ..., n. Thus, by definition (48) we have  $W' = \text{Span} \{\Gamma_j\}_{i=0}^n$ .

**Lemma 6.1.** The relative spin structure on (X, L) can be chosen so that  $\overline{OGW}_{1,2} = 2$ .

*Proof.* For any space, denote by pt the map from it to a point. Recall Remark 4.15. Since  $\gamma \in \mathscr{J}_W \widehat{A}^*(X, L; Q_W)$  and  $b \in \mathscr{K}_W A^*(L; R_W)$ , Lemmas 2.8 and 2.11, and Proposition 2.1 (c), imply that the coefficient of  $T^1$  in  $-\partial_s^2 \overline{\Omega}|_{s=t_j=0}$  is

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_{s}^{2} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\beta_{1};\gamma,b})|_{s=t_{j}=0} &= (\partial_{s}^{2} \mathfrak{q}_{-1,0}^{\beta_{1};0,b})|_{s=t_{j}=0} = \langle \mathfrak{q}_{1,0}^{\beta_{1}}(\partial_{s}b), \partial_{s}b \rangle \\ &= (-1)^{n+1} \operatorname{pt}_{*}((\operatorname{evb}_{0})_{*}((\operatorname{evb}_{1})^{*}\partial_{s}b) \wedge \partial_{s}b) \\ &= (-1)^{1+n \cdot \operatorname{rel}\dim\operatorname{evb}_{0}} \operatorname{pt}_{*}(\partial_{s}b \wedge (\operatorname{evb}_{0})_{*}((\operatorname{evb}_{1})^{*}\partial_{s}b)) \\ &= \operatorname{pt}_{*}((\operatorname{evb}_{0})^{*}\partial_{s}b \wedge ((\operatorname{evb}_{1})^{*}\partial_{s}b)). \end{aligned}$$
(59)

Let  $Y = L \times L \setminus \Delta$  and let  $Z = (evb_0 \times evb_1)^{-1}(Y) \subset \mathcal{M}_{2,0}(1)$ . It is easy to see that

$$g = (\operatorname{evb}_0 \times \operatorname{evb}_1)|_Z : Z \to Y$$

is a covering map. Indeed, the fiber of g over a point  $(x_1, x_2) \in Y$  can be identified with the pair of oriented lines in  $\mathbb{R}P^n$  passing through  $x_1$  and  $x_2$ . We claim that for an appropriate choice of relative Pin structure, the degree of g is -2. Indeed, the two points in the preimage of a point in Y are conjugate disks of degree 1 with two marked points. Proposition 5.1 of [28] shows that the covering transformation that interchanges these two disks is orientation-preserving, so the degree is  $\pm 2$ . Finally, Lemma 2.10 of [28] shows that one can choose the relative spin structure on L so as to make the degree -2.

For i = 1, 2, let  $p_i : L \times L \to L$  be the projections. Since  $Y \subset L \times L$  and  $Z \subset \mathcal{M}_{2,0}(1)$  are open dense subsets, using the fact that *b* is point-like, we obtain

$$pt_*((evb_0)^*\partial_s b \wedge (evb_1)^*\partial_s b) = \int_Z g^*(((p_1)^*\partial_s b \wedge (p_2)^*\partial_s b)|_Y)$$
$$= -2\int_Y (p_1)^*\partial_s b \wedge (p_2)^*\partial_s b = -2\int_{L\times L} (p_1)^*\partial_s b \wedge (p_2)^*\partial_s b = -2\left(\int_L \partial_s b\right)^2 = -2.$$

Combining this calculation with (59) we obtain the desired result.

*Proof of Theorem* 10. Use the axioms of GW given in [22, Section 2] and [24, Chapter 7], and the axioms of  $\overline{OGW}$  given in Proposition 4.19. As in Remark 4.15, the invariants  $\overline{OGW}$  are given by derivatives of  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Note that, with the identification  $H_2(\mathbb{C}P^n;\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ , we have

$$w_{\mathfrak{s}}(\hat{\beta}) \equiv \frac{n+1}{2} \cdot \hat{\beta} \pmod{2}.$$

As shown in [32, Lemma 5.11], the natural map  $H^2(X, L; \mathbb{R}) \to \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  is an isomorphism. So, the pairing of  $\Gamma_1 = [\omega] \in \hat{H}^*(X, L; \mathbb{R})$  with  $\beta \in \Pi = H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$  is well defined and the result is

$$\int_{\beta} \Gamma_1 = \int_{\beta} \omega = \beta/2$$

We use this implicitly each time we invoke the divisor axiom (47) in the following argument.

The value  $\overline{\text{OGW}}_{1,2} = 2$  is computed in Lemma 6.1. Equating the coefficients of  $T^1$  in (16) with  $v = \Gamma_{\frac{n-1}{2}}$ ,  $w = \Gamma_1$ , and using the zero axiom (46), yields

$$(-1)^{w_{\mathfrak{s}}(0)} \operatorname{GW}_{0}(\Delta_{\frac{n-1}{2}}, \Delta_{1}, \Delta_{\frac{n-1}{2}}) \cdot \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{1,1}(\Gamma_{\frac{n+1}{2}}) = 0,$$

so

$$\overline{\text{OGW}}_{1,1}(\Gamma_{\frac{n+1}{2}}) = 0.$$

Equating the coefficients of  $T^2$  in (16) with  $v = \Gamma_1$ ,  $w = \Gamma_n$  evaluated at  $s = t_j = 0$  yields

$$(-1)^{w_{\mathfrak{Z}}(1)} \operatorname{GW}_{1}(\Delta_{1}, \Delta_{n}, \Delta_{n}) \cdot \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{0,1}(\Gamma_{0}) - \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{1,0}(\Gamma_{1}, \Gamma_{n}) \cdot \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{1,2} = 0,$$

so by the zero axiom (46), the divisor axiom (47), and Lemma 6.1,

$$\overline{\text{OGW}}_{1,0}(\Gamma_n) = (-1)^{\frac{n+3}{2}}.$$
(60)

For convenience, we use [X](F) to denote the coefficient of X in the power series F. To prove recursion (a), apply  $\partial_s^k \partial_I = \partial_s^k \partial_{j_3} \cdots \partial_{j_l}$  to (15) with  $v = \Gamma_{j_1-1}, w = \Gamma_1, u = \Gamma_{j_2}$ , evaluate at  $s = t_j = 0$ , and consider the coefficients of  $T^{\beta}$ . Using the zero axiom for GW, we can single out instances of  $\overline{OGW}_{\beta}$  and compute

$$\begin{split} [T^{\beta}](\partial_{s}^{k}\partial_{I}(\partial_{v}\partial_{w}\partial_{j}\Phi\cdot\partial_{n-j}\partial_{u}\overline{\Omega})|_{s=t_{j}=0}) &= \overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_{j_{1}},\ldots,\Gamma_{j_{l}}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\varpi(\hat{\beta})+\beta_{1}=\beta\\I_{1}\sqcup I_{2}=I}}\sum_{i=0}^{n}(-1)^{\frac{(n+1)\hat{\beta}}{2}}\mathrm{GW}_{\hat{\beta}}(\Delta_{1},\Delta_{j_{1}-1},\Delta_{I_{1}},\Delta_{i})\overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta_{1},k}(\Gamma_{n-i},\Gamma_{j_{2}},\Gamma_{I_{2}}), \\ [T^{\beta}](\partial_{s}^{k}\partial_{I}(\partial_{u}\partial_{s}\overline{\Omega}\cdot\partial_{v}\partial_{w}\overline{\Omega})|_{s=t_{j}=0}) \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\beta\\k_{1}+k_{2}=k\\I_{1}\sqcup I_{2}=I}}\binom{k}{k_{1}}\overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta_{1},k_{1}}(\Gamma_{1},\Gamma_{j_{1}-1},\Gamma_{I_{1}})\overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta_{2},k_{2}+1}(\Gamma_{j_{2}},\Gamma_{I_{2}}), \\ [T^{\beta}](\partial_{s}^{k}\partial_{I}(\partial_{u}\partial_{w}\partial_{j}\Phi\cdot\partial_{n-j}\partial_{v}\overline{\Omega})|_{s=t_{j}=0}) = \overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_{j_{1}-1},\Gamma_{j_{2}+1},\Gamma_{j_{3}},\ldots,\Gamma_{j_{l}}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\varpi(\hat{\beta})+\beta_{1}=\beta\\I_{1}\sqcup I_{2}=I}}\sum_{i=0}^{n}(-1)^{\frac{(n+1)\hat{\beta}}{2}}\mathrm{GW}_{\hat{\beta}}(\Delta_{1},\Delta_{j_{2}},\Delta_{I_{1}},\Delta_{i})\overline{\mathrm{OGW}}_{\beta_{1},k}(\Gamma_{n-i},\Gamma_{j_{1}-1},\Gamma_{I_{2}}), \end{split}$$

$$[T^{\beta}](\partial_{s}^{k}\partial_{I}(\partial_{v}\partial_{s}\overline{\Omega}\cdot\partial_{u}\partial_{w}\overline{\Omega})|_{s=t_{j}=0}) = \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\beta\\k_{1}+k_{2}=k\\I_{1}\sqcup I_{2}=I}} \binom{k}{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_{1},k_{1}}(\Gamma_{1},\Gamma_{j_{2}},\Gamma_{I_{1}})\overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_{2},k_{2}+1}(\Gamma_{j_{1}-1},\Gamma_{I_{2}}).$$

Substituting the expressions in (15) gives the required recursion.

Recursion (b) follows from applying  $\partial_s \partial_I = \partial_s^{k-2} \partial_{j_1} \cdots \partial_{j_l}$  to (16) with  $v = \Gamma_1$ ,  $w = \Gamma_n$ , evaluating at  $s = t_j = 0$ , and considering the coefficients of  $T^{\beta+1}$ . We find that

$$\begin{split} [T^{\beta+1}](\partial_s^{k-2}\partial_I(\partial_v\partial_w\partial_j\Phi\cdot\partial_{n-j}\partial_s\bar{\Omega})|_{s=t_j=0}) \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\varpi(\hat{\beta})+\beta_1=\beta+1\\I_1\sqcup I_2=I}}\sum_{i=0}^n (-1)^{\frac{(n+1)\hat{\beta}}{2}} \operatorname{GW}_{\hat{\beta}}(\Delta_1,\Delta_n,\Delta_{I_1},\Delta_i) \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_1,k-1}(\Gamma_{n-i},\Gamma_{I_2}), \\ [T^{\beta+1}](\partial_s^{k-2}\partial_I(\partial_s^2\bar{\Omega}\cdot\partial_v\partial_w\bar{\Omega})|_{s=t_j=0}) = \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_{j_1},\ldots,\Gamma_{j_l}) \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{1,0}(\Gamma_1,\Gamma_n) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\beta_1+\beta_2=\beta+1\\2\leq\beta_1\leq\beta\\k_1+k_2=k-2\\I_1\sqcup I_2=I}} \binom{k-2}{k_1} \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_2,k_2+2}(\Gamma_{I_2}) \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_1,k_1}(\Gamma_1,\Gamma_n,\Gamma_{I_1}), \\ [T^{\beta+1}](\partial_s^{k-2}\partial_I(\partial_v\partial_s\bar{\Omega}\cdot\partial_s\partial_w\bar{\Omega})|_{s=t_j=0}) \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\beta_1+\beta_2=\beta+1\\1\leq\beta_1\leq\beta\\k_1+k_2=k-2\\I_1\sqcup I_2=I}} \binom{k-2}{k_1} \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_1,k_1+1}(\Gamma_1,\Gamma_{I_1}) \overline{\operatorname{OGW}}_{\beta_2,k_2+1}(\Gamma_n,\Gamma_{I_2}). \end{split}$$

By the computation (60) and the divisor axiom (47),

$$\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_{j_1},\ldots,\Gamma_{j_l})\overline{\text{OGW}}_{1,0}(\Gamma_1,\Gamma_n) = (-1)^{\frac{n+3}{2}} \frac{1}{2}\overline{\text{OGW}}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_{j_1},\ldots,\Gamma_{j_l}).$$

This recovers the second recursion.

*Proof of Corollary* 1.9. By Theorem 6 invariants with interior constraints in  $\Gamma_{\diamond}$  are computable in terms of invariants with interior constraints of the form  $\Gamma_j = [\omega^j]$ . Further, by the unit (45) and divisor (47) axioms, we may assume that  $|\Gamma_j| > 2$ . It follows from the degree axiom (44) that for any  $\beta$  there are only finitely many values of k, l for which there may be non-zero invariants with constraints of the above type. Thus, we give a process for computing  $\overline{OGW}_{\beta,k}(\Gamma_{i_1}, \ldots, \Gamma_{i_l})$  which is inductive on  $(\beta, k, l)$  with respect to the lexicographical order on  $\mathbb{Z}_{>0}^{\oplus 3}$ .

For  $\beta = 0$ , all values are given by the zero axiom (46). For  $(\beta, k, l)$  with  $\beta = 1$  and  $l \le 1$ , all possible values have been computed explicitly in Theorem 10. Indeed, assume for convenience that interior constraints are written in ascending degree order. By the degree axiom (44),

$$\beta = 1 \implies n - 3 + n + 1 + k + 2l = kn + \sum_{j=1}^{l} |\Gamma_{i_l}|$$
$$\implies 0 = (k - 2)(n - 1) + \sum_{j=1}^{l} (|\Gamma_{i_l}| - 2).$$
Since  $|\Gamma_{i_j}| > 2$ , equality cannot occur when k > 2. For k = 2, equality holds if and only if l = 0, for k = 1 if and only if l = 1 and  $|\Gamma_{i_1}| = n + 1$ , and for k = 0 if and only if l = 1 and  $|\Gamma_{i_1}| = 2n$ .

In the following, we often use the zero axiom (46) without mention to deduce the vanishing of open Gromov–Witten invariants with  $\beta = 0$ . For this purpose it is important that W' is closed under the cup product so that for  $A_1, A_2 \in W'$ , we have  $P_{\mathbb{R}}(A_1 \smile A_2) = 0$ .

Consider a triple  $(\beta, k, l)$  with  $l \ge 2$ . By Theorem 10 (a) we can express the invariant as a combination of invariants that either have degree smaller than  $\beta$ , or have at most the same amount of interior constraints as the original invariant but with a smaller minimal degree. Proceed to reduce the degree of the smallest constraint until you arrive at a divisor, then eliminate this constraint by the divisor axiom (47). In the process, summands of degree  $\beta$  do not increase the value of k. Thus, the invariant is reduced to invariants with data of smaller lexicographical order, known by induction.

Consider a triple  $(\beta, k, l)$  with  $l \le 1$ . For  $\beta = 0, 1$ , the values have been computed above. For  $\beta > 1$ , the degree axiom (44) implies that  $k \ge 2$ . Using Theorem 10 (b), express the required invariant as sums of invariants that are either of smaller degree or have equal degree and fewer boundary marked points. Either way, we get invariants with data of smaller lexicographical order, known by induction.

**Corollary 6.2.** All the invariants of  $(\mathbb{C}P^n, \mathbb{R}P^n)$  are of the form  $m/2^r$  with  $m, r \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* This is immediate from the recursive process, noting that the initial conditions are integer, and the only contribution to the denominators comes from the divisor axiom, so they consist of powers of 2.

## Appendix A. The real setting

The objective of this section is to prove Theorem 9. In particular, we operate under the assumptions of Theorem 9 throughout the section.

For any nodal Riemann surface  $\Sigma$  with boundary, denote by  $\overline{\Sigma}$  be the conjugate surface, as in Section 3.1. Denote by  $\psi_{\Sigma} : \overline{\Sigma} \to \Sigma$  the anti-holomorphic map given by the identity map on points. Denote by  $\tilde{\phi} : \mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta) \to \mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\phi_*\beta)$  the map induced by  $\phi$ , namely,

$$\tilde{\phi} [u: \Sigma \to X, \vec{w} = (w_0, w_1, \dots, w_l)] := [\phi \circ u \circ \psi_{\Sigma}, (\psi_{\Sigma}^{-1}(w_0), \psi_{\Sigma}^{-1}(w_1), \dots, \psi_{\Sigma}^{-1}(w_l))].$$

**Lemma A.1.** We have  $sgn(\phi) \equiv n \pmod{2}$  and  $sgn(\tilde{\phi}) \equiv n + c_1(\beta) + l \pmod{2}$ .

*Proof.* Since both X and  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta)$  are complex orbifolds, and therefore admit a canonical orientation, the sign of the involution on each of them is simply half the dimension. So,

$$sgn(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \cdot 2n = n,$$
  

$$sgn(\tilde{\phi}) = \frac{1}{2}(2n + 2c_1(\beta) + 2l + 2 - 6) \equiv n + c_1(\beta) + l \pmod{2}.$$

**Lemma A.2.** Let  $\zeta_1, \ldots, \zeta_l \in A^{\text{even}}(X)$  be homogeneous forms such that  $\phi^* \zeta_j = (-1)^{|\zeta_j|/2} \zeta_j$ . Then

$$\phi^*\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\phi*\beta}(\zeta_1,\ldots,\zeta_l)=(-1)^{|\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^\beta(\zeta_1,\ldots,\zeta_l)|/2}\mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^\beta(\zeta_1,\ldots,\zeta_l).$$

*Proof.* Denote by  $ev_j$  (resp.  $ev_j^{\phi}$ ) the evaluation maps on  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\beta)$  (resp.  $\mathcal{M}_{l+1}(\phi_*\beta)$ ). By assumption on  $\zeta_j$ , we have

$$(-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{l} |\xi_{j}|/2} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\beta}(\zeta_{1}, \dots, \zeta_{l}) = (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{l} |\xi_{j}|/2} (\operatorname{ev}_{0})_{*} \left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{ev}_{j})^{*} \zeta_{j}\right)$$

$$= (\operatorname{ev}_{0})_{*} \left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{ev}_{j})^{*} \phi^{*} \zeta_{j}\right)$$

$$= (\operatorname{ev}_{0})_{*} \tilde{\phi}^{*} \left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{ev}_{j}^{\phi})^{*} \zeta_{j}\right)$$

$$(\operatorname{by Lemma 2.4})$$

$$= (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\tilde{\phi})} (\operatorname{ev}_{0})_{*} \left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{ev}_{j}^{\phi})^{*} \zeta_{j}\right)$$

$$= (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\tilde{\phi})} \phi_{*} (\operatorname{ev}_{0}^{\phi})_{*} \left(\bigwedge_{j=1}^{l} (\operatorname{ev}_{j}^{\phi})^{*} \zeta_{j}\right)$$

$$(\operatorname{by Lemma A.1})$$

$$= (-1)^{c_{1}(\beta)+l} \phi^{*} \mathfrak{q}_{\emptyset,l}^{\phi*\beta} (\zeta_{1}, \dots, \zeta_{l}).$$

The desired conclusion follows by Lemma 2.15.

**Corollary A.3.** Let  $U = H_{\phi}^{\text{even}}(X)$ . Then  $U \otimes Q_U \subset QH_U(X)$  is a Frobenius subalgebra.

*Proof.* For short, write  $V := U \otimes Q_U$ . First, V is closed under  $\star_U$ . Indeed, let  $\eta, \zeta \in A^*(X; Q_U)$  be representatives of classes in V such that  $\phi^*\eta = (-1)^{|\eta|/2}\eta$ ,  $\phi^*\zeta = (-1)^{|\zeta|/2}\zeta$ . We have

$$[\eta] \star_U [\zeta] = \sum_{\beta \in H_2(X;\mathbb{Z}), l \ge 0} \frac{T^{\varpi(\beta)}}{l!} \mathfrak{q}^{\beta}_{\emptyset, l+2}(\eta \otimes \zeta \otimes \gamma_U^{\otimes l}).$$

Recall that we have chosen  $\Pi = H_2(X, L; \mathbb{Z})/\text{Im}(\text{Id} + \phi_*)$ , so  $\varpi(\beta) = \varpi(\phi_*\beta)$ . Thus, Lemma A.2 implies that  $[\eta] \star_U [\zeta] \in V$ .

Second, the bilinear form  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$  is non-degenerate on *V*. Indeed, let *V'* denote the direct sum over *k* of the  $(-1)^{k+1}$ -eigenspaces of  $\phi^*$  acting on  $H^{2k}(X) \otimes Q_U$ , so  $V \oplus V' = H^{\text{even}}(X) \otimes Q_U$ . Since the bilinear form  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$  is non-degenerate on  $H^{\text{even}}(X) \otimes Q_U$ , it suffices to show that *V* and *V'* are  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$ -orthogonal. Let  $\eta \in V$  and  $\zeta \in V'$  be homogeneous. In order for  $\langle \eta, \zeta \rangle_X$  to be nonzero, we need  $|\eta| + |\zeta| = 2n$ . In addition, recall that  $\text{sgn}(\phi) = n$ . Therefore, by Lemma 2.4,

$$\langle \eta, \zeta \rangle_X = (-1)^{|\zeta|} \operatorname{pt}_*(\eta \wedge \zeta) = (-1)^{|\zeta| + \operatorname{sgn}(\phi)} \operatorname{pt}_*\phi^*(\eta \wedge \zeta) = (-1)^{|\zeta| + n + |\eta|/2 + |\zeta|/2 + 1} \operatorname{pt}_*(\eta \wedge \zeta) = (-1)^{|\zeta| + n + n + 1} \operatorname{pt}_*(\eta \wedge \zeta) = -\langle \eta, \zeta \rangle_X,$$

so  $\langle \eta, \zeta \rangle_X = 0$ .

*Proof of Theorem* 9. Part (a) is given by Corollary A.3. Part (c) is given by [32, Theorem 3]. It remains to verify part (b), namely, that  $\operatorname{Ker}(\rho|_{H^{\operatorname{even}}}) \subset \hat{H}_{\phi}^{\operatorname{even}}(X, L; \mathbb{R})$ . Consider the long exact sequence (10). Since  $\operatorname{Ker} \rho = \operatorname{Im} y$ , it suffices to show that  $y(1) \in \hat{H}_{\phi}^{\operatorname{even}}(X, L; \mathbb{R})$ . Let  $\phi^*$  act on  $\mathbb{R}[-n]$  by the identity. This action makes i into a  $\phi^*$ equivariant map. Indeed, for  $\eta \in A^*(X; \mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$i_{\mathbb{R}}(\phi^{*}(\eta)) = (-1)^{n+|\eta|} \int_{L} i^{*}(\phi^{*}\eta) = (-1)^{n+|\eta|} \int_{L} (\phi \circ i)^{*}\eta$$
$$= (-1)^{n+|\eta|} \int_{L} i^{*}\eta = i_{\mathbb{R}}(\eta) = \phi^{*}(i_{\mathbb{R}}(\eta)).$$

By the naturality of the long exact sequence (10), we conclude that *y* is  $\phi^*$ -equivariant, and therefore  $\phi^* y(1) = y(1)$ . Since  $n \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$  and |y(1)| = n + 1, this means  $y(1) \in \hat{H}_{\phi}^{\text{even}}(X, L; \mathbb{R})$ .

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank M. Abouzaid, D. Auroux, V. Kharlamov, N. Sheridan, E. Shustin, and A. Zernik for helpful conversations.

*Funding.* The authors were partially supported by ERC starting grant 337560. The first author was partially supported by ISF Grant 569/18. The second author was partially supported by the Canada Research Chairs Program and by NSF grants DMS-163852 and DMS-1440140.

## References

- Alcolado, A.: Extended Frobenius manifolds and the open WDVV equations. Ph.D. thesis, McGill Univ. (2017) MR 4240034
- [2] Brugallé, E., Georgieva, P.: Pencils of quadrics and Gromov–Witten–Welschinger invariants of CP<sup>3</sup>. Math. Ann. 365, 363–380 (2016) Zbl 1417.14008 MR 3498914
- [3] Brugallé, E., Mikhalkin, G.: Enumeration of curves via floor diagrams. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 345, 329–334 (2007) Zbl 1124.14047 MR 2359091
- [4] Chen, X.: Steenrod pseudocycles, lifted cobordisms, and Solomon's relations for Welschinger invariants. Geom. Funct. Anal. 32, 490–567 (2022) Zbl 07536480 MR 4431122
- [5] Chen, X., Zinger, A.: WDVV-type relations for disk Gromov–Witten invariants in dimension 6. Math. Ann. 379, 1231–1313 (2021) Zbl 1490.53103 MR 4238264

- [6] Fukaya, K.: Cyclic symmetry and adic convergence in Lagrangian Floer theory. Kyoto J. Math.
   50, 521–590 (2010) Zbl 1205.53090 MR 2723862
- [7] Fukaya, K., Oh, Y.-G., Ohta, H., Ono, K.: Lagrangian Intersection Floer Theory: Anomaly and Obstruction. Part I. AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math. 46, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, and Int. Press, Somerville, MA (2009) Zbl 1181.53003 MR 2553465
- [8] Fukaya, K.: Counting pseudo-holomorphic discs in Calabi–Yau 3-folds, Tohoku Math. J. (2)
   63, 697–727 (2011) Zbl 1244.57046 MR 2872962
- [9] Fukaya, K., Oh, Y.-G., Ohta, H., Ono, K.: Lagrangian Floer theory on compact toric manifolds.
   I. Duke Math. J. 151, 23–174 (2010) Zbl 1190.53078 MR 2573826
- Fukaya, K., Oh, Y.-G., Ohta, H., Ono, K.: Lagrangian Floer theory on compact toric manifolds II: bulk deformations. Selecta Math. (N.S.) 17, 609–711 (2011) Zbl 1234.53023 MR 2827178
- [11] Fukaya, K., Oh, Y.-G., Ohta, H., Ono, K.: Lagrangian Floer theory and mirror symmetry on compact toric manifolds. Astérisque 376, vi+340 pp. (2016) Zbl 1344.53001 MR 3460884
- [12] Georgieva, P.: Open Gromov–Witten disk invariants in the presence of an anti-symplectic involution. Adv. Math. 301, 116–160 (2016) Zbl 1365.53082 MR 3539371
- [13] Georgieva, P., Zinger, A.: Enumeration of real curves in CP<sup>2n-1</sup> and a Witten–Dijkgraaf– Verlinde–Verlinde relation for real Gromov–Witten invariants. Duke Math. J. 166, 3291–3347 (2017) Zbl 1384.53070 MR 3724219
- [14] Georgieva, P., Zinger, A.: A recursion for counts of real curves in CP<sup>2n-1</sup>: another proof. Internat. J. Math. 29, art. 1850027, 21 pp. (2018) Zbl 1408.14180 MR 3797194
- [15] Hofer, H., Wysocki, K., Zehnder, E.: A general Fredholm theory. I. A splicing-based differential geometry. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 9, 841–876 (2007) Zbl 1149.53053 MR 2341834
- [16] Hofer, H., Wysocki, K., Zehnder, E.: A general Fredholm theory. II. Implicit function theorems. Geom. Funct. Anal. 19, 206–293 (2009) Zbl 1217.58005 MR 2507223
- [17] Hofer, H., Wysocki, K., Zehnder, E.: A general Fredholm theory. III. Fredholm functors and polyfolds. Geom. Topol. 13, 2279–2387 (2009) Zbl 1185.58002 MR 2515707
- [18] Hofer, H., Wysocki, K., Zehnder, E.: Integration theory on the zero sets of polyfold Fredholm sections. Math. Ann. 346, 139–198 (2010) Zbl 1210.58004 MR 2558891
- [19] Horev, A., Solomon, J. P.: The open Gromov–Witten–Welschinger theory of blowups of the projective plane. arXiv:1210.4034 (2012)
- [20] Joyce, D.: Kuranishi homology and Kuranishi cohomology. arXiv:0707.3572 (2007)
- [21] Kollár, J.: Examples of vanishing Gromov–Witten–Welschinger invariants. J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 22, 261–278 (2015) Zbl 1366.14049 MR 3329197
- [22] Kontsevich, M., Manin, Y.: Gromov–Witten classes, quantum cohomology, and enumerative geometry. Comm. Math. Phys. 164, 525–562 (1994) Zbl 0853.14020 MR 1291244
- [23] Li, J., Wehrheim, K.:  $A_{\infty}$  structures from Morse trees with pseudoholomorphic disks. Preprint
- [24] McDuff, D., Salamon, D.: J-Holomorphic Curves and Symplectic Topology. 2nd ed., Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ. 52, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (2012) Zbl 1272.53002 MR 2954391
- [25] Seidel, P.: Fukaya Categories and Picard–Lefschetz Theory. Zurich Lectures in Adv. Math., Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich (2008) Zbl 1159.53001 MR 2667852
- [26] Pandharipande, R., Solomon, J., Walcher, J.: Disk enumeration on the quintic 3-fold. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 21, 1169–1209 (2008) Zbl 1203.53086 MR 2425184
- [27] Ruan, Y., Tian, G.: A mathematical theory of quantum cohomology. Math. Res. Lett. 1, 269– 278 (1994) Zbl 0860.58006 MR 1266766
- [28] Solomon, J. P.: Intersection theory on the moduli space of holomorphic curves with Lagrangian boundary conditions. Ph. D. thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (2006) arXiv:math/0606429 MR 2717339

- [29] Solomon, J. P.: A differential equation for the open Gromov–Witten potential. Preprint (2007)
- [30] Solomon, J. P.: Involutions, obstructions and mirror symmetry. Adv. Math. 367, art. 107107, 52 pp. (2020) Zbl 1436.53064 MR 4078487
- [31] Solomon, J. P., Tukachinsky, S. B.: Differential forms, Fukaya  $A_{\infty}$  algebras, and Gromov–Witten axioms. J. Symplectic Geom. **20**, 927–994 (2022) Zbl 07667082
- [32] Solomon, J. P., Tukachinsky, S. B.: Point-like bounding chains in open Gromov–Witten theory. Geom. Funct. Anal. 31, 1245–1320 (2021) Zbl 1494.53098 MR 4356703
- [33] Solomon, J. P., Tukachinsky, S. B.: Differential forms on orbifolds with corners. J. Topol. Anal. (to appear)
- [34] Tukachinsky, S.: Point-like bounding chains in open Gromov–Witten theory. Ph.D. thesis, Hebrew Univ. of Jerusalem (2017)
- [35] Welschinger, J.-Y.: Spinor states of real rational curves in real algebraic convex 3-manifolds and enumerative invariants. Duke Math. J. 127, 89–121 (2005) Zbl 1084.14056 MR 2126497
- [36] Witten, E.: Two-dimensional gravity and intersection theory on moduli space. In: Surveys in Differential Geometry (Cambridge, MA, 1990), Lehigh Univ., Bethlehem, PA, 243–310 (1991) Zbl 0757.53049 MR 1144529